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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (“Cybernaut” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

In recent years the International Monetary Fund (IMF) have
seen unprecedented levels of global interest in Central Bank
Digital Currencies (CBDCs). And the recent surveys have
provided insights into the widespread exploration of CBDCs
and the reasoning behind it. In regard to the April publicated
policy paper by the IMF on its Approach to Central Bank
Digital Currency Capacity Development this year, the global
central banking community is found actively exploring CBDCs,
which may have a fundamental impact on both the domestic
and international economic and financial stability. Over 40
countries in the world have approached the IMF to request
assistance through CBDC capacity development (CD); and
the current IMF CBDC CD efforts have focused on facilitating
the peer learning and developing analytical underpinnings
for staff advice to the member countries. The CD missions
have aimed at helping country authorities answer questions
about how to think about CBDCs. With more available country
experiments and empirical evidence, IMF CD will evolve to
provide increased value-added advice, more tailored to country
circumstances, more solidly anchored in the empirical and
analytical work, and strengthen synergies with surveillance.
This policy paper sketches a multi-year strategy to address
frequently asked questions related to CBDC and outlines
the process for developing a CBDC Handbook, which will
document emerging lessons, analytical findings, and the policy
views. In brief, the policy paper (1) explains the IMF’s approach
to CBDC CD; (2) summarizes member countries’ emerging
questions and challenges regarding CBDC; and (3) introduces
the CBDC Handbook by motivating its scope and elucidating its
governance structure.
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On 11 April 2023, the World Economic Outlook Update of the
IMF reported that the Global economic activity is experiencing
a broad-based and sharper-than-expected slowdown, with
inflation higher than seen in several decades. The cost-of-living
crisis, tightening financial conditions in most regions, the
Russia-Ukraine war, and the lingering Covid-19 pandemic all
weigh heavily on the outlook. Global growth is forecast to slow
from that of 3.2 percent in 2022 to 2.7 percent in 2023. This
is the weakest growth profile since 2001 except for the global
financial crisis and the acute phase of the Covid-19 pandemic.
“There are also stark differences between country groups.”
said by Kristalina Georgieva, IMF Managing Director (MD), at
Washington, DC in her speech to address on issues on April
6, 2023, “Some momentum comes from emerging economies
where Asia especially is a bright spot. India and China are
expected to account for half of global growth in 2023, but
others face a steeper climb. Economic activity is slowing in
the United States and the Euro Area, where higher interest
rates weigh on demand. About ninety percent of the advanced
economies are projected to see a decline in their growth rate
this year.” For the low-income countries, there are higher
borrowing costs come at a time of weakening demand for their
exports; and their per-capita income growth will stay below
that of the emerging economies. That is a severe blow to them,
making it even harder for the low-income nations to catch up
this year. She also commented that poverty and hunger could
further increase, with a dangerous trend that was started by the
Covid crisis. We know that the strong and coordinated monetary
and fiscal policy actions over the past years had prevented a
much worse outcome. But with the rising geo-political tensions
and still-high inflation, a robust recovery remains elusive. This
harms the prospects of everyone, especially for the most
vulnerable people and their countries.
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With the whole country sticked to its “Zero-Covid” policy during
2022, China is combating significant downward pressure
economically with multiple cities implementing some form of
lockdown since March 2022, and the most notorious of which
was the lockdown of approximately two months in Shanghai.
The Covid-19 prevention and control measures in China have
seriously disrupted production processes and distressed the
worldwide supply chain, while other headwinds such as the
ongoing Russian-Ukraine conflict, have only exacerbated
China’s economic vulnerabilities. Therefore, the Chinese
government has ramped up different stimulus measures to
boost its economy, including urging the country’s financial
system to support the private sector, implementing preferential
tax policies and fee cuts, and increasing government spending
and investment to indirectly support the real economy.
According to the data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China (NBS), the country’s total GDP in 2022
reached RMB121.02 trillion, an increase of 3.0 percent over
last year at constant prices. In the World Economic Outlook
released in April, the IMF forecasted China’s growth to stay
at 5.2 percent this year, a 0.8 percentage point revision to
the IMF’s October 2022 projection, as it said that the world
is experiencing a “rocky recovery”. “We have been pleased to
see this rebound of China not only for China, of course for the
world, but also because of China’s role in the world economy,”
Kristalina Georgieva, the IMF MD told the public in a news
conference at the Spring meetings between IMF and the World
Bank. “China this year is going to contribute about one-third
of global growth. We calculated that with one (1.0) percent
more growth in China translates into 0.3 percent more growth
for the economies that are connected to China,” the IMF Chief
also said. And according to the Chairman of the Standard
Chartered Bank, José Vinals, China’s economy will be “on fire”
in the second half of 2023 as the economic performance of
East and West diverges. He has commented that the reopening
of the Chinese economy following the previous several years
of strict “Zero-Covid” measures has buoyed sentiment among
economists that the global growth and inflation picture may be
less bleak than initially feared this year. And in the 14th PRC
National People’s Congress, Chinese Premier Li Kegiang said
at a meeting with the PRC officials of the National Development
and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Finance on
February 23 that the nation’s economic growth is rebounding
steadily; and the recovery of consumption accelerated and
market expectations rebounded significantly in the first two
months of 2023.
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In Hong Kong, the GDP of year 2022 decreased by 3.5 percent
in real terms from 2021. And the Hong Kong Government
forecasts economic growth of 3.5 percent to 5.5 percent in real
terms for year 2023. The overall consumer prices rose by 1.7
percent in February 2023 over a year earlier. Considering that
inflation is likely to remain relatively contained, the Government
forecasts Hong Kong’s underlying consumer price inflation at
around 2.5 percent for 2023. The value of retail sales, in nominal
terms, increased by 7.0 percent year-on-year in January 2023
over that of the same month a year earlier. Additionally, the
Secretary for Hong Kong Financial Services and the Treasury,
Mr. Christopher Hui has commented in his recent speech that
the Hong Kong Government will continue to review regulatory
measures for money lenders, promulgate the importance of
prudent borrowing through public education, and induce more
responsible lending behaviours among money lenders in order
to protect the public interest. Moreover, Hong Kong borrowers
will need to dig deeper to pay off their mortgages and other
loans as commercial banks are set to increase their interest
rates further in 2023, after the U.S. Fed has planned to increase
the interest rate.

The Company has three reporting segments, which are
separately managed with different business strategies, as each
subsidiary business offers different products and services
to meet the market needs. Amongst them the segment
business of money lending maintained steady business growth
and generated good revenue stream for the Group during
2022. The electronic commerce (eCommerce) subsidiary
business faced with difficulties to achieve performance due
to the global uncertainties on the continual delay of flights,
country lockdowns, additional regulatory and market platform
restrictions etc. resulted from the Covid-19 pandemic during
the year under review. Unfortunately, the online education
business segment originally operated for tutoring in China
was suspended in 2022, and it is expected that the subsidiary
segment will resume new business operation at the completion
of restructuring process for the subsidiary segment later this
year.
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In recent years, the Chinese government has implemented
tight measures to regulate the total social financing (TSF) and
the online financial services, particularly on peer-to-peer (P2P)
lending activities. Although the lending business model under
P2P is very simple and easy to establish, the lending business
in Hong Kong is under the financial environment of very
distinctive regulated market features to the lending business
operation in China. Despite the global economic uncertainty and
the increasing market competition of the money lending industry
in Hong Kong, the loan demand in Hong Kong are still robust.
With the impacts from the U.S.-China trade war and the waves
of the Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, our money lending
subsidiary operated in Hong Kong had maintained better
business relationship with partnership alliance for sub-mortgage
loans on high net worth customers and through referrals during
2022. And the subsidiary business group will continue its
existing network and strategies to extend the business growth
in 2023.

In recent years, the eCommerce platforms have driven
business activities with various new add-on features and
in-app functions, while images and videos on social media
have strongly influenced on consumers’ purchase intent. The
mobile commerce application has become one of the most
effective strategies for business growth in today’s eCommerce,
and mobile shopping is in an emerging trend that still requires
further improvement to operate effectively. During 2022, our
eCommerce subsidiary group had adopted different marketing
strategies to enhance sales through exposure in the social
media and via different eCommerce platforms. The market
demand was quite distorted and business reduced because of
the prolong U.S.-China trade battle and the Covid-19 variant
pandemic, which resulted to the shortage and delays in product
supplies and deliveries. Facing the adverse situations due to the
logistic delays and harsh new platform restrictive requirements
etc., our eCommerce subsidiary strived quite hard for business
revenue and market share in the highly competitive eCommerce
market in 2022.
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Education in China is managed by the state-run public
education system and regulated under the Ministry of
Education. It has been more than a year since China introduced
its draconian education reform policies in late July 2021, on
the areas for Further Reducing the Burden of Compulsory
Education Students’ Homework and Off-campus Training
with After School Tutoring. Since then, many of China’s most
prominent online tutoring firms have either shut, downsized or
pivoted to alternative businesses under the educational reforms
and regulations on after school tutoring services. Until 2021,
after-school tutoring was the most active and lucrative business
segment, attracting capital investment and involving numerous
private companies. In brief, reconfiguration has been ongoing
in China’s education sector. Strategic business transformation
in all Chinese companies in the education sector is an ongoing
challenge.

In April 2022, the revised Vocational Education Law upgraded
the status of the education business segment in PRC, and the
law revision states that China should have a modern vocational
education system by 2025. The rapid growth of vocational
training has led to thousands of new market entrants, most
of them are the domestic players, while the prospects for
commercial collaboration can be plenty for foreign companies
and investors finding the right partners for the education
business in China. After reducing its market size and cutting off
the link to profit making, online tutoring business in China will no
longer be a systemic problem in education service. To comply
with the new regulatory requirement to provide education
services in China, we have temporarily suspended the operation
of our online education services since July 2021. In fact, we
are aiming for future engagement in education related business
including provision of vocational trainings and similar activities
for students and adults. In the meantime the subsidiary group is
undergoing its restructuring for the new business operation be
registered to provide such services, so that we can still maintain
our education subsidiary and have it engaged for another
income stream for the Group in near future.
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During 2022, the Company and its subsidiaries committed the
best team efforts to strive for segment business survival and
even generic growth in the market situations in order to maintain
the existing business status of our income sources and run the
different segment businesses in different markets despite the
global economic fluctuation. Moving forward our management
team will continue to explore methods to retain business
operation in an efficient manner to face challenges ahead, and
seek for any potential business opportunities for developments
from time to time, so as to diversify revenue stream sources
and business expansion. We always aim at well-positioned all
our business segments to deliver growth on our shareholder’s
value. Here, | would like to thank all our staff for their dedication
in today’s challenging environment to meet the global market
fluctuations especially during the Covid-19 pandemic, and also
our business partners and shareholders for their ongoing trust
and support for us over the years.

Zhu Min
Chairman

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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In the January 2023 World Economic Outlook (WEO) Update,
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected the global
economic growth to fall from an estimated 3.4 percent in 2022
to 2.9 percent in 2023, then it might rise to 3.1 percent in
2024. Global inflation is expected to fall from 8.8 percent in
2022 to 6.6 percent in 2023 and then to 4.3 percent in 2024.
It mentioned that the rise in the U.S. central bank rates to fight
for inflation in U.S. and the Russia’s war in Ukraine continue to
weigh on the global economic activities. The rapid spread of
Covid-19 in China dampened global economic growth in 2022,
but the recent reopening has paved the way for a faster-than-
expected recovery in 2023. The balance of risks remains tilted
to the downside of the global economy, as Russia’s war in
Ukraine could escalate, and tighter global financing costs could
worsen debt distress. Financial markets could also suddenly
reprice in response to adverse inflation news, while further
geopolitical fragmentation could hamper the global economic
progress.

Faced with the complicated, unstable changing global economic
and political environments, while with vaccination and efforts
in the prevention and control of Covid-19 epidemic, the global
economy was somehow distorted and volatile in the financial
market worldwide during 2022. According to China National
Bureau of Statistics (NBS), the Chinese economy in 2022 had
a slight expansion with the gross domestic product (GDP) of
3.0 percent growth over the previous year, amidst the trade
war with the United States, the drastic impacts of the Covid-19
pandemic, the disruptions in global supply chain and efforts
to deleverage debt and financial risks in the economy. As
commented in the bureau statement by Mr. Sheng Laiyun, the
deputy director of China NBS in February 2023, “Despite the
headwinds from both at home and abroad, China’s GDP in
2022 was RMB121.02 trillion yuan, up by 3 percent over the
2021.” The estimated figures from the China NBS showed that
the total added value for all industries exceeded RMB40 ftrillion
yuan for the first time in 2022; and the added value of the
manufacturing sector reached RMB33.5 trillion yuan, showing
that China maintained its status as the leading manufacturing
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hub in the world in 2022. Mr. Sheng also commented, “China
has a strong resilience in economic development with huge and
vigorous potential, while all the factors supporting the high-
quality development remain unchanged. China has the strong
and steady basis in economy, self confidence and capability to
withstand various challenges, despite the uncertainties resulting
from complex external factors such as a contraction in domestic
demand, supply disruptions and weakening expectations.” It
was noted that the added value of industries above designated
size increased by 3.6 percent in 2022 over the previous year;
and the value added of the wholesale and retail trades was
up by 0.9 percent over 2021. The additional information from
the China NBS for the year 2022 also showed that the fixed-
asset investment of the country increased by 4.9 percent year-
on-year; and on its average estimation, the producer price of
industrial products decreased by 1.4 percent over the same
period of last year, and the purchasing price of industrial
products increased by 7.6 percent.

The Hong Kong economy weakened notably and experienced
recession in 2022. The Hong Kong GDP contracted by 3.5
percent in real terms, while having that expanded visibly by
6.4 percent in the preceding year. As the private consumption
plunged due to the fifth wave of the local Covid-19 epidemic,
real GDP contracted by 3.9 percent year-on-year in the first
quarter of 2022. During the year there was a fall moderated to
1.2 percent in the second quarter as the epidemic stabilised,
but widened to 4.6 percent and 4.2 percent in the third
and fourth quarters respectively as the deteriorated external
environment and tightened financial conditions weighed on
exports of goods and fixed asset investment. The sharply
deteriorated external environment and the disruptions to cross-
boundary truck movements between Hong Kong and the
Mainland China dealt a heavy blow to Hong Kong’s goods
exports in 2022. Exports of services from Hong Kong declined
slightly in 2022 alongside the difficult external environment,
though inbound tourism showed some revival towards the
end of the year. And the Hong Kong domestic demand was
dampened first by the fifth wave of the local epidemic and then
affected by the tightened financial conditions in 2022.
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In China, the massive collapse of the virtual lending platforms
for online social lending in China has spread panic among
stakeholders in recent years. With the restrictive government
regulations on the online social lending industry in China, a slew
of Chinese fintech and social lending platforms have sought
for expansion in lenient markets in Southeast Asia. The lending
business in China are of huge potential but having higher risks
than that in Hong Kong, and both markets have very distinctive
regulatory requirements for their business operation. The Hong
Kong Government has adopted a four-pronged approach
to enhance the compliance standards of non-bank money
lenders since 2016; and Hong Kong continues to have an
active and growing money lending market. In 2021, the Hong
Kong Government enhanced conditions on money lenders
licences, including requiring money lenders to undertake an
assessment of the borrower’s ability to make repayments and
have due regard to the outcome of the assessment before
entering into a loan agreement for an unsecured personal loan.
Besides, the regulations of advertisements of money lenders
and protection of loan referees were also enhanced. The Hong
Kong government has always reminded borrowers on the risks
while borrowing, and all money lenders must operate business
in strict compliance with Money Lenders Ordinance and license
restrictions. “There are growing concerns about interest rates
charged on lending in recent years, including fears that the
excessively high interest would harm the borrowers, particularly
those with low incomes, and the consequence might lead to
other social problems.” once said by the Secretary for Hong
Kong Financial Services and the Treasury, Mr. Christopher Hui
in public. Mr. Hui welcomed the passage of the amendments
to the Money Lenders Ordinance by the Legislative Council
on October 26, 2022. According to the Amended Lenders
Ordinance, which takes effect from December 30, 2022 that
the statutory interest rate cap for lending in Hong Kong will be
lowered from 60 percent to 48 percent per annum, while the
threshold of extortionate rate will be lowered from 48 percent to
36 percent per annum.
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In recent years, the retail industry has faced a multitude
of changes. While the adoption of the digital technology
has brought of innovation, specific retail formats such as
convenience and franchise stores are growing significantly
faster than others. The retail market for fast-moving consumer
goods is highly affected by the rise of eCommerce and that
shifts in consumer behaviour, such as an increasing demand
for multiple delivery and collection options. The lockdowns,
travel restrictions, social hygiene and distance, and government
regulations on group gathering prohibitions etc. in response the
pandemic of the Covid-19 variants in different countries have
greatly affected the daily life and business activities of their
people. The restrictive measures by the different countries on
flight and local transport have posed serious logistic problems
and losses to consumers and eCommerce business. In fact,
eCommerce activity in different countries has seen a huge
resulted from the Covid-19
pandemic forcing customers to seek alternative means to

jump over the past three years,

browse for buying, due to lockdowns, store closures and other
hygiene restrictions etc. Further, consumers are now getting
accustomed to use internet and mobile apps daily for online
shopping where, they can have the practical innovative features
and bonus being adopted by eCommerce sites through trusted,
secure digital wallets. Amongst the three major eCommerce
markets — the U.S., China and Europe - in the globe, China
was the biggest eCommerce market in 2022; and analysts
expect that China will stay in the lead in eCommerce market
through 2027. In 2022, the Chinese eCommerce market was of
US$1,156.3 billion with electronic products being the biggest
segment;
US$904.9 billion; and Europe as the third biggest eCommerce
market with revenues of US$662.5 billion.

revenues generated in the U.S. market were of
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In China, year 2021 marked the start of a new era in the
country’s education reform, particularly in after-school tutoring,
which was once worth as an industry of US$112 billion.
The government regulatory restrictions are one of the most
challenging issues always faced by the education companies
and providers in China. In early July 2021, the China government
imposed shuangjian (literally meaning “double reduction”) policy,
a set of government policies that aimed to decrease the work
pressures of children, such as banning extra-curricular tutoring
services from operating during weekends and hiring overseas-
based teachers for online learning in China. The “double
reduction” policy had caused a tsunami in the capital markets
since July 2021, leaving many of the tutoring companies to
struggle hard for survival. Edtech companies plunged after the
China Ministry of Education published a new set of restrictions
that limit the fees and operating times of private tutoring services
for primary and middle school students. The after-school
tutoring business in China was the most active and lucrative
segment in education industry, attracting capital investment and
involving numerous private companies before July 2021, since
education is managed by the state-run public education system
and regulated under the China Ministry of Education.

Since the second half of 2021, the China Ministry of Education
had introduced several new measures, including the new
standard for Chinese proficiency in language education, the
teaching reform guidelines for physical education and health
education, and the further promotion of vocational education
etc. In fact, the vocational training in China has become an
important driving force for stabilising the education sector in
recent years. Favourable educational reforms and policies are
boosting further development in this area, which in turn will
provide opportunities for the fast growing companies; such
that they can participate in the activities as trainings for the
skilled work in new materials for the development and advanced
manufacturing. In April 2022, the introduction of the Revised
Vocational Education Law by the China Ministry of Education
had upgraded the importance of vocational education in China.
The revised law on vocational education scope and guideline
encourages traditional secondary schools to offer courses on
vocational education subjects, so that the vocational education
graduates can have equal education and career opportunities
as others.
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In 2022, the Cybernaut Group comprised three segments of
subsidiary groups, namely those engaged in the money lending
business; eCommerce business and internet online education
services.

The subsidiary of Cybernaut Group engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(“MLQO”, Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Time Credit
Limited (TCL) prudently maintained business operation steadily
with the existing market strategy in 2022. During the year under
review, the subsidiary generated revenue by granting the first
mortgage property loans to customers for their financial needs.
In fact, Hong Kong government authority has periodically
advised borrowers to be aware of the unstable and uncertain
economic environment and the risks of increased interest rate
etc. through media. The Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA)
raised the base rate by 50 basis points to 4.75 percent on
December 15, 2022 the seventh rate hike in 2022, just in hours
after the U.S. Federal Reserve delivered a similar rate hike to
stick with efforts to cool its surging inflation. Our subsidiary
group, TCL does not deal with SME loans at retail level, but
the customer basis of potential borrowers from the social and
business networks of the management and marketing team.
TCL has good credit control efficiency with clientele mainly
composed of the high net worth customers or through the
recommendation by the partnership alliance on sub-mortgage
arrangements. TCL has kept its loan portfolio of clients of good
standings such as the Hong Kong Listco and big corporate
clients. During 2022, TCL contributed a steady income stream
to the Cybernaut Group though facing with the reduced
business under the Covid-19 pandemic.
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Realized that the online marketplaces are booming vastly and
highly competitive, our eCommerce business subsidiary group
with the trade name “VTZero” strived extremely hard to meet
its overseas market demand under the Covid-19 pandemic and
the tough global economic fluctuation during 2022. The various
revised restrictions of fund retention requirement, logistics, and
business policy changes issued by the different online market
platforms in 2022, had created further hardship for VTZero to
maintain steady business and generate revenues in the product
sales of the refurbished second-handed mobile phones of
good brand names. Besides, the absence and bans on hygiene
arrangement and international flight in both Hong Kong and
overseas had further increase the burdens to provide punctual
delivery of goods to our consumers. During 2022, VTZero not
only had to face the fluctuated global market product price
competition resulted mainly from the U.S.-China trade war and
the Covid-19 pandemic, but also encountered sudden need
to pay high cost for the unusual logistic arrangements for the
punctual delivery of our products to the customers as we have
once promised.

Followed the July 2021 shuangjian (literally meaning ‘double
reduction’) Beijing government policy imposed in China and to
comply with the government measures of the New and Revised
Education Regulations to reduce the burden of homework and
after school tutoring on students in compulsory education,
our subsidiary business providing online after-school tutoring
services for academic subjects to students in PRC by FAfK
B2HLR) AR AR AT Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education
Technology Limited (JKZ2“Wowxue”), which was once operated
under the arrangement of the VIE Agreements with SN A
A Huzhou Company, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company in China, was temporarily ceased with operation
suspended since July 2021. The subsidiary business will be
resumed for restart when the new regulatory requirements of
education is clear enough for us to follow. The ICP license
was surrendered to the regulatory department and cancelled
in 2022. The VIE arrangement by Huzhou with Wowxue will
become invalid when all the binding contracts under the
arrangement are gradually modified and fully cancelled at
the time when the corporate restructuring of having Wowxue
become a subsidiary of the Company group is completed in
2023. We realize that the temporary business suspension of the

BERNE B EEEDERABRT I
BAIA VT Zero ) in B K E T B 75 2 A5 KT
BEBER-_ZT-_—F7%Covid-19%E X
RREEBZURENIERT « BRE2W
REBITSEFR - TRKRLETEFA
RZBEZ—_FREMZHEEURBESE
Ko MR REFBRREENLERT RS -
VT ZeroBH U E R BEEB RN R
BN —FRHTFREREEEE NS -
BESh - BB RGN G A = B R BIFR A Bt
MEERARESE— P IMNEERAEE
BMEBEFLNEN - RZE=ZZ
VIZeroMEZEHFEZEATEEFE K
Covid-19Z B EH M KM IGEMERE
FEBRE  TEAFTEREM—AT
ABRAEPERINEMNEEY R H
SRS o

BRE-_Z-Z—FtALRBARTRE R
MIERIER WETRREEBHE
ERBEREBERRIMNII B NG
RISIEFTHRB AR BUREIE - B A
BABERHRTAAE (bR BB R
ERAT(RE]  BRBEAQRHP
B2 EWB AN ARRT AR &=
ERHBATHEE) MPREERHEER
B ERINEIIRT - EE T =-—Ft A
REEEE EUENTETHTCIAE
BB WEBAREBBMESLE -
EW@WWﬁEﬁ%%Em:g:: 2
EESEEBPINW TS - ERBN AR NRIE
BENBAR s EEANR S = F %MK
B - M ER BRI 2 B AR BB L
BREBBZHE TN ZMAEAENRNEHE
BB REEBUBR A - ZKPIEHE
REYGEFE L HERBEBEAEREE
CE I CFFT A=+ —HLEUBRFERD
WAEEBEARTHZE - LS KB HE
MERBER®  KARREEBIGHE BN
BARDHMARKEEBESNERLIE

Annual Report 2022
SERoCFFER

17



18

online education services by Wowxue had a material adverse
impact on the Group’s revenues for the financial year ending 31
December 2022. With professional judgement and legal advice
sought, the management of the Company will continue to
explore potential projects on education related business for the
subsidiary segment to restart once the restructuring processes
are completed. During 2022, Wowxue had undergone series
of restructuring process, and we are expecting a favourable
outcome in mid 2023, for Wowxue to become a wholly-owned
subsidiary, and as part of the Company Group engaged in
education related business Wowxue can ultimately resume
business from its currently suspended business operation.

An announcement was made by the Company on 11 January
2022, on the voluntary basis to keep the shareholders and
other stakeholders of the Company informed of the latest
development of the Group. The Group planned to carefully
explore business potential to create more value for the
shareholders that in view of the constantly increasing demand
for location-based services in Hong Kong and the Asian-Pacific
region, the Group has established a new business division for
the relevant business of providing application of the technology
of satellite data navigation and location-based services (the
“New Business”). As at the date of the announcement, the
Group primarily engaged in eCommerce business, internet
education services and money lending business. The Board
believes that with the popularisation of 5G internet, thriving
development of portable internet, drone, and self-driving
industries, and the emergence of a large number of digital map
applications in particular, the demand and requirement for
location information services are increasing day by day. There
is demand for more accurate satellite location-based services
in sectors such as smart city development, communication,
the Internet of Vehicles, self-driving, the Internet of Things,
engineering surveying, infrastructure maintenance, logistics,
transportation and shipping as well as circumstances related to
preventing and addressing sudden disasters. Accordingly, if the
Group timely captures the valuable opportunity to commence
the New Business, the Group can not only build a more
diversified business portfolio, but also create more sources of
income for the Group, which will in turn increase the interests
of the Shareholders. We are of the view that commencing the
New Business will be in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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Reference is made to the inside information of the Company
dated 16 February 2022 in relation to the receipt of writ of
summons. The Board announced on 15 February 2022, that
VT Zero Limited (“Subsidiary Company”), a subsidiary of the
Company, received a writ of summons issued in Court of
First Instance of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region by AHS Device Hong Kong Limited
as plaintiff against the Subsidiary Company as defendant.
Pursuant to an Internet Sales Service Cooperation Agreement
entered between the Plaintiff and the Subsidiary Company
dated 1 August 2020 (the “Cooperation Agreement”), as set
out in the indorsement of claim, the plaintiff claims against the
Subsidiary Company, among others, for the liquidated sum
of approximately HK$25,800,000 being balance of the value
of the plaintiff's goods sold through the Subsidiary Company
in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement, return of the
plaintiff's goods together with interest and costs. The Company
has currently sought for legal advice and undergone the
relevant court proceedings and is of the view that the claims
made under the writ of summons has no merits and therefore
will defend vigorously against them. The Company will keep
its shareholders and investors informed of any significant
development of the above proceedings and will make further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate in accordance with
the Listing Rule.

Revenue
Money Lending

Even though the keen market competition and the wide spread
of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“Covid-19”), the revenue of
our money lending business increased by approximately 9.3%
when comparing to 2021. The revenue contributed by this
business was approximately RMB19.2 million for the year ended
2022 (for the year ended 2021: RMB17.5 million). The increase
is mainly due to the increase of borrowing interest rate.
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ECommerce

The revenue contributed by this business was approximately
RMB37.8 million for the year ended 2022 (for the year
ended 2021: RMB102.8 million). The revenue decreased
by approximately 63.2% is mainly due to price and supply
fluctuation on second hand iPhone from USA; continuous
logistics cost increase hits the margin; and logistics time to
European warehouse unstable and mostly delay and hit the
sales stability on marketplace. Also, with returns due to the
defective products from our previous supplier, eCommerce
business was negatively affected in sales channels, so inhibiting
our exposure in marketplace and led to a small revenue size of
business in the period under review.

Internet Education Services

As a result of the temporary business suspension of the internet
education services which was acquired in November 2017,
no revenue was contributed for the year ended 31 December
2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB6.1 million).
The subsidiary of internet education is now undergoing a new
restructuring for its future business operation in the Group.

Cost of Sales/Service Rendered

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised costs of raw
materials, labour and other direct costs of sales and services
rendered. During the year, the Group’s cost of sales decreased
by approximately 68.3% from RMB101.1 million in 2021 to
approximately RMB32.1 million in 2022. The decrease is mainly
due to the decrease of revenue of eCommerce business and
the suspension of the internet education services business.

Gross Profit

The Group experienced a gross profit of approximately
RMB24.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately RMB25.3 million. There was a slightly
decrease of approximately 1.7% in gross profit. The gross
profit was from the segment business in money lending and
eCommerce business.
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Other gains or loss, net

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had issued
convertible preference shares for the settlement of partial
promissory notes and also extended the date of repayment of
promissory notes, which generate the gain of approximately
RMB86.9 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB64.4 million).

Impairments Loss

During the year under review, the Group had incurred the
following major impairments:

(@) Under the impact of the Covid-19 outbreak, it affected
the repayment ability of the different industries. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, impairment losses were
recognized on trade and loan receivables of approximately
RMB5.7 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB8.4 million).

(b)  No impairment loss was recognized on goodwill of
eCommerce business and internet education services
business for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the
year ended 31 December 2021: RMB212.4 million).

(c) No impairment loss was recognized on intangible assets of
internet education services business for the year ended 31
December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB52.8 million).

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs comprised sales
commissions, sales staff costs and transportation costs. During
the year, the cost increased by approximately 32.9% from
approximately RMB1.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase is mainly due to the increase of
transportation expenses in eCommerce business.
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Administrative Expenses and Other Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other expenses
decreased by approximately 24.8% from approximately
RMB52.9 million for year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB39.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease is mainly because no amortization of
intangible assets is recognised for the year ended 31 December
2022 (for the year ended 2021: 12.4 million).

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs composed of bank loans and
promissory notes were approximately RMB54.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB28.1 million). The
increase is mainly due to the interest expense of the extension
of promissory notes. The interest rate for bank loan for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 were at a floating
interest rate ranging from prime rate -2% or IBOR rate 1 month
+3% whichever is lower to 7% per annum.

Taxation

The PRC subsidiary of the Company engaged in internet online
education service provider still successfully qualified the China’s
High and New-Technology Enterprise (HNTE) program and
obtained the Chinese High-tech Enterprise Certification (4 E
BT EREE) in 2017. Consequently, the subsidiary is
entitled to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) rate of 15%
until 24 October 2024.
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Profit/(Loss) for the Year

As a result of the challenging conditions, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB10.8 million, compared to Group’s loss of approximately
RMB255.9 million for the previous year. The reason of the profit
is mainly due to the impairment loss of intangible assets of
internet education services business of nil (for the year ended
2021: RMB52.8 million) and the impairment loss of goodwill of
eCommerce business and internet education services business
of nil (for the year ended 2021: RMB212.4 million). Earning
per share attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMBO0.26 cents for the year ended 31 December
2022, as compared to loss per share attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately RMB6.49 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Final Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank balances and cash

was approximately RMB44.2 million (2021: RMB44.6 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB141.8 million (2021: RMB53.8 million). The
Group has an outstanding promissory notes of approximately
RMB159.3 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB242.8
million, respectively).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and

Associated Companies

Material Disposal of Subsidiary and Investment

During the reporting period, the Group had no other material
acquisitions or disposal.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has pledged buildings
with carrying values of approximately RMB7,288,000 to secure
the promissory notes of the Group (2021: Nil). Gearing ratio is
calculated based on total debt at the end of the year divided by
total assets at the end of the year multiplied by 100%. As at 31
December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was 47% (2021:
69%).

Currency Exchange Exposures

The Group’s purchases and sales are mainly denominated in
US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The operating
expenses of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has well monitored and managed its
exposure to fluctuation in currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2022, saved as disclosed above and in this
report, the Group had not provided any form of guarantee to
any company outside of the Group and is not involved in any
current material legal proceedings, nor is the Group aware of
any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving the
Group.
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On 9 November 2015, the Company issued promissory notes
for an aggregate principal amount of HK$213.6 million at
2% interest per annum (the “PN1”) upon completion of the
acquisition of Soaring International Holdings Limited to Mr.
Lee Yim (“Mr. Lee”) and Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin (“Mr. Ng”) (the
“Vendors”), independent third parties not connected to the
Group. The PN1 are due on the third anniversary of the date
of issue. On 2 November 2018, the Vendors and the Company
have agreed to extend the maturity of the PN1 to 9 November
2020.

On 9 July 2019, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date of the
PN1 to 9 July 2021 and decrease the interest rate from 2% to
1% per annum effective from 9 July 2019.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date of the
PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate remained to 1% per
annum effective from 2 December 2020. The effective interest
rate of PN1 is 9.89%.

The fair value of PN1 was approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest rate of 7.89% per
annum. The PN1 is classified as non-current liabilities and are
carried at amortised cost until settlement on due date.

From year 2018 to 2020, the Company issued four promissory
notes of each principal amount of HK$55,000,000 (the “PN2”,
“PN3”, “PN4”, “PN5”), non-interest bearing, upon fulfillment of
profit guarantee by Cybernaut Technology International Limited
and its subsidiaries (“CTIL"). The PN2 to PN5 will be maturity
on the second anniversary of the date of issue. The effective
interest rate of the PN2, PN3, PN4 and PN5 are 13.36%,
9.78%, 9.78% and 15.36% respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, PN2 to PN5 was
transferred/assigned to Win All Management Limited (“Win
All") & Wide Select Investments Limited (“Wide Select”) which
are wholly-owned by the Vendors, on 25 September 2020
and 4 December 2020, the maturity date of PN2 to PN4 were
extended to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate amended to 1%
from 4 December 2020.
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On 30 June 2021, all the holders of promissory notes (the “PN
holders”) agreed to extend the maturity date of PN1 to PN5 to
31 March 2023 as well. And the interest rate of PN5 was then
changed to 1% per annum with effective from 30 June 2021.

During the year 2021, the PN holders had partly redeemed the
principal amount of PN1 and the remaining aggregate principal
amounts of PN1 was HK$171,416,000.

On 31 December 2021, the Company and PN holders entered
in to deed of amendment to reorganise and assign all the
promissory notes of the Group with the principal and interest
amounting to approximately HK$368,902,000 (approximately
to RMB301,644,000) and HK$9,663,000 (approximately to
RMB8,102,000) in total respectively to two new holders of
two new promissory notes namely New PN1 and New PN2
with principal amounting to HK$208,208,000 (approximately
to RMB172,798,000) and HK$183,208,000 (approximately
to RMB152,050,000) respectively. The management of the
Group considers that the terms of the deed of amendment are
substantially different as the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms discounted using the original
effective interest rate is different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability
by more than 10 per cent. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Therefore, the Group derecognised the original promissory
notes outstanding and recognised the two new promissory
notes measured at fair value as at the date of extinguishment.
The difference between the carrying amount of the promissory
notes derecognised and the fair value of the New PN1 and
New PN2 amounting to approximately HK$80,696,000
(approximately to RMB66,973,000) is recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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In addition, all nominal interest of promissory notes are waived
from 9 November 2019 to 31 December 2021.

The fair value of PN 1 and PN2 approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest of 15.68% per
annum. The PN 1 and PN 2 are both classified as non-current
liabilities and are carried at amortised cost until settlement on
due date.

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with PN1 holder for the subscription of convertible
preference shares of the Company at the total subscription
price of HK$140,000,000 (approximately to RMB116,206,000)
which was satisfied by the set-off of part of the principal owned
to PN 1.

On 31 December 2022, the Company entered a deed of
amendment with all PN holders to extend the maturity dates of
the PN 1 and PN 2 and to amend certain terms and conditions
of those PNs. The management of the Group considers that
the terms of the deed of amendment are substantially different
as the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms discounted using the original effective interest rate
is different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability by more than 10 per
cent. Accordingly, such maodification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Therefore, the Group
derecognised the original promissory notes outstanding and
recognised the two new promissory notes measured at fair
value as at the date of extinguishment. The difference between
the carrying amount of the promissory notes derecognised and
the fair value of the PN1 and PN2 amounting to approximately
HK$42,846,000 (approximately to RMB51,699,000) is
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2022 (for details, please refer to Note 33 to the financial
statements in this annual report).

o BT AFT—ANRE-E -
—F+ZA=+—H AARBHFMES
EMNBHERE -

PN1&EPN2H) A FEHNHEERE RS -
ThiZ15.68% M B F F R H - PN1 R
PN DR AIERBBEREEZENEIEA
VB 18 AT S5 PR AR BR o

R-ZZE-_—FRA-++H  AAalHE
PN B AT RE W= REARBE
140,000,000/ 7T (%) A K #116,206,000
TT) REARQR A MRELR - HEB
BISEPNIEA 2 BB RNBENT -

RZBE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H ARAFHE
FIBEAEERIEE AGTMIEFT R - U
RPN1K&PN2Z B BAR » WS R] % F& A
FB2ETERER RGNS AEEEERER
B EBIRBIZBRIBERER - RAA
FERARERMNER 2 FGEREBEBTRER
EMRBAEREReMAERTHERE
ZERREREBBE 2T At - &
BIGRFIEET AR ABUE R € Rl B & R
RIeMARE - At - NEBEKIE#ER
KREBZFRARER  WERMODRECE
ERRANTEFEZHFAALER - B81E
MR 2 AN BB A RE(E EPNT R PN2#]
NFE R ETEL42,846,000/8 7T (49
AR #51,609,000T) REE-T - =

TZA=+—RHLEFEMNEBRETER (B
BB MR FE R B WmERMEEI3) o

Annual Report 2022
SERoCFFER

27



28

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with the Subscriber (Wide Select Investments
Limited), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and the Subscriber has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, 933,333,000 Convertible Preference
Shares for an aggregated Consideration of HK$140,000,000,
representing the Subscription Price of approximately HK$0.15
per Convertible Preference Share. The aggregated Subscription
Price shall be satisfied in full by setting off against the
Company’s obligation to repay part of the Promissory Note
in the amount of HK$140,000,000. The Conversion Price at
which Conversion Shares will be issued upon exercise of the
Conversion Right attaching to the Convertible Preference Shares
is the Subscription Price, i.e. approximately HK$0.15, subject
to adjustments. For the avoidance of doubt, the Subscriber is
not required to pay any additional money upon conversion of
the Convertible Preference Share(s) to Ordinary Share(s), other
than taxes and stamp, issue and registration duties (if any)
arising on conversion. No application will be made for the listing
of, or permission to deal in, the Convertible Preference Shares
on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange. The
Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for the listing of,
or permission to deal in, the Conversion Shares. The convertible
preference shares are non-voting shares and non-redeemable.
The holders of the preference shares are entitled to receive the
same dividends as the holders of ordinary shares. In addition,
the holders of the preference shares have the right to convert
any preference share into the Company’s ordinary shares at
any time at the conversion price at the rate of 1 to 1 each.
The conversion price will be subject to adjustments only upon
occurrence of certain dilutive events.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain business
activities of the Group which were/are categorised as
“restricted” business under the PRC laws and regulations have
been carried out by the Group through a series of contractual
arrangements (the “VIE Agreements”), and that happened at
the acquisition of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
(the “Project Company”) on 22 November 2017. The VIE
agreements are a series of agreements, including but not
limited to the Management Services Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Irrevocable Option
Agreement, the Power of Attorney, the Undertaking Letters and
the Declaration Letters, executed for the purpose of establishing
the variable interest entity arrangement between Huzhou
Company and Wowxue, through which the financial results of
Wowxue are consolidated with the financial results of Huzhou
Company as “variable interest entity” (as defined in Hong Kong
and International Financial Reporting Standards). The VIE
business and VIE Agreements are disclosed in the circular dated
27 October 2017 and as below.

Investing in the PRC by foreign investors is primarily regulated
by “JNEAKEEZEIEEBEH (2017F185]) (the Guidance
Catalogue of Industries for Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*)”
(the “Catalogue”), which was promulgated and is amended from
time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and
the National Development and Reform Commission. Pursuant
to the Catalogue, the value-added telecommunication services
related business of Wowxue is considered as “restricted”
under the categories of value-added telecommunication
services. Therefore, foreign investors can only operate value-
added telecommunication business in the PRC under joint
ventures with the foreign portion of the total investment and
hence shareholding below 50%. As Hong Kong Cybernaut,
the subsidiary of the Target Company, is the foreign investor of
Huzhou Company, it is not allowed to indirectly hold more than
50% equity interest in Wowxue through Huzhou Company or
directly hold more than 50% equity interest in Wowxue under
the PRC laws.

*

For identification purpose only
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In light of the above, Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders have entered into the VIE Agreements
on 31 August 2017 (as amended by supplemental agreements
dated 25 September 2017) for the Reorganisation in order to
enable the financial results, the entire economic benefits and
the risks of the businesses of Wowxue to flow into Huzhou
Company and to enable the Project Company to have indirect
control over Wowxue as contemplated under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

The Company agrees that it would unwind the VIE Agreements
as soon as the relevant laws and regulations allow the value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC to be operated
by foreign investors without adopting a VIE structure. However,
it is uncertain at this stage when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses will
be lifted in the PRC. Under the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Registered Shareholders must return to Huzhou Company
or its nominee any consideration the Registered Shareholders
had received from Huzhou Company for the acquisition of the
equity interest in Wowxue.

Up to 31 December 2022 of this report and 28 March 2023 for
approval of the audited annual financial results, the Group has
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies since the suspension of the Wowxue business.

The PRC Legal Adviser has confirmed, among others, that (i)
the use of the VIE structure and the VIE Agreements do not
violate the relevant prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC;
(i) the VIE Agreements would not be deemed as concealing
illegal intentions with a lawful form and void under the PRC
contract law; and (iiij save for the clause providing that the
arbitration tribunal may award injunctive relief or winding up
orders and that the courts in Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands
and the PRC may grant temporary injunctive relief or other
temporary remedies, which may not be enforceable under PRC
law, the VIE Agreements are enforceable under the laws of the
PRC. Based on the above, the Directors believe that the VIE
Agreements conferring significant control and economic benefits
from Wowxue to the Target Company are enforceable under the
relevant laws and regulations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB WD

INFORMATION OF THE VIE AGREEMENTS

The VIE Agreements

(1) Management Services Agreement

Date

Parties

Scope of
services

31 August 2017

(1) Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3) The Registered Shareholders.

Huzhou Company shall provide investment
advice, planning and other business advice
on the operation and technical services of
Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue. Huzhou Company shall
participate and assist in the management
of the project operation and complete the
management consulting service in time and
submit the relevant management consulting
report within the time limit required by
Wowxue, and provide the required technical
services. Such services include but not
limited to the following:
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(i

(i)

to select and facilitate the
employment of qualified persons and
experts in respect of the businesses
of Wowxue in internet education
information services and teacher
qualifications, and to provide the
required or appropriate training to
the managers, department heads,
administration staff and accounting
staff and all other employees of
Wowxue;

provide strategic advice, from time to
time, on the negotiation and signing
of contract(s) which is/are required or
in connection with the daily operation
and business of Wowxue;

formulate rules, regulations,
internal control policies, risk control
management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget,
marketing, human resources and
operating policies, as well as the
practices which are relevant to or
affecting the business of Wowxue,
and assist Wowxue in the effective
implementation of relevant policies
and practices;
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(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

(i)

to plan, prepare, as well as provide
public relations services and promote
activities for Wowxue and to assist
Wowxue to enter into contract(s)
with third parties for businesses such
as internet education information
services and certification of teachers’
qualification;

from time to time or at the request of
Wowxue to review and improve the
operation of Wowxue;

in general, to perform all reasonable
and necessary actions in relation to
Wowxue’s business operations in an
effective and appropriate manner;

on behalf of Wowxue, to make
investments related to its business
scope, establish branches,
subsidiaries and make decisions on
merger and acquisitions;

to provide Wowxue with the global
market information, market research
data and analysis on internet
education information services and
certification of teachers’ qualification;
and

to provide investment advice,
planning and other business
advice on the operation and
project investment of Wowxue,
and to participate and assist in the
management of project operations in
accordance with the requirements of
Wowxue.
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Fee

Guarantee

Term

Wowxue shall make provisions for and
pay management and consultancy fees
to Huzhou Company on an annual basis,
which shall be equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant
costs, expenses and taxes payable by
Wowxue. If there is a loss in a given
year, then no provisions for the said
management and consultancy fees would
be required for the year until Wowxue
records a surplus.

The Registered Shareholders have pledged
their holding of 100% of the equity interest
in Wowxue to guarantee Wowxue to fulfill
its obligations under the Management
Services Agreement.

A term of ten years from the date of
signing of the Management Services
Agreement. Upon the expiry of each
term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its
sole and absolute discretion to renew
the Management Services Agreement
for a further term of ten years for each
renewal. Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders are not entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement
during the term of such agreement.
Huzhou Company is entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement by
giving thirty days of prior notice in writing
to Wowxue.
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@)

Irrevocable Option Agreement

Date

Parties

Subject
Term

31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

M

Wowxue;
Huzhou Company; and
The Registered Shareholders.

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably grant
the right to Huzhou Company to
purchase the entire equity interest in
Wowxue for no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;
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(i)

(iv)

Huzhou Company shall also have
the right at its discretion to direct
Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders to transfer the equity
interest in Wowxue to a third party
designated or arranged by Huzhou
Company at no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
a third party designated or arranged
by Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;

Huzhou Company may at any
time by way of serving a notice of
purchase (including by telephone,
e-mail, telegraph) to Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders in order to
exercise the option to purchase the
equity interest in Wowxue;

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders shall notify Huzhou
Company by way of written notice
in the event of a divorce, major
diseases, insolvency (including but
not limited to being prosecuted),
bankruptcy, dissolution or
deregistration, etc., which may
potentially affect their holding of
equity interest in Wowxue;
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(vi)

If any Registered Shareholders
by reason of divorce, insolvency,
death, bankruptcy, dissolution,
deregistration, etc, may lead to their
equity interest in Wowxue being
inherited or transferred to other
third party(ies) (including but not
limited to their spouse, heir, creditor,
etc.), and in the event that Huzhou
Company decided not to exercise
the option set out in paragraphs (i)
and (i) above, the other Registered
Shareholders shall exercise their right
of first refusal to acquire the relevant
equity interest in Wowxue such
that the party who had exercised
the right of first of refusal shall be
subject to the obligations under the
Management Services Agreement,
the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Loan Agreement and the Equity
Pledge Agreement; and

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders have covenanted,
among others, that:

(@ without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
they shall not sell, transfer,
mortgage, dispose of by way of
gift or dispose of in any other
manner any equity interest in
Wowxue or create any security
interest in such equity interest;

(vi)
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Term

(b) without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
Wowxue shall not enter into
any transaction (except in the
ordinary course of business)
that may cause any materia
changes to its assets, liabilities,
operations, shareholders’
interests or other legal interests;
and

(¢) they shall not in any manner
supplement or amend the
articles of association of
Wowxue to the extent that
it may cause any materia
changes to the assets,
liabilities, operations,
shareholders’ interests or other
legal interests of Wowxue.

The exercise period of the option shall
remain in effect indefinitely as permitted
by the law and/or until Huzhou Company
having exercised such option.
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(3) Loan Agreement 3) Exp=

Date : 31 August 2017 (as amended by a H & C ZE—+&NA=+—H
supplemental agreement dated 25 (KEHBA-ZT—tF AN
September 2017) AZ+RBZERBHEE
1)
Parties : (1) Huzhou Company; and AR (1) BMNAR R
(2) The Registered Shareholders. @) ERRE-
Subject . () Subject to the operational needs FTEEE () BEAEBNEKE
of Wowxue, Huzhou Company Z RN R E A
may at its discretion, from time to BURETRITER
time, provide an interest free loan FRIAEME E

to the Registered Shareholders by
way of entrusted bank loans or by
other legal ways. The amount and
conditions of the loan, if provided,
shall be determined by Huzhou
Company at its sole discretion, and

IATERETK
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(InA) BAM AR
ERBBRE B
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such loan shall be used as the paid BYEWELRS -
in capital of Wowxue.
Formal loan agreement(s), entrusted EXERBZ -

loan agreement(s) or other relevant
agreement(s) shall be entered into
between Huzhou Company, the
Registered Shareholders, and other
relevant parties according to the
actual situation.
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Interest

Term

Non-interest bearing

In the event of any of the following
circumstances, the loan will expire and the
Registered Shareholders shall repay the
loan at the request of Huzhou Company:

()  Wowxue having filed for or having
been subject to bankruptcy
petition, bankruptcy reorganization,
bankruptcy liquidation or winding up
petition; and

(i)  Huzhou Company having fully
exercised its right to purchase the
entire equity interest in Wowxue in
accordance with the Irrevocable
Option Agreement.

(4) Equity Pledge Agreement

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017

(1)  Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3)  The Registered Shareholders.

The Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocable agreed to
pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue
that they own (including any interest
or dividend paid for such shares) to
Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue
and the Registered Shareholders under the
Management Services Agreement.

The pledge shall remain valid until
Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all
the obligations (including, but not limited
to, the settlement and/or the payment of
the service charge, liquidated damages (if
any), etc.) under the Management Services
Agreement.
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(3)

Power of Attorney

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017
(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders or the legal
representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the
directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-
in-fact to (i) exercise all the directors’
rights, shareholders’ rights and legal
representative’s rights (as the case may
be) including but not limited to passing
of board resolutions and shareholders’
resolutions as well as the right to
appoint or remove the directors, legal
representative, general manager and
other senior management of Wowxue;
(i) sign on their behalf all the documents
necessary to give effect to the VIE
Agreements; (iii) exercise all the rights
and powers under the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the right to deal with
the assets of Wowxue; and (iv) submit
documents to the competent company
registration authorities of Wowxue or other
relevant authorities for filing purpose.
As confirmed by Huzhou Company, the
authorizations under the Power of Attorney
will be granted to the relevant officers/
management of Huzhou Company who are
third parties independent to the Registered
Shareholders and their associates.

From the date of the Power of Attorney to
the earlier of the revocation or termination
of each of the Management Services
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement,
Loan Agreement and Equity Pledge
Agreement
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(6) Undertaking Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental letter dated 25 September
2017)

(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders and the
legal representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Undertaking Letters,
the directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue, irrevocably undertake that:
(i) they will act in accordance with the
instructions of Huzhou Company upon the
exercise of the powers of the directors of
Wowxue, the power of the shareholders
of Wowxue and the power of the lega
representative of Wowxue respectively;
and (i) each of the directors of Wowxue,
each of the Registered Shareholders of
Wowxue and the legal representative
of Wowxue has also undertaken not to
compete with the business operating by
Wowxue.
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(7)

Declaration Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017

(1) Zhao Yingming “YM Zhao” and his
spouse; and

(2)  Zhao Yingyong “YY Zhao” and his
spouse

pursuant to the Declaration Letters,
YM Zhao and his spouse, and YY Zhao
and his spouse irrevocably declare that,
among other things, (i) acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by YM Zhao
and YY Zhao in the Wowxue do not form
part of their matrimonial property and YM
Zhao and YY Zhao are entitled to sign
and fulfill the VIE Agreements personally;
and (i) the spouse of YM Zhao and YY
Zhao undertake that if they get a divorce,
they will not claim the relevant equity in
the Wowxue by any way, including but
not limited to the equity of distribution
of profits, acquiring residual properties
upon liquidation of Wowxue, investment
and incorporation of branch offices and
subsidiaries.
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Protection of the interest and assets of Wowxue

The Management Services Agreement, Irrevocable Option
Agreement, Loan Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement, and
the Undertaking Letters include a provision that each agreement
is binding on the successors and permitted assignees of the
respective parties. In the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce
of any party of the Registered Shareholders, Huzhou Company
may exercise its option under the Irrevocable Option Agreement
to replace the relevant party of the Registered Shareholders,
thus protecting the interest of the Group and allowing Huzhou
Company to enforce its rights under the VIE Agreements against
the successors and permitted assignees of the shareholders of
Wowxue.

In order to have effective control over and to safeguard the
assets of Wowxue, the VIE Agreements provide that, without the
prior written consent of Huzhou Company, Wowxue shall not, in
any form, dispose of significant assets (including but not limited
to any significant customer resources, fixed assets, trademarks,
technical knowhow or other intellectual property rights and/
or other equity interests or similar interests held by Wowxue),
operating rights and/or dispose of all or part of its business
(including sale, replacement, mortgage or disposal in any other
ways), with respect to it and/or its subsidiaries (if any).

The VIE Agreements also provide that, without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company, (i) Wowxue shall not increase
or decrease the registered capital or accept any investment
or capital increase from the Registered Shareholders or any
third parties to Wowxue or change the form of the company or
make any major adjustments regarding carrying out liquidation
or dissolution; or the business scope, mode, profit model,
marketing strategy, business policy or customer relationship;
(i) Wowxue and/or its subsidiaries shall not enter into any
partnership or joint venture or profit sharing arrangement with
any third parties, or any other arrangements for the transfer of
benefits or profit sharing in the form of royalties, service fees or
consultancy fees; and (iii) Wowxue shall not declare or distribute
dividends or any other interests to its shareholders, including
the after-tax profits that Wowxue has not yet allocated before
the commencement of the VIE Agreements.
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Since the completion to acquire the Project Company on 22
November 2017, there were no changes in the VIE structure
up to 31 December 2021. The Board has reviewed the VIE
structure regularly and determined if the Group encounters
any issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in doing so,
the Board will engage legal advisers and/or other professionals
to assist the Group to tackle such issues or difficulties.

Financial information of Wowxue

Under the VIE Agreements, Wowxue is accounted for as a
consolidated structured entity that as a subsidiary of the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2021,
total revenue of nil; loss of RMB2,281,000 and Total assets of
RMB52,427,000.

Wowxue recognised

VIE Agreements confer economic benefits on Huzhou
Company from Wowxue

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group the right to enjoy all
the economic benefit of Wowxue by the Management Services
Agreement under which Wowxue will pay Huzhou Company
the management and consultancy fees equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses and taxes
payable by Wowxue.
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VIE Agreements confer control from Wowxue to Huzhou
Company

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group sufficient
control over the board and daily operations of Wowxue. The
appointment of directors of Wowxue is subject to Huzhou
Company being satisfied of the director’s qualification and
requires the explicit consent of Huzhou Company. If Huzhou
Company is dissatisfied with the performance of the director(s)
of Wowxue and proposes to remove such director(s), Wowxue
shall remove such person(s) as director(s) upon Huzhou
Company’s proposal.
Company that Wowxue will, and its shareholders will cause

Also, Wowxue agreed with Huzhou

Wowxue to, accept proposals put forward by Huzhou Company
relating to the daily operations of Wowxue and employment of
staff, operate all business of Wowxue in the ordinary course
of business and refrain from any action or omission that may
adversely affect the business of Wowxue.

Moreover, under the Management Services Agreement,

Huzhou Company will formulate rules, regulations, internal

control policies, risk control management systems, standards

administration, accounting, budget, marketing, human
resources and operating policies, as well as the practices which
are relevant to or affecting the business of Wowxue, and assist
Wowxue in the effective implementation of relevant policies and

practices.

Furthermore, as a general housekeeping rule, Huzhou Company
will have the custody of the constitutional items of Wowxue,
including the company chop and seal. At the request of
Huzhou Company, Wowxue will provide it with the relevant
legal documents and other information on Wowxue’s business

operation.
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Economic risks of the Company

Huzhou Company, as the primary beneficiary of Wowxue,
is not obligated under any of the VIE Agreements to share
the losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to
Wowxue. Moreover, as a limited liability company, Wowxue
is solely liable for its own debts and losses. As advised
by the PRC Legal Adviser, the PRC laws and regulations
do not expressly require Huzhou Company to share the
losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to Wowxue.

Limitations in exercising the option to acquire
ownership in Wowxue

In the case that Huzhou Company exercises its options to
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Wowxue under
the Irrevocable Option Agreement, the acquisition of the
entire equity interests in Wowxue may only be conducted
to the extent as permitted by the applicable PRC laws
and may be subject to necessary approvals and relevant
procedures under applicable PRC laws.

Further, a substantial amount of other costs (if any),
expenses and time may be involved in transferring the
ownership of Wowxue, which may have a material adverse
impact on Huzhou Company’s businesses, prospects and
results of operation.

Huzhou Company may need to pay a substantial
amount of enterprise income tax for the income from the
ownership transfer according to the Irrevocable Option
Agreement.
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Arrangements when potential conflicts of interest arise

Huzhou Company shall rely on the VIE Agreements
to exercise control over and to draw the economic
benefits from Wowxue. Huzhou Company may not be
able to provide sufficient incentives to the Registered
Shareholders for the purpose of encouraging it/them to
act in the best interests of Wowxue, other than stipulating
the relevant obligations in the VIE Agreements. The
Registered Shareholders may breach the VIE Agreements
in the event of conflicts of interest or deterioration of its/
their relationship with Huzhou Company, the results of
which may have a material adverse impact on Huzhou
Company’s business, prospects and results of operation.

It is not assured that if conflicts arise, the Registered
Shareholders will act in the best interests of Huzhou
Company or that the conflicts will be resolved in favour of
Huzhou Company. If any of the Registered Shareholders
fail to perform its obligations under the respective VIE
Agreements, Huzhou Company may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws through legal proceedings,
which may be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive
to Huzhou Company’s operations and will be subject to
uncertainties as discussed above.

Other risks relating to the VIE Agreements

Firstly, despite (i) there is currently no indication that the
VIE Agreements will be interfered or objected by any PRC
regulatory authorities; and (i) the PRC Legal Adviser is
of the view that the VIE Agreements do not violate any
prevailing PRC laws or regulations, uncertainties still
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the
PRC laws and regulations especially in the area of value-
added telecommunications business. For instance, the
PRC regulatory authorities may issue further guidelines
that impose stricter foreign ownership requirements in that
area of business. Given the uncertain legal and business
environment in the PRC, it is difficult to foresee whether
the PRC regulatory authorities will take the same view
regarding the VIE Agreements as the PRC Legal Adviser in
the future.
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On 19 January 2015, the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC published the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law
(FEARAMBEINEKRE X (ERBCRERR) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law (8
AP EARKMBEINEREZ (ERBCRERR) OO
BH) (collectively the “Draft Law”) pursuant to which foreign
companies gaining control over domestic companies via
contractual arrangements such as the VIE Agreements will
be regarded as foreign investments and will be governed
by the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.
The PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that the Draft Law
is currently in consultation stage and has not yet been
effective or legally binding. As there are uncertainties on
the final content and interpretations of the Draft Law, there
is no assurance that the VIE Agreements will comply with
the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.

Secondly, the VIE Agreements may not provide control
as effective as direct ownership. Huzhou Company does
not have any direct equity ownership in Wowxue and
has relied on the VIE Agreements to effect changes in
the management of Wowxue and make an impact on
its business decision making, as opposed to exercising
its rights directly as a shareholder. If Wowxue or its
shareholders refuse to cooperate, the Company will face
difficulties in effecting control over Wowxue’s operation of
business through the VIE structure, which may adversely
affect the Company’s business efficiency.
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Thirdly, according to the Regulations on the Administration
of Foreign-invested Telecommunication Enterprises
(2016 Revision) WP EREEEFELEEEH T (2016 &
7])) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were promulgated
by the State Council of the PRC on 11 December 2001,
and amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February
2016, it requires a foreign investor who invests in a
value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track
record of business operations overseas (the “Qualification
Requirement”). Currently, none of the applicable PRC
laws, regulations or rules provides clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, the Company intends to
acquire the entire equity interests in the Wowxue when
the PRC laws allow foreign investors to invest in value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC. The
Group plans to take steps to build up its track record
of overseas value-added telecommunications business
operations in an attempt to comply with the Qualifications
Requirements, i.e., to establish overseas office in
Hong Kong and to register a certain number of domain
names outside of the PRC for conducting operation of
websites and other businesses in relation to value-added
telecommunication services in Hong Kong in coming
years, so as to be qualified to acquire the entire equity
interests in the Wowxue when the relevant PRC laws
allow foreign investors to invest and to hold a majority
interest in value-added telecommunications enterprises in
PRC. However, there is a risk that when the restrictions
on foreign ownership in value-added telecommunications
businesses are lifted in the PRC, Huzhou Company may
still be required to unwind the VIE Agreements before
Huzhou Company’s foreign investor Hong Kong Cybernaut
is in a position to fully comply with the Qualification
Requirement. Therefore, there is no guarantee that the
steps taken will be sufficient to enable Huzhou Company
to ultimately acquire the ownership in Wowxue.
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Fourthly, the VIE Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.
Under the Management Services Agreement, Wowxue
is required to pay Huzhou Company management and
consultancy fees for the services rendered by Huzhou
Company. Such service fee payments between related
parties may be subject to scrutiny or challenge by the
PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year
when such transactions are conducted.

Fifthly, the VIE Agreements are governed by the PRC laws.
When a dispute arises under any of the VIE Agreements,
the parties to the dispute may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws. The VIE Agreements
provide that dispute will be submitted to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
EBEBREEE SMHEZ B E) for arbitration to be
conducted in Shenzhen. The decision of such arbitration is
final and binding on the parties to the dispute.

Since the legal environment in the PRC is different
from that in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions, the
uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the ability
of Huzhou Company to enforce the VIE Agreements.
There is no assurance that such arbitration result will
be in favour of Huzhou Company and/or that there will
not be any difficulties in enforcing any arbitral awards
granted, including specific performance or injunctive
relief and claiming damages by Huzhou Company. As
Huzhou Company may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, its ability to exert effective
control over Wowxue and the conduct of the value-
added telecommunication business could be materially
and adversely affected, and may disrupt the business of
Huzhou Company and have a material adverse impact on
Huzhou Company’s business, prospects and results of
operation.
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Lastly, the VIE Agreements provide that the arbitration
tribunal may award remedies over the equity interests
or assets of Wowxue or injunctive relief (e.g. for the
conduct of business or to compel the transfer of assets)
or order the winding up of Wowxue. The VIE Agreements
also include a clause in relation to dispute resolution
among the parties where, when awaiting the formation
of the arbitration tribunal or otherwise under appropriate
conditions, the parties thereto may seek temporary
injunctive relief or other temporary remedies from the
courts in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, the PRC and the
location where the principal assets of the Company and
Wowxue are located.

However, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that
pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal may
have no power to grant the aforementioned remedies or
injunctive relief or to order the winding up of Wowxue. In
addition, even though the VIE Agreements provide that
overseas courts (e.g. courts in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands) shall have the power to grant certain relief or
remedies, such relief or remedies may not be recognised
or enforced under the PRC laws. As a result, in the event
that Wowxue or the Registered Shareholders breaches the
terms of the VIE Agreements, the Company may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and
its ability to exert effective control over Wowxue could be
materially and adversely affected. Huzhou Company does
not maintain any insurance to cover the risks relating to
the VIE Agreements.

The Board will continue to review the VIE Structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any
issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in
doing so, the Board will continue to engage legal advisers
and/or other professionals to assist the Group to tackle
such issues or difficulties. Up to 31 December 2021, the
Group does not maintain any insurance to cover the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements.
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Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers
to the Company, the VIE Structure is in compliance with
and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in
force, are enforceable under, the current PRC laws. The
Company will continue to monitor the relevant PRC laws
and regulations relevant to the VIE Structure and will take
all necessary actions to protect the Company’s interest in
the Structured Entity.

Since the new education regulations incorporating the Opinions
(issued in August 2021 by the Beijing Municipality Government)
governing the after school tutoring educational activities
might have lasting impacts and detrimental effects on the
future operation of the Company’s subsidiary group of online
education under the VIE structure, and with reference to the
voluntary announcement of the Company dated 28 December
2021 in relation to update on business operations, the Company
decided to undergo organizational restructuring of the education
business segment by having Wowxue become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, so that we can continue to provide
different kind of educational services and to develop new market
in the PRC education industry. In early 2022, Wowxue has
surrendered the ICP licenses to the China government for its
cancellation in compliance with the new education regulations.
After surrendered the ICP licenses, Wowxue’s shareholders and
directors have signed a legally-bound undertaking which they
all irrevocably undertake to the Company that they will assist
the organizational restructuring till completion after the VIE
terminated.
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Up to 31 December 2022, the restructure of Wowxue was
still undergoing with all the VIE Agreements been terminated.
However, after sought legal opinions from the PRC lawyers, at
the time of finalizing this annual report, the Company still have
an absolute overall control of Wowxue through the legally-bound
undertaking signed by Wowxue’s shareholders and directors.
However, there are unexpected delay in the progress than to
our original schedule time of restructure procedures, due to
the pandemic outbreak of Covid-19 variants in China last year.
The Company expects Wowxue become the wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company under the restructuring framework
by the second half of 2023.

In this Annual Report relating to the VIE Agreements. Mr. Zhu
Min is one of the beneficial owners of Wowxue. Thus, Wowxue
is an associate of Mr. Zhu and is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The VIE
Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
is subject to the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the
Company from (i) setting maximum aggregate annual caps for
the service fees payable by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement and the loan(s) to be
made available by Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement
pursuant to Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules; and (i) setting
a fixed term for each of the VIE Agreements (other than the
Management Services Agreement) pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of
the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total amount of
service fees paid by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement was approximately
RMB2,268,000 and the total amount of loans made available by

Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement was nil.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.71(6), the independent non-executive
directors of the Company have reviewed and confirmed that
the transactions under the VIE Agreements had been entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
on normal commercial terms or better, and according to the
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.
Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions
under the VIE Agreements (i) have not been approved by the
Board; (ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group for transactions involved the
provision of goods and services by the Group; (i) were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and (iv) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Wowxue to the holders of its equity interest which are not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

In respect of the connected transaction announced on 9
July 2019 relating to financial assistance by connected
persons, the principal amount of the financial assistance was
HK$226,416,000 in total. The Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date
of the promissory note (PN1) to 9 July 2021 and decrease
the interest rate from 2% to 1% per annum effective from 9
July 2019. Then, On 2 December 2020, the Company entered
into the deed of amendment with the vendors to extend the
maturity date of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 2 December 2020.
The PN1 composed of two portions, namely PN1(a) and PN1(b);
and PN1(a) was issued to Wide Select with Mr.
beneficiary, and PN1(b) to Win All with Mr. Ng as its beneficiary.

Lee as its
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On 30 June 2021, the Company extended the maturity date of
PN1 to 31 March 2023 with the PN1 holders. During the year
2021, both the PN1(a) and PN1(b) holders had partly redeemed
their PN1 principal amount in their name of Wide Select and
Win All, and the remaining balance of principal amounts as at
29 December 2021 in PN1(a) and PN1(b) were respectively,
HK$98,208,000 and HK$73,208,000. On 30 December 2021,
the Company has formed new PNs with the PN holders to
replace the old PNs, and the remaining principal of both PN1(a)
and PN1(b) had respectively became part of total principal
amounts of the New PN1 and New PN2 (Details refer to Note
35 of the Consolidated Financial Statement of the annual
report).

In respect to the connected transaction of the Share Purchase
Agreement with Cybernaut Education Limited (the “vendor”) on
26 July 2017, there was a profit guarantee by the vendor for
the 4th period of six months ending 31 December 2019. The
Company received the Auditor’s Certificate confirming that the
4th guaranteed profit for the 4th guaranteed period had been
fulfilled in the business and set out in note 35. Accordingly,
the Company issued the 4th Promissory Note in the principal
amount of HK$55 million to the Vendor or its nominee(s) during
the year ended 31 December 2020 as set out in note 35, for the
partial settlement of the Consideration pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement dated 26 July 2017 which constitutes a
discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

All the related party transactions disclosed in Note 37 to the
Consolidated Financial Statement in this 2022 Annual Report
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but were all fully exempt
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements. The Company confirmed that where any related
party transactions constituted connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company has complied
with all requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Granting of loans

On 18 January 2023 and 21 February 2023, Time Credit
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into the loan
agreements with the borrowers pursuant to which the lender
has agreed to grant the loans in the principal amount of HK$8
million and HK$19 million to the borrowers, respectively.

Further details regarding the grant of loans are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 18 January 2023 and
21 February 2023, respectively.

Save as disclosed the above, there were no other significant
events occurred subsequent to December 31, 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had about 47 staff
members employed in mainland China and Hong Kong (2021:
83). Total staff costs for the year were approximately RMB11.5
million (2021: RMB13.8 million). During the year, the Group
continued to reinforce the training to its staff by providing
training and study opportunities for management staff and
professional technicians. In addition, the Group has provided a
timely update to all staff about the latest government policies of
the industry to continuously enhance the professional standard
and quality of the staff.

Meanwhile, the Group has provided competitive remuneration
for staff which encourages them to commit themselves and
serve customers wholeheartedly. The Group operates share
option scheme for the purpose to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible directors and employees of the Group who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The Group
granted 120 million share options to the eligible consultants
of the Company during the financial year as announced on
9 September 2022. The remuneration payable to the senior
management of the Company (excluding Directors and Chief
Executive Officer) for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
determined with reference to their position, responsibilities and
experience and prevailing market condition.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Our money lending business is required to and has, at all times,
strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations. In the
opinion of our Directors, in addition to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), MLO constituted
a significant influence on our Group’s money lending business
during the year. The MLO is the principal ordinance which
governs the money lending business in Hong Kong. Our money
lending business has been conducted through the subsidiary of
our Company. Since the first granting of money lenders licence
to our subsidiary, we have never received any objection from
and have never been investigated by the Registrar of Money
Lenders nor the Commissioner of Police regarding the renewal
of the money lenders licence. To the best of our knowledge,
our Group has complied with the MLO in all material aspects,
and that our Directors are not aware of any matters that might
come to their attention that our money lenders licence would be
suspended, terminated or would not be renewed in foreseeable
future.

Our money lending segment’s main target customers are
high net worth individual, corporations and other licensed
money lenders through referral from business networks. Most
of loans are secured by first legal charge over properties in
Hong Kong. The credit risk assessment of customers we
conducted involves obtaining land search and valuation report
from professional surveyors on properties; ascertaining the
financial condition of the customers including reviewing income/
asset proof of individual customers and financial reports of
corporate customers; and conducting litigation and bankruptcy
searches and credit search on customers. The loan terms
are determined with reference to factors including customers’
requirements; result of credit assessment of customers,
including whether regular income of customers are sufficient to
cover loan repayment instalments; value of collaterals; prevailing
market interest rates for similar loans and our credit policy.
The Company has adopted the procedures on monitoring loan
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repayment and recovery which involve (a) our money lending
segment was directly managed by an executive director of
the Company who is required to submit monthly management
accounts to the Board after the end of each month and to
report to the Board on the financial and business performance
during review meetings at least semi-annually; (b) the executive
director is required to report to the Board on the repayment
status of all loans on a monthly basis and to report any material
defaulted loans immediately upon occurrence. In respect of
delinquent loans, we will first issue standard demand letters. If
no satisfactory response is received, we will instruct solicitors
to issue formal legal demand letters. Thereafter formal legal
proceedings may be issued where appropriate.

According to the report of the January 2023 World Economic
Outlook (WEQ) Update by the International Monetary Fund (IMF),
amid the cost-of-living crisis, the priority remains achieving
sustained disinflation in most economies. The tighter monetary
conditions and lower economic growths potentially affect the
country’s financial and debt stability, and it is necessary for the
countries to deploy macroprudential tools and strengthen debt
restructuring frameworks. It is expected that the accelerating
Covid-19 vaccinations in China would further safeguard the
global economic recovery in 2023, with the positive cross-
border spillovers. Fiscal support to countries should be better
targeted at those that are most affected by the elevated food
and energy prices, and the broad-based fiscal relief measures
should be withdrawn.

As the Asian financial hub, Hong Kong has been hit quite badly
by its own pandemic measures since 2020; and the spillover
from China’s Covid-19 zero policy, while risks from cost
pressure persisted in the economy during 2022. Mr. Christopher
Hui, the Secretary for Hong Kong Financial Services and the
Treasury has once said that the Government’s plan is to lower
the statutory interest rate cap for lending after having taken
into consideration of the recommendations from the Consumer
Council, the effective interest rates adopted by the local money
lending sector, the interest rate cap for lending overseas, as

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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well as other market statistics. And the banks in Hong Kong
had already increased their prime rate of interest three times
in 2022, by a total of 62.5 basis points to 4.75 percent. On
February 2, 2023 the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA)
raised the interest rate by 25 basis points to 5.0 percent,
just hours after the U.S. Fed delivered a rate hike of a similar
margin. Hong Kong will continue to have an active and growing
money-lending market. The lending business segment of the
Cybernaut Group, TCL will continue granting mortgage loan to
clients in a prudent manner, so the subsidiary business can well
meet the needs for the Hong Kong property market accordingly.

The eCommerce market has evolved from a simple counterpart
of brick and mortar retail to a shopping ecosystem that
involves multiple devices and store concepts. By viewing at the
eCommerce landscape we can see a relatively mature business
market with established players and a clear set of rules in the
market. However, this impression can be misleading, as the
digital transformation of eCommerce business is not over yet,
and it is unlikely to ever come to a halt for it, mainly driven by
the flow of innovation coming from numerous start-ups and the
growing cashflow from the fast-developing Asian economies.

Despite the slowing Chinese economy since the outbreak of
the Covid-19, there is a shift in purchasing power from the U.S.
and Europe to China and Southeast Asia, and such a change
were fueled by the growing number of consumers gaining
access to eCommerce due to the growing purchasing power
and internet penetration, especially through the application
with mobile devices. In the coming few years, the Chinese
eCommerce market is expected to show the largest growth
rates amongst the three major eCommerce regions in the
globe. We believe that many online retailers will continue to
choose an omnichannel sales strategy in 2023. To meet the
competitiveness in the industry, our subsidiary VTZero has not
just moving beyond competing on price, but also on logistics
etc.; and vary business tactics will be adopted by the subsidiary
to strive for its business operation and survival in the highly
competitive eCommerce environments.
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It is noted by Economists that China will further tighten
oversight over its battered online education sector, in a clear
signal that the Beijing government is not yet prepared to
unshackle the private tutoring arena despite loosening curbs
on the tech giants. The Chinese government has pledged to
address outstanding issues in the quality, safety, standards
and pricing of tutoring services to alleviate household financial
burdens. And all tutoring firms will be required to meet the new
educational regulatory standards of tutoring services in China by
June 2023. For any organizations with business engaged in the
non-curriculum tutoring in China, their services rendered must
strictly comply with the updated guidelines under the revised
educational laws and related regulatory measures for their
business development. Under the China shuangjian reforms
on education and the new education regulation governing on
after school education and tutoring business activities, our
management has to seek changes for the survival of our online
education business in China. The Company is still undergoing
procedures to restructure Wowxue into our subsidiary group,
so that we can resume business operation in the education
sector in compliance with the regulatory requirements after the
completion of the corporate restructuring.

In early 2023, the Company has established a joint venture
subsidiary for project business to explore in the areas of
satellite-related applications utilizing the telecommunication,
navigation and remote sensing technologies. The subsidiary
named “PTF AreaTech”
solutions consisting of various types of satellite positioning

is providing intelligent technology

terminals equipment (compatible with GNSS raw data from
Beidou, GPS, Galileo, GLONASS and QZSS) and customized
solutions with spatial-intelligent service system with high
precision positioning service to clients. With the fast growing
of 5G, Al,
AreaTech strives to empower the upgrading of all kinds of

big data and cloud computing technology, PTF

industries including construction, agriculture and marine,
energy, logistics and intelligent driving, smart city development,
and disaster management, etc., for clients engaged in different
industries and from different countries.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions (the
“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of
Conduct”) regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the Group are
subject to compliance with the Company’s Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “RE Code”) in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms
of the RE Code are likewise no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Committee Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the
management and the external auditor the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has also reviewed
auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRREERZERERAT

FERERE

EXeERZBe ((E%ZEE®)) A=
FRBIUFRTEREK ERZT AL
(RBEXFE)  FEEEEREREE -

BRLZESCHERE RINEZBRT LR
R AN EB TR MM RAIRIEG - I
WA EZ - BRE R KRS & R
HEH BREMHEBEE_Z__F+_A
=T—HIEFENZFEE -

ME HEXROFLAF LHE
-

BHE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—RHLEFE"
ARBHETAMBARMERE  HE&
IO AN EI M EHES -



The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and endeavours in following the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Board considers
such commitment is essential for the growth of the Group and
for maximising the interest of the shareholders (“Shareholders”)
of the Company. The Company regularly reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that the latest development in
corporate governance can be followed and observed.

During the financial year under review, the Company had
complied with all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company adopted on 7 June 2010 its securities dealing
code (“Code”) regarding the dealings of securities of the
Company by the Directors and senior management of the
Group, on terms no less exacting than the required standard
under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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The Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management of the Group, all the Directors and
senior management of the Group have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Code and Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by Directors and senior management of the Group
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s overall strategic
policies. The management is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group.

During the year, the Board composed of four executive Directors
namely Mr. Zhu Min, Dr. Chen Huabei, Mr. Lu Yongchao and
Ms. Yip Sum Yu and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yiu On, Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke, and
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, Mr. Sin Kwok Wai
Ronald. The biographical details are set out under “Directors
and senior management” on pages 128 to 135 of this annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Zhu Min (appointed as an executive Director on 16 February
2017), Dr. Chen Huabei (appointed as an executive Director on
11 June 2019), Mr. Lu Yongchao (appointed as an executive
Director on 16 February 2017) and Ms. Yip Sum Yu (appointed
as an executive Director on 13 March 2020) shall retire at the
2022 general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for
a term of one year, renewable automatically every year and
eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company.
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The Board meets regularly to review and determine the
corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the
members of the Board has full access to relevant information
at the meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2022, the Board convened four regular meetings at which,
among other things, the following activities were conducted at
such regular meetings:

(1) approved the annual results and annual report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 and matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(2) approved the interim results and interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2022;

(8) reviewed and approved corporate strategies of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 December 2023; and

(4) reviewed the performance and financial position of the
Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies and performing corporate
governance duties set out under the CG Code. Its corporate
governance duties include, among others, (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal or regulatory
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in its
corporate governance report.

Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records at the board
meetings and general meeting during the financial year ended
31 December 2022 are as follows:

Board General
Directors Meetings Meeting
Meetings attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Min 20/24 3/3
Dr. Chen Huabei 22/24 3/3
Mr. Lu Yongchao 23/24 3/3
Ms. Yip Sum Yu 24/24 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On 24/24 3/3
Mr. Li Yik Sang 24/24 3/3
Mr. Cao Ke 22/24 3/3

Whilst the Board as a whole is to determine the corporate
strategies and overall strategy policies, the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, as delegated by
the Board, are responsible for implementing the determined
strategies and policies and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors and
senior management” of this annual report, there is no other
relationship (whether financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company shall be responsible for arranging
suitable training for all Directors at the Company’s expense.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:
Directors Type of training

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min A B
Dr. Chen Huabei A B
Mr. Lu Yongchao A B
Ms. Yip Sum Yu A, B

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On A, B
Mr. Li Yik Sang A B
Mr. Cao Ke A B

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B:  reading newspapers, journals, Company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, IT,
eCommerce and steel industry or Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, etc.

During the year under review, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. The Company considered diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) is currently consisted of four members, comprising
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong
Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke and one
executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. It was established by the
Board with effect from 27 March 2012 and its duties are clearly
defined in its terms of reference which have been prepared and
adopted according to the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
under review and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
and

(2) reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the 2021 annual
general meeting of the Company.

Details of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2022
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2
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The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprises four members, including
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cao
Ke (Chairman), Mr. Tong Yiu On and Mr. Li Yik Sang, and
one executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. The Remuneration
Committee was established by the Board on 7 June 2010 and
its duties are clearly defined in its written terms of reference
which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code
Provisions.

Generally, the Remuneration Committee meets annually except
to special situations, to review the remuneration policies
and packages for Directors and senior management of the
Company and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration policies and packages. No Director takes part in
any discussions and decisions about his own remuneration.

Details of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2022
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 11
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Ke (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Tong Yiu On 1/1
Mr. Li Yik Sang 1/1
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting with
full attendance by its members and conducted the following
activities:

(1) reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company; and

(2) reviewed the terms of the service contracts of all the
executive Directors by reference to their performance.

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke. The Audit Committee was established by the Board
on 7 June 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its written
terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted
according to the Code Provisions.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within
the scope of the Group’s audit. It also reviews the annual and
interim reports of the Company prior to their approval by the
Board, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of
internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee has
convened two meetings and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company;
(2) reviewed the report of internal audit department, internal
controls system and financial matters of the Group in

pursuance of the written terms of reference;

(3) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor of the Company; and

(4) made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.
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Details of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 are as
follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.

Pursuant to Code B.1.5 of the Code Provisions, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2022 was set out below:

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1

Particulars of remunerations of directors are set out in note 14
to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the nature
of the audit and non-audit services provided by Elite Partners
CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, and the relevant fees
paid/payable by the Company for such services are as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$
Audit services 830,000
Non-audit services 80,000

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

It is the responsibility of the Board to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The management provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2022, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently, and have prepared the
financial statements on a historical cost basis.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 156 to 164 of this
annual report of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and
Board committees by ensuring good information flow and Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
an employee of the Company and is appointed by the Board.
The company secretary reports to the chairman and all directors
may call upon him for advice and assistance at any time in
respect of his duties.

During the year, Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald attended sufficient
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of
resources, qualifications, experience and training of staff and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’'s assets and
stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to address the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with
the business of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events which include political, economic,
technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks
has been assessed and prioritized based on its relevant impact
and likelihood. The relevant risk management strategy would
be applied to each type of risks according to the assessment
results, type of risk management strategy has been listed as
follow:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of
the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

S Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location, product or market;
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S Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party. The internal control system is designed and
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the
business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. No
significant deficiencies and weaknesses on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2022, the risk management and internal control systems
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has
internal procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of
inside information and has communicated to all staff.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company
are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company:
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one or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings shall have the right,
by written notice, to require an EGM to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre,
151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk
Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.
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(d) If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the
Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company

For matters in relation to the Board, the Shareholders can
contact the Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3549 6353

Fax: (852) 3549 6354

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer
and registration, change of name or address, loss of share
certificates or dividend warrants, the registered Shareholders
can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

d MWESAREEBFRERE=+—
(21) AN BRABRRFIAE - B2
BARLRZEARBITEARABRES
AAEg MEZEFAEERZAE
SEBAEENFIBEAEEZARN
RRIMEBEAETES -

BRRAOXQRBDEEEANREF

NEBEFENEE WRAMRUTAR
i ZN/NCTRE

ok EBEFELITE1515%
BARPNH1002E

BH - ir@cybernaut.com.hk
B (852) 3549 6353
BH : (852) 3549 6354
WHA: BFg  REWE

REBRKRNECHEBER  WRkEFPE
i ERABISMI  EEARRHME
B BRRRABE
BEREROBFELTIE
BEBSFELARDA

ik HEERBI6HFERESHEP O

1718
EH :  is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
FEE ¢ (852) 2980 1333

f5E : (852) 2810 8185

Annual Report 2022
SERoCFFER

79



80

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business at Unit 1002, Capital
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the board of directors of the
Company will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(@) Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting.

(b)  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(c) Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in an annual general meeting of
the Company.

Saved as disclosed in the Circular announced on 15 September
2022 and in this report, there was no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
adopts a diversified business development strategy and has
established its firm footing in three business segments, namely
() money lending business, (i) eCommerce business and (iii)
internet online education services. This Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) summarises the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives,
plans and performances of the Group and demonstrates its
commitment to sustainable development.

ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established the ESG working taskforce (the
“Taskforce”). The Taskforce composes of full-time staff from
relevant departments and is responsible for collecting relevant
information on the ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report.
The Taskforce at least annually reports to the board (the
“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), assists in identifying and
assessing the Group’s ESG risks and the effectiveness of the
internal control mechanisms. The Taskforce also examines
and evaluates the Group’s performances in different aspects,
such as environmental protection, labour practices, and other
ESG aspects. The Board has the overall responsibility for the
Group’s ESG issues, including setting the general direction
for the Group’s ESG strategies, ensuring the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control mechanisms. The Board
discusses the Group’s ESG issues at least annually. In response
to the goal of carbon neutralisation by the governments in
the Group’s operating locations and to fulfil the Group’s
commitment to sustainable development, the Group set targets
in the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“‘FY2021”) to
reduce Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions, electricity usage,
water consumption and waste disposal.

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2022 (“FY2022” and “Reporting Period”).
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For FY2022, the reporting scope of the ESG Report is the same
as that of Annual Report 2022. The key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) are gathered and cover companies and subsidiaries that
are under the Group’s direct operational control. The KPIs are
shown in the ESG Report and are supplemented by explanatory
notes to establish benchmarks.

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). Information relating to the Group’s
corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on the Annual Report 2022.

Environmental,

During the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group has
applied the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follow:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation
of the ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and senior management. For further
details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable
assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation
approach of this ESG Report is consistent with the previous
year, including FY2021 for comparison. If there are any changes
in the scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies that
may affect comparison with previous reports, explanations will
be provided to the corresponding data.
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Opinions and feedback from the Group’s stakeholders regarding
its businesses and ESG aspects are greatly valued by the
Group, as their expectations and concerns steer the Group’s
sustainable development, allowing the Group to formulate better
business and ESG strategies. Throughout FY2022, the Group
has maintained close communication with its key stakeholders,
including but not limited to, the government and regulatory
authorities, shareholders and investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, and media and the public, by utilising a variety
of engagement methods, as shown below.
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Stakeholders Engagement Methods Expectations
#HhE BHAE =
Government and e Routine reports e Compliance with local laws and
regulatory authorities e Written or electronic correspondences regulations
e  Stability in business operations
BRI N B e o EHRWMmE o ETEMERERER

. EZEIETER

s EBRERTE

Shareholders and e General meeting and other shareholder e  Sustainable profitability

investors meetings
e Annual and interim reports
Announcements and circulars
e Investor meetings
e Company website
RERIREE e BRERARGRHMBRREH
o FHETHBE
o RNERBMK
s KREE®E
LN S F S

Employees e Training, seminars and briefing
e Performance reviews
e Regular general meetings

7
i
[ ]

Fil - e kEHRE
o BMERZ
o EHIRREA®

e Shareholder return
e Corporate governance
e Legal compliance

o HHERNEES

. BEEH
. oEER
. ERAH

e Remuneration, compensation and
benefits

e Fair and competitive employment

e Safe working environment

o HT - FEER

o RFREBFNNER

o LREMI{ERE
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Stakeholders
BinE

Customers

Suppliers

HEm

Banks

R1T

Media and the public

BRI AFRAL

Engagement Methods
2HRAEE

e Customer service hotline and email

o XPRBAGNER

e Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment
e [Face-to-face meetings

o HERWEENE

s HHHEH

e Post-loan tracking
e On-site visits

. BB
. BHHM

e ESG reports

e Company website

e Regular reports and announcements
e R HERERWE
NS E S

s THWRERASE

The Group endeavours to continue collaborating with its

stakeholders and take into account their opinions in the

decision-making process.

In the long run, it is the Group’s

belief that the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the Group
in improving potentially overlooked ESG performances, and
achieving a more sustainable business model.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In preparing the ESG Report, the Board and management who
are responsible for key functions of the Group have assisted
the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying relevant ESG
issues and assessing the relative importance of related ESG
issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The Group compiled
a questionnaire in relation to the identified material ESG issues
to collect the responses and opinions from the stakeholders of
the Group.

The Group’s material ESG issues according to its relative
importance are shown below:

Materiality Matrix
EEMER

RE  HE8REBESE

EERERTN

RREIRE HEREARER  EFQ
REEASETIERENEEEHRIASE
BEMEZE  #PIHERARE HEakE
JAEIE - WRHEHERRE - HERERE
BHEBRBNENREERE - A%HE
B - BRAMERNNERRE -8Rk
EREENES  NREAERERFHED
EERER -

AEBZEHEEZME DNERRE
BREREHIITMT

#t

Customer Privacy Protection ‘
ERLBRE

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

R B REH

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
BT Roghlss T

Anti-corruption
RES

Indoor Air Quality

fie

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees
AEBRHET2RE

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination
FERE - STLERER

ENEREE

GHG Emissions
BEREEBR

Fair and Open Tendering
AT AFRRE
Training and Development
BIRER

BEEYEE

Waste Management ‘

Community Participation
[

Energy Efficiency
BER S

Water Consumption
FORIERE

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDER’S ASSESSMENT & DECISIONS
HEMETERRENBERE

Climate Change
FiRE(E

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL IMPACT
HEHE BENMMENESFTER

For FY2022, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents complied with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide.
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The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and

suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of the

ESG Report or its performances in sustainable development by

emailing ir@cybernaut.com.hk.

Al.

Emissions

The Group realises that environmental protection
relies on both collective and individual efforts and is
also concerned whether its funds might be diverted
to enterprises that cause serious environmental
impacts or have little concern over sustainability.
Thus, the Group continuously improves existing
policies and incorporates new policies with the
intention of mitigating potential direct and indirect
negative environmental impacts arising from its
business operations and makes a conscious effort
to avoid diverting funds to non-environmentally
conscious enterprises.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations, including
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic
of China from the People’s Republic of China
(“China”)’s that would have a significant impact on
the Group during FY2022.
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Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group
considers that air emissions generated are of an
insignificant level.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from petrol consumption by vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2), and paper

waste disposal (Scope 3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

The Group has adopted the following measures
to mitigate direct GHG emissions from petrol
consumption by vehicles in its operations;

° Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

° Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling; and

° Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal

engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group. The
Group has implemented measures to reduce energy
consumption, such measures are mentioned in “Use
of Resources”.
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Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Paper waste disposal is accounted for the other
indirect GHG emissions. Measures implemented to
reduce paper waste disposal and air travel can be
found in the sections headed “Waste Management”
and aspect A2 “Use of Resources” respectively.

In FY2021, the Group set a target to host related
environmental campaigns, such as training and
seminars, to raise employees’ awareness of GHG
emissions reduction in FY2022. In order to comply
with the pandemic control measures, the Group
did not host any environmental campaigns related
to reduce GHG emissions during the Reporting
Period. However, the Group continues to monitor
the level of GHG emissions and implements relevant
measures mentioned above. During the Reporting
Period, the Group sets a target to host at least one
environment-related campaign, such as training and
seminars, in the financial year ends 31 December
2023 (“FY2023").

The GHG emissions intensity decreased significantly
from approximately 1.42 tCO,e/employee in FY2021
to approximately 1.35 tCO,e/employee in FY2022.
The Group will continue to actively promote
environmentally friendly measures to help reduce
GHG emissions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Summary of GHG emissions performances:

Indicator’

EE

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
HE1 - BEERERBYM
e Petrol
o U
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions
HE2— EREERERBIHN
e Purchased electricity
e HWET
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
HEI— HHERAEREBHMN
e Paper waste disposed at landfills
o EREFAEE
e Business air travels by employees
o EERALRELINOH
Total GHG emissions
BERBHNEE
Total GHG emissions intensity®
BERBHRESTES

BRI -HEBRE

AR

BERBHBERE

Unit? FY2022 FY2021
B {2 ZE- "B ket s
tCO,e 1.92 2.53
WE—SEAIRE &
tCO,e 59.71 113.10
Mg — %{t s 2
tCO,e 1.82 2.59
m—%m REE
tCOe 63.45 118.22
_FtRER
tCO e/employee 1.35 1.42

W — S iRE =
EE
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Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to
prepare an ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX,
the “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the latest
published Baseline Emission Factors for Regional
Power Grids in China, “Sustainability Report 2021”
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited and
the “Sustainability Report 2021” published by the HK
Electric Investment.

2. tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

3. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 47
employees (2021: 83). The data is also used for
calculating other environmental intensity data.

Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group’s business nature, the discharges
into land are insignificant. Similarly, there has not
been a significant and unreasonable amount of
water discharged; used water was discharged via
the municipal sewage network to the regional water
treatment plant.
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Waste Management

Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material
hazardous waste was generated by the Group during
FY2022.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group was general waste. Though there has not
been a disproportional amount of waste produced,
the Group places great effort in encouraging the
employees to reduce waste production by adopting
the following environmentally friendly initiatives:

° Recycle used single-sided office paper;

° Double-sided printing or photocopying;

° Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary;

° Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship

Council Recycled Label; and

° Recycle office and electronic equipment after
their life cycle.
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A2.

In FY2021, the Group set a target to host waste
reduction related campaigns to raise employee
awareness of waste reduction in FY2022. In order
to comply with the pandemic control measures, the
Group did not host any waste reduction campaigns
during the Reporting Period. However, the Group
continues to monitor the level of waste generation
and implements relevant measures mentioned above.
During the Reporting Period, the Group sets a target
to host at least one waste reduction campaign in
FY2023.

The non-hazardous waste intensity in FY2022 was
similar to that in FY2021. The Group considers
current paper-saving measures are effective in
increasing the employees’ awareness of reducing the
use of non-hazardous waste disposal amount.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste disposal

performance:
Category of waste Unit
EXEMER Efr

Total non-hazardous waste

BREEZVEE
e (Office paper Tonnes
o WARAM A

Total non-hazardous waste intensity
BEREMEERE

Use of Resources

The Group takes the initiative to introduce green
measures to reduce environmental impact arising
from its business operations. Measures on reducing
office paper waste have been mentioned in the
preceding “Waste Management” section. Other
initiatives include maintaining indoor temperature at a
suitable level in the offices and promoting the use of
teleconferences or video conferences to replace the
needs for constant business air travel.
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Energy Efficiency

The Group has in place a multitude of strategies to
reduce resources consumption. However, given the
Group’s office-based business nature, applicable
green measures that could be implemented into
the Group’s policy are limited. Nevertheless, the
Group strives to further reduce energy consumption
by adopting energy-saving measures such as the
following:

° Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use;

° Purchase energy-efficient equipment on
replacement of old equipment;

° Set all computer screens and printers to
standby mode after a certain period; and

° Post eye-catching stickers on energy efficiency
as a reminder for employees.

In FY2021, the Group set a target to participate in
energy-saving related campaigns to raise employees’
awareness of energy-saving in FY2022. In order
to comply with the pandemic control measures,
the Group did not host any energy-saving related
campaigns during the Reporting Period. However,
the Group continues to monitor the level of energy
consumption and implements relevant measures
mentioned above. During the Reporting Period, the
Group sets a new target to host at least one energy
saving campaign in FY2023.
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RE  dEBRERHRE

Unexpected high consumption of electricity will be
investigated to find out the root cause and preventive
measures will be taken. The energy consumption
intensity decreased by approximately 13% from
approximately 2,491.67 kWh/employee in FY2021 to
approximately 2,178.59 kWh/employee in FY2022.
This was mainly due to the decrease in the overall
time spent by employees in the office as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

Type of energy’ Unit
REiRXERY EHf

Direct energy consumption

BEERERE
e Petrol kWh
o M TR

Indirect energy consumption

e Purchased electricity kWh

e HBES TR
Total energy consumption kWh
WEERHAE FTREF
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee
Bl AERE TEE &E
Note:
1. The calculation of unit conversion is based on the

Energy Statistics Manual issued by the International
Energy Agency.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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FY2021

6,977.78 9,206.79

95,416.00 197,602.00
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2,178.59 2,491.67

GEE

1. BuBBIREERERE
HmEREIRGRT FMEHE -



Water Consumption

Due to the Group’s business nature, water was
mainly used for the daily needs of employees and
the cleaning and sanitation of the offices. The Group
did not consider the amount of water used to be
disproportionate.

The Group makes a conscious effort to reduce water
consumption by introducing water conservation
measures, such as regularly inspects water taps to
prevent leakage, installs dual flush water cisterns
in toilets and water-saving thimbles in sinks and
washrooms where possible. The Group has also
posted banners with water-saving messages around
the offices in an effort to raise employees’ awareness
of water conservation.

In FY2021, the Group set a target to host water
conservation related campaigns to raise employees’
awareness of water conservation in FY2022. In order
to comply with the pandemic control measures,
the Group did not host any water-saving related
campaigns during the Reporting Period. The Group
continues to monitor the level of water consumption
and implements relevant measures mentioned
above. During the Reporting Period, the Group sets
a target to host at least one water saving campaign
in FY2023.

The water consumption intensity decreased
significantly because the water consumption expense
in the Shenzhen office was included in the rental
fees in FY2022 and the water consumption records
for such premise was not available. The Group will
continue to monitor the water usage and, where
necessary, implement more water-saving measures
to manage water usage.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.
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BiE -

A3.

HBERERRE

Summary of water consumption performance:

Indicator Unit
it Ef
Water consumption’ m?
FEKE SR
Water consumption intensity

FREE

Note:

1. Water consumption data excluded that of the Hong

Kong headquarter and Shenzhen office since the
water consumption was covered in the monthly
management fee or rental fee.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the use of
packaging material is not considered as a material
ESG aspect to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As an ongoing commitment to good corporate social
responsibility, the Group realises its responsibility
in minimising negative environmental impacts in
its business operations. Although the Group’s
business operations do not pose a large impact
on the environment, the Group conducts regular
assessments on potential environmental risks of its
business, adopts preventive measures accordingly
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The Group will continue to actively seek
out other ways to reduce its environmental footprint.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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A4.

Indoor Air Quality

Poor indoor air quality poses both short-term and
long-term threats to the employees. Therefore, the
Group remains vigilant in ensuring that the workplace
has good indoor air quality, indoor air quality is
regularly monitored and measured. To improve
indoor air quality, air purifying equipment is used in
offices and the air conditioning systems are cleaned
periodically. These measures resulted in achieving a
satisfactory indoor air quality level.

Climate Change

Extreme weather events are becoming more
frequent and severe, while tackling climate change
has become a global consensus. The Group has
realized that climate change will affect its business
operations. Therefore, the Group has established
policies and procedures to identify, monitor and
manage ESG issues, including climate change.
Material climate-related risks are identified and
managed under our enterprise risk management
framework.
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Climate Change Issues

Following are the climate change risks that will
impact the Group’s business operations, these risks
could be classified as physical risks and transition
risks. Physical risks refer to the risks of increased
frequency of extreme weather events that could
impact the Group’s business operations. On the
other hand, transition risks refer to the risks of
transitioning to a lower-carbon economy which
may entail extensive policy, legal, technology,
and market changes to address mitigation and
adaptation requirements related to climate change.
Depending on the nature, speed, and focus of these
changes, transition risks may pose varying levels of
financial and reputational risks to the Group. Further
explanation will be discussed below.

Physical Risks

Increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as extreme cold or heat, storms,
heavy rains, and typhoons can disrupt operations
by damaging the power grids and communication
infrastructures, hampering and injuring our
employees on the way or during their work. These
events could disrupt supply chains, interrupt
business operations, and damage the Group’s
assets. The Group has taken different actions to
manage the abovementioned acute physical risks.
For example, the Group has developed the practice
of communicating the arrangements under extreme
weather conditions to employees in advance. The
potential financial impacts can be minimised with
adequate preparations for extreme weather events.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B1.

Transition Risks

There are more stringent climate legislations
and regulations to support global vision for
decarbonisation. For example, the HKEX has
required the listed companies to enhance the
climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports.
The Group’s reputation may be damaged due to
failure to comply with such regulations, which may
also expose the Group to higher risks of claims and
lawsuits. In response to the policy and legal risks
as well as the reputation risks, the Group regularly
monitors existing and emerging trends, policies and
regulations relevant to climate change, and will alert
the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational
risks due to delayed response.

Employment

The Group recognises that employees are the most
valuable asset of the Group and are the foundation
of the Group’s success. As such, the Group has
continued with its good employment practices to
ensure sustainable growth of the business. Relevant
employment policies are formally documented in
the Employee Handbook, covering recruitment and
remuneration, compensations, working hours and
rest periods, diversity and equal opportunities, etc.
The Group periodically reviews these employment
policies to ensure continuous improvement of its
employment standards and competitiveness against
companies of the similar industry.
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R HEREBHSE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 47
employees pertaining to the reported segments
(FY2021: 83). Breakdown by gender, age group,
employee category and geographical region are as

follows:

Indicator it
Gender R
Male XL
Female egi
Age Group FEcdERN
Under 40 Years Old 40BRLA N
40 to 60 Years Old 402 607%
Above 60 Years Old B60FRIA
Employee Category EREmi
Full-time 2
Part-time FE
Geographical Region WE
Mainland China AR B i,
Hong Kong, China FEIES

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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H AEEHB47REE (=
TEZ—F 83%) &M
Al - FEcAR - EBIFEED Rt
BEEDHDMIT :

Number of Employees

BEEAR
As at As at
<hloblciecalesie 31 December
2022 2021
w-—E—— RZE——F
+A=+—H gy =
21 38
26 45
31 66
13 12
3 5
44 72
3 11
29 59
18 24
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RIE HERERHS

The ratio of employee turnover to total number of WEMBEAR - EERKLLEG
employees was 51.06% during the Reporting Period BB RERH A51.06% (=
(FY2021: 74.70%). The following table shows the TE-—BF 1 74.70%) - T&
breakdown of employee turnover: BRTREERKLENDM
Ratio of
Employee Turnover?
EERKLE

FY2022 FY2021
el O R — B

Indicator it

Gender TR

Male B 47.62% 68.42%

Female g 53.85% 80.00%

Age Group FHH R

Under 40 Years Old 405 AT 70.97% 83.33%

41 to 60 Years Old 412607 0.00% 75.00%

Above 60 Years Old 60B% A 66.67% 0.00%

Geographical Region E

Mainland China H B A 48.28% 84.75%

Hong Kong, China FEE B 55.56% 50.00%

Note: Mz -

1. The employee turnover rate of the Group is calculated 1. ARENREBRKRLETIR
by dividing the number of turnovers in a category BB 2 3K — SRl O BE A
during the financial year by the total workforce in the ABER AR B BUSF R R
category as at the end of financial year x 100%. Al 1E B 2R EA100% ©
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During FY2022, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

Employees are recruited via a robust, transparent
and fair recruitment process based solely on
their experience and suitability for the positions,
regardless of their age, religion, ethnicity, origin,
gender identity, physical disability and marital status,
etc. Employees are assessed and chosen based
on their ability and potential to fulfil the Group’s
current and future needs. The Group is adamant in
treating and evaluating its employees in a fair and
unprejudiced way.

Remuneration and promotion are based on
job-related skills, qualifications and performances.
The Group will conduct an annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments
and/or promotion opportunities. The Group also
gives priority to internal promotion in order to provide
incentive to employees for their consistent and
continuous efforts.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Remuneration packages include variable bonuses,
annual leave, maternity leave, etc. In accordance
with the applicable laws of Mainland China, the
Group legally pays “five social insurance and
one housing fund” for its employees in Mainland
China, namely endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment
injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing
provident fund. For employees in Hong Kong,
monthly contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are made pursuant to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

To ensure a healthy work-life balance for employees,
the Group has formulated policies in determining
the working hours and rest periods for employees in
accordance with local employment laws. Subject to
company or departmental arrangement, employees
are eligible for overtime payment.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group offers fair compensation packages for
employees based on employees’ personal capability
and benchmark. In addition, the Group complies with
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong and Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, which covers employees who sustain
personal injury by accident or disease arising out of
the course of employment.
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The Group prohibits any unreasonable dismissals
under any circumstances and ensures that dismissal
would be conducted based on reasonable and lawful
grounds supported by internal policies. Verbal or
written warnings will be issued before the official
dismissal to provide the staff with an opportunity for
improvement. If no improvement is noted, the Group
shall then consider dismissal only upon receiving
dismissal instruction from the relevant department.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group values diversity in its talent pool and is
dedicated to ensuring that equal opportunities are
given to each employee. The Group is committed
to creating and maintaining an inclusive and
collaborative workplace culture. Furthermore, the
Group is dedicated to protecting its employees
from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
based on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or
mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status,
and sexual orientation. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace in
any form. The Group also strives to ensure that
complaints, grievances and concerns, including
whistle-blowing, are being dealt with promptly,
confidentially and impartially.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B2. Health and Safety

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees

The Group highly values employees’ health and
safety and is always committed to maintaining a
safe and pleasant working environment for all its
employees. The Group has also maintained strict
compliance with local laws and regulations and has
adopted occupational health and safety guidelines
recommended by the Labour Department and
Occupational Safety and Health Council and have
developed relevant policies.

During FY2022, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
of the People’s Republic of China and the Fire
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.
There were no reported cases of work-related
fatalities in each of the past three years including
FY2022 and no lost days due to work injury during
FY2022, hence no claims or compensation was paid
to its employees due to such accident.

To ensure a hazard-free working environment,
the Group stresses the importance of keeping the
corridors clean, classifying and recycling waste
where possible, cleaning air-conditioning equipment
and carpet on a regular basis and participating in
regular health and safety seminars. To minimise the
risk of a fire hazard, fire extinguishers are strategically
placed and fire exits are free from obstruction.
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Improving Safety Awareness

The Group complies with related working safety
guidelines and constantly educates and reminds
employees of the importance of work health and
safety. The Group provides employees with relevant
information on crime prevention and emergency
response through training, promotions, drills and
regular safety inspections. We also participate in
regular fire drills to raise employees’ safety and fire
prevention awareness. If there are any violations of
the guidelines, we will take appropriate disciplinary
actions or legal proceedings against the staff to
raise employees’ health and safety awareness during
work.

Prevention Control on COVID-19

In view of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has
taken proactive measures to safeguard the health
and safety of its employees and business partners
and has complied with public health measures
implemented by the local authorities. The Group has
increased the frequency of sanitisation in the Group’s
premises and prepared surgical masks and hand
sanitisers for the use of its employees. To further
minimise the risk of cross-infection, all employees
and clients of the Group are also required to perform
temperature checks before entering the Group’s
premises.
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B3. Development and Training

General Disclosure

Training and Development

Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s employees to keep
abreast of the rapidly changing trend in the industry.
The Group has developed relevant policies on
employees’ knowledge and skills development.

Employees are encouraged to apply for internal and
external training courses to refresh prior knowledge.
The Group encourages employees to familiarise
themselves with newly updated guidelines, maintain
their competitiveness within the industry and ensure
legal compliance in dealing with sensitive matters
and data.

Internally, the Group holds work-related talks and
seminars. Training contents are regularly updated to
be in line with the industrial standard, the Group’s
business nature and to provide maximum benefit to
the employees.
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During FY2022, approximately 12.77%' (FY2021:
8.43%) of the Group’s employees received training,
with an average of approximately 2.13% (FY2021:
1.22) training hours per employee. The following
table shows the breakdown of the employees
training:

Percentage of
Employees Trained®

EENRREAL

FY2022
Employee Training RRE SEITHE ek

By Gender BR

Male i 83.33%
Female T 16.67%

By Employee Category BERRN

Board and Senior Management EXCNEAEEE 83.33%
Middle Management and General Staff ~ #HEBER-HRET 16.67%
Notes:

1. Total percentage of employees trained = Total

number of employees trained during the financial
year/Total number of employees at the end of the
financial year*100%.

2. Average training hours = Total training hours
completed during the financial year by category/Total
number of employees at the end of the financial year
by category.

) Percentage of employees trained by category = Total
number of employees trained during the financial
year by category/Total number of employees trained
during the financial year*100%.
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B4.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during
the recruitment process as defined by laws and
regulations. Personal data is collected during the
process to assist the selection of suitable candidates
and to verify candidates’ personal data and that
they have reached the minimum legal age to work in
respective jurisdictions.

According to the Employee Handbook, the Human
Resources Department also ensures identity
documents are thoroughly checked. The Human
Resources Department has established a reporting
mechanism to ensure compliance with all relevant
laws and regulations. If violation is involved, it will
be dealt with in the light of the circumstances
promptly. Upon discovery of child labour, the
said person will be discharged immediately. To
prevent the forced labour, the employment contract
specifies the agreement between the Group and
its employees on the working conditions including
among others, their normal working hours and
overtime work arrangement. Overtime working of
employees is on a voluntary basis to avoid violating
labour standards and to protect employees’ rights
and interests. If there is any suspected infringement
regarding forced labour, the Group might conduct
investigation and take disciplinary actions against
any staff members who are responsible for the cause
of the incident. The Group will regularly conducts
reviews and inspections to ensure such measures
and procedures are effective. Upon discovery of
child and forced labour cases, the Group will discuss
preventive measures to avoid a similar event from
happening again.
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BS.

During FY2022, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

Supply Chain Management

Fair and Open Tendering

The engagement with service providers takes place
under a fair and open tendering process, it takes
suppliers’ experience, reputation, prevailing market,
price and reputation into account. The Group
has established procedures for procurement and
logistics management to ensure that the products
procured are of satisfactory quality, thereby reducing
procurement cost. The Group strives not to over-rely
on a specific supplier in order to ensure stability of
the supply chain. At the same time, the Group aims
to strengthen collaborative relationships with existing
suppliers. Should the performance of the supplier fall
below contractual expectations, the contract may be
terminated.

Employees are reminded to avoid situations that
may lead to or involve potential conflict of interest.
Any discrimination against certain vendors without
reasonable grounds and any types of business
bribery are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had engaged
a total of 29 major suppliers (FY2021: 67 major
suppliers), 20 suppliers are from Mainland China,
while 9 suppliers are from Hong Kong, China, and all
major suppliers are subject to the above evaluation
and monitoring regularly.
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B6.

Environmentally and Socially Responsible Supply
Chain

The Group has established relevant policy to manage
the environmental and social impacts in our supply
chain. In accordance with this policy, we assess
suppliers’ environmental and social performance in
our procurement and tendering process to ensure
that our suppliers are aware of and have established
minimum standards for the environmental, social and
ethical issues relevant to their operations.

With an objective to minimise the carbon emission
and to support local economy and community, we
mainly sourced our materials, products and services
locally in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has
ensured that the purchased office equipment has
Energy Efficiency Label and purchased stationery
uses environmental-friendly packaging with certifying
scheme.

The Group will also regularly review the effectiveness
of its supply chain management measures.

Product Responsibility

Solid corporate governance and risk management
are essential to the Group’s long-term development
and sustainable growth. The Group periodically
revises existing corporate rules and regulations
and ensures strict compliance with local laws and
regulations.
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During FY2022, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
concerning advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided, including
but not limited to, the Money Lenders Ordinance, the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Protection
of Consumer Rights of the People’s Republic of
China. During FY2022, the Group did not receive any
major product or service-related complaints. Due to
the Group’s business nature, product recall is not
applicable to the Group.

Moreover, the Group has set standards for
advertising and sales material. Information
disclosed in all advertising and sales materials
must be factual; we also prohibit the use of false,
misleading or inaccurate statements in any forms of
communication.

Money-lending Assurance

As a licenced money lender in Hong Kong, the Group
holds an active Money Lenders Licence. In addition,
the Group abides by the Money Licensing Conditions
of the said licence. As a result of a more stringent
additional licensing conditions on money lender
licences, a risk-warning message must be present
in all advertisements in relation to money lending
business. The guideline stipulates that advertisement,
whether in textual, audio or visual form, must
contain the relevant subsidiary’s telephone hotline
for handling complaints and a well-established risk
warning statement. The said risk warning statement
must also be clearly audible in the audio part of the
advertisement.
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group protects legitimate rights and interests
of its customers, respects the rights of customers’
information assets and strictly complies with the
customers’ information security management
systems and standards. The Group has formulated a
set of privacy guidelines in regard to the collection,
retention and accessibility of information to ensure
that the lessee’s sensitive information is only used
for its intended purposes and to prevent information
leakage. All employees are trained to respect the
confidentiality of customers’ information, while only
certain employees can access sensitive customer
data. Moreover, employees are required to sign a
confidentiality agreement to hold them accountable
for should there be any unlawful information leakage.
The Group will review the policies regularly to ensure
its effectiveness.

Intellectual Property Rights

Despite intellectual property rights are not
considered a material ESG aspect to the Group due
to the Group’s business nature, the IT Department
is in charge of securing proper licenses for software,
hardware and information that the Group uses in
its business operation. Duplication or downloading
of information, software, and images from the
internet must be approved by relevant department.
Furthermore, the Group closely monitors and
prevents any infringement behaviour such as
counterfeit trademarks in the market. The Group will
continue to monitor to ensure that its intellectual
property rights are not being infringed upon.
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B7.

Customer Service Quality

The Group strives to provide excellent services
in response to customers’ enquiries. A customer
services team has been established, and standard
procedures have been established to handle
customers’ opinions and comments. To further
enhance and better the Group’s services, customers
are encouraged to provide feedback on their
experience. Feedbacks are recorded in detail and
appropriate follow-up actions will be taken should it
be deemed necessary.

Procurement Quality Control

The Group has a dedicated quality control team to
ensure the products procured are of satisfactory
quality and would not pose any significant health
threat to its consumers. Standard procedures are
established to govern the procurement, quality
assurance and storage of these products. Due to
the Group’s business nature, the Group has an
insignificant amount of business dealing regarding
labelling matters.

Anti-corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, honesty,
and fairness in how the Group conducts business.
The Group emphatically asserts its zero-tolerance
stance regarding any behaviours that violate local
laws and regulations and severely damage the
Group’s reputation.
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During FY2022, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering
that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance, the Money Lenders
Ordinance, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Securities and Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China. Also, there were no concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group’s issuer nor its employees during
FY2022 (FY2021: O case).

Anti-money laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As a professional financial services provider, the
Group is particularly sensitive to the signs of
money laundering and financial crimes. Apart from
complying with local laws and guidelines established
by regulatory authorities, the Group recognises that
the responsibility to help protect the integrity of
the financial system lies within us. The Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy
is in place to safeguard the interests of the Group.
It states the roles and responsibilities of compliance
officers and details procedures such as conducting
customer due diligence check before starting
business dealings with them and reporting suspicious
transactions. The Group also provide training on
anti-money laundering to Directors and employees
at least annually to maintain their anti-corruption
awareness and good professional conduct and to
comply with the regulations in Hong Kong and the
China. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
provided reading materials related to anti-corruption
for Directors and employees for their self-study.
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Prevention of Money Laundering, Fraud and Bribery
Practices

The Group is sensitive to money laundering, potential
fraud, and bribery practices. Therefore, the Group
provides guidelines to employees to remind them
of good practices to prevent unnecessary legal
complications.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has established relevant policy to
provide communication channels for employees to
report concerns on the occurrence (either actual or
suspicious) of any incidents regarding corruption
or criminal activity, non-compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, miscarriages of justice,
actions which endanger the health and safety of any
individuals, and existing and possible improprieties
relating to financial reporting, internal control, and
other matters. The identity of the whistle-blower will
be kept confidential. The Group will review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

Community Investment
Community Participation

The Group is committed to providing career
opportunities to local residents and considers the
development of the community’s economy as part
of the Group’s sustainable development strategy.
To this end, the Group has established relevant
guidelines and policies to encourage its employees
to give back to the society which do not only benefit
the society but also nurture a good corporate
culture.

Due to the COVID-19, the Group did not arrange
community activities during the Reporting Period,
echoing to government social distancing measures.
The Group will continue to look into engaging in
more community events like environmental and
labour needs, etc. in the coming years.
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Introduction — ESG Governance Structure
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Scope of Reporting
WEHE

Description

it

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

KPI' A1.1

BRI IIETRAL
KPI A1.2

RS ER1RAL.2

KPI'A1.3

FRENIEIRAL3

KPI A1.4

RSB IR 1RAL.4

KPI' A1.5

BRSNS 1RA15

KPI' A1.6

FRENIEIRALG

Description

[

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

Brm iR MR R

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BEN) kpREE% (BE2) A= REHNE
(AHEEHE) & (@A) BE (NMABESEML - &7
HRIEHE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

FESEZEEYES (AEE) R (Eh) %
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Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
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Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

A PTET BB E B R R REDE L B RATERER
BB o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: BiRER

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1
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KPI A2.2
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KPI A2.3

FRENIERA2.3

KPI A2.4

BREIEIRA2.4

KPI' A2.5

FRENIRIRA2.5

Description

[

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
ARERAER (BHEER - KREMRME) K
% o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.q. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).
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Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BRAERTE (M SEREN - SRR
f) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
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Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
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AKBEHBBERAEREL B IEREBRA AR
Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
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Efficiency
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEAS : BRRXARE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A3.1

BB AR 1RAS. 1

Aspect A4: Climate Change
B@EB1 : &l

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1

RSB IR 1RAL. 1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.
HEBITAHRERAAERENEATZ BRI

% o

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

Rl EKEHHRBERAAREFNEATERBIK
REREEYENTTH -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer.
HRREHELER e BETAEEZENER
RIEBEBEEMBUR °

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
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TAEEFENEARKN
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -
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Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : &R

General Disclosure

—RE

KPI B1.1

BB B AURIRB1 1

KPI B1.2

RIREAURIRB1.2

Description

[

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
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Total workforce by gender, employment type

(for example, full- or part-time), age group and

geographical region.
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Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

EERG BE -

—REERARANER i E&#H

[

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: RREARZ

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B2.1

Bs IR R 1R B2.1

KPI B2.2
BRI MIEIRB2.2
KPI B2.3

PR EMIERB2.3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
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Number and rate of work-related fatalities

occurred in each of the past three years including

the reporting year.

BE=F (BRERFE) SFRTTROARREL
& o

Lost days due to work injury.
EIGEATIEHE -

Description of occupational health and

safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

T PTER AN 0 B S (R B 2 2 FE B - A AR REERAT
REERE -
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : &RR &

General Disclosure

—RE

KPI B3.1

BB AR 1RB3.1

KPI B3.2

RIS AIRIEB3.2

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[BEB4 : % T#AI

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B4.1

RAR R IETRBA.1
KPI B4.2

PR EMIERB4.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of training activities
BRRMEEBITIERE N ANB IR -
HEIEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

BRI R EEERN (NRRERE  TREERE) S
SNXIEERDLL

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
IR REBEMNED  BRERTKEIINFH
53

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BEBLLET SRS T

@ BER: R

(b) BFHBETABEATENHEBEZER
RO EHR -

Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

R R EfIE E AR R E T RAEHSET -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

R EERERBEREERBBIERARRE S
B -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training

BR RIS

Labour Standards

el

Labour Standards

BT g

Labour Standards

BIEA
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[BEBS : ftEAER

General Disclosure

—RKE
KPI B5.1
M5 4B UIE1EB5. 1
KPI B5.2

R EMIEIEB5.2

KPI B5.3

RIRAEAIRIRB5.3

KPI B5.4

BB 4B AR1EB5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.
ERMHEENREREERAREE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
i@ e D HRERRAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

A BREARERAES - MERTERENS
HERBBE - URBBRTRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

1 0075 T S5 R it 58 B R B O IR IR A g R B )
B - URBBRITRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

TR RE R AR 2 MRREm X RBHIE
Bl ARAEBERITRER A -
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Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Supply Chain Management

frERER
Supply Chain Management
HEEER
Supply Chain Management

HEEER

Supply Chain Management

HIEEE R

Supply Chain Management

fHEEER



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -

—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BEB6 : ERRE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B6.1

BB B AR 1RB6.1

KPI B6.2

BRI RI512B6.2
KPI B6.3

BARAERI512B6.3
KPI B6.4

BRI 513B6.4
KPI B6.5

BB AR 1RB6.5

Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
BRFRHERNMRENERERE BS  B8
RILBERIARBER T ED -
(@ BXE: &k
(o) BFHBETABEATENHBEZER
ROIBER -
Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREREXEREHTAR T BEREHMAD
WHBE DL -
Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.

BEBREDRRENIRFEANREEFE -
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

g ERRENREREHNED
Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

RILE ST B RE MBI

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

B EERRERDLBBE - U RABREHITR

s
BERE o

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Product Responsibility

R
2o
i
[y

Product Responsibility

EmAL

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EmAE
Product Responsibility

R
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEEE - Bm
—REBRREBRVER E:pid -1 8 L]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RE5

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
—MRIR R ARN LB - B1R - REFROEREN RER
(a) BUER: &

(b) BTHETARBEAZENHEBEIZR
RO ER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

BREIEIEBT A REZPAUBTASIHEEROVESENET RES
HARRUOHE RFDER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-corruption

whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HIREBIEEBT.2 mahEEERBRERF  UWREBRTRERT RES
& e
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Anti-corruption

directors and staff.
B e MU EBT.3 HlmEERE TREMNRESE - RES
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Description

EERG BE -
—REERARANER ikt

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : it ERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

—R = AR E2ERBERETACEMELETEM
BREEBEZDHEZEEENRNBOR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

MR A BUEIRBS8.A EIEREE (NHE  REFE SFIFR B
B Xk #85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

MREMIEEBS.2 EEIBBMDHAER (M BEHEH) -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Community Investment

HREE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HERE
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Mr. Zhu Min, aged 74, graduated from Zhejiang University with
a master’s degree in Industrial Management and received a
MS degree in Engineering Economics from Stanford University.
He co-founded Future Labs Inc. in 1991 which was later
acquired by Quarterdeck Corp.. In 1996, he co-founded WebEx
Communications Inc. which was successfully listed on NASDAQ
in 2000 and then acquired by Cisco Systems Inc. for US$3.2
billion in 2007.

In 2003, Mr. Zhu became the sole investment partner in China
of New Enterprise Associates (NEA), a renowned U.S. based
venture capital fund focusing on early- and middle-stage
companies, assisting NEA to successfully invest in a group of
independent innovation enterprises in China. In 2005, Mr. Zhu
founded Cybernaut Investment Group, one of China’'s best
venture capital houses in 2015 selected by Forbes. It is one of
the leading private equity and venture capital fund in China.

Mr. Zhu has many years of experience in computer, network
communications and services. He is a well-known scientist
in the field in the United States. In 2002, he was named by
Business Week as one of the 25 most influential people in
global e-commerce. In 2008 and 2009, Mr. Zhu was selected by
Forbes as one of China’s best venture capital investors. At the
first China Public Entrepreneurship and Innovation Conference
held in 2016, he was granted the title of China’s Pioneer in
Innovation and Entrepreneurship by virtue of his reputation in
the international investment community.

Mr. Zhu is the founder and chairman of the board of
Cybernaut Investment Group Limited, the Vice president of
China Society for the Promotion of Science and Technology
Commercialization, the founder and dean of the Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZII).

Mr. Zhu is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely j#
MELLAHBE R AR 2AF Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#JN2A&]", “Huzhou Company”),
Cybernaut Asia Pacific Limited, Hong Kong Cybernaut
Technology Limited and Cybernaut Technology International
Limited.

At the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu directly and indirectly
held 990,284,000 shares of the Company.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Dr. Chen Huabei, aged 57, holds a bachelor’'s degree from
Shandong University, China a master’s degrees from Aichi
University of Education, Japan and a doctor’s degree from
Northeast Normal University, China. He currently serves as
the president of Seadragon Innovation Institute of International
Education. Dr. Chen had served as a deputy director of the
education, science, culture and public health department and a
director general of the information center of State Administration
of Foreign Experts Affairs (SAFEA).
commissioner general of China Association for International

He had also served as a

Exchange of Personnel Overseas office of Japan. Dr. Chen’s
major research interests are Japanese philosophy history and
internationalization of education and talents.

Mr. Lu Yongchao, aged 43, obtained a diploma in Business
Administration for Real Estate Entrepreneurs in China at Sun
Yat-sen University and a diploma in English at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies. Mr. Lu was a team member of
Ample Luck International Capital Group Limited, a domestic
well known fund management group. Mr.
experience in business development, market development,
media management, finance and Information Technology
industry and years of investment, financing and fund
management history. He has rich experience in the enterprise
strategic management, internet strategy, brand management,
investment and financing management. He was the founder of
Enjoymedia Holdings Company Limited, which was listed on
the OTCBB in 2006 and was named one of the hundred most
Chinese Concept corporation listed in United States. Prior to
that Mr. Lu had been the Chief Executive of the online websites
YESITE and ITNOW, as well as the Whirlpool Kit Department
Head in China. Mr. Lu had assisted listing and financing of
different enterprises while working in an investment company
in China, and had served as the director of Taiwan listed
corporation China Mobile Digital Group. He also had served as
a director of a well-known German outdoor brand VAUDE.

Lu has extensive

MLt - 575 - HEFBRILRKEE
T2 BABEVENHEABETEA
AR BRICEN B AR E B - KR
BESREBEERE AR K - BRIE
TBEBERINEERE(SAFEA) B X
AEIRRMERFOEME - WIFBEESD
BERATRXRHEHARKREARE -
REBITHETEMEERBEEATERR
£ HEEBE - ATBEREE

Eiﬂ%i*%ﬁ’%ﬁ¢Mkﬁ¢l
FPHECEXRIMEBRRIZEEZE

RERINEBNEXBLEENEX - E
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REETEERKHEE mEnk &
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B NMEBTEZFERERESE
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Ms. Yip Sum Yu, aged 33, is currently an executive director of
the company and was appointed as our non-executive Director
of the company from 10 November 2014 to 13 March 2020.
Ms. Yip has gained valuable experience in investments and
investors relations in connection with both listed and private
investments. She did not hold any other directorships in public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Ms.
Yip is also the directors of its subsidiaries, namely Great Select
Global Limited, Accurate Trade International Limited, China
Safety Holdings Limited, Cybernaut Asia Holdings Limited and
Eagle Pioneer Limited of the Group.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Tong Yiu On, aged 56, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and currently as the company secretary of China
Ocean Industry Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 651). He served
as the chief financial officer of Infinity Development Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 640) and concurrently acted as
its executive director and company secretary from July 2011
to May 2018. From September 2000 to November 2008, he
served as the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Sinotronics Holdings Limited (currently known as Kingwell
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1195)) and he concurrently acted
as its executive director from December 2002 to November
2008. Prior to joining such company, he had nine years of
financial management, accounting and auditing experience from
various companies listed in Hong Kong and overseas and an
international accounting firm.

BRREE 56 NZE—NE+AT
AEZEARNRBUINTEE KA
BRI AE ([FAGHMAE]) 2
€8 WHAFESEIEEABRAA (—
KRR ER EM2AT (ROHRK
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AZEZETENF T+ —ARENUNE FIE
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KRR ER LT 2T (ROHRK
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Mr. Li Yik Sang, aged 48, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He has over 19
years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting. He has
served as the chief financial officer, authorised representative
and company secretary of Meike International Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 953)) from August 2009 to January 2016. Mr. Li
served as an audit assistant and a semi-senior auditor in Grant
Thornton from November 2000 to December 2002. He later
worked as a staff accountant, senior accountant and manager
in Ernst & Young from January 2003 to January 2007. He
acted as the chief financial officer of China Packaging Group
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 572)) from January 2007 to July
2009. He also served as an independent non-executive director
of China Agrotech Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073)) from
December 2011 to June 2014. He received his bachelor’s
degree in commerce from the University of Queensland,
Australia in December 1998. He received his master’s degree
in commerce (information systems) from the University of
Queensland, Australia in August 2000. Mr. Li is currently a
member of CPA Australia and a member of HKICPA.

Mr. Cao Ke, aged 48, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2015. He received his bachelor’s
degree in economics from Nankai University in China in 1995 and
a master’s degree in business administration from the University of
Hawaii in USA in 2001. He possesses over 10 years of experience
in financial management and over 8 years of experience in financial
investment and project management. He served as Chief Financial
Officer in Guangdong Esquel Textile Enterprise Co., Ltd., Jiemi
Int’l Trade (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Qide Education
Service Ltd.. From January 2010 to March 2020, he served as
Chief Investment Officer in Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Limited which is a reputable investment company in the PRC.
From October 2015 to March 2020, Mr. Cao served as the Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Gefeng Environmental
Protection Technology Co,. Ltd. Since December 2012, he served
as Supervisor in AnHua Agricultural Insurance Company Ltd and
Shenzhen Huaxunark Technology Co., Limited. Since March 2020,
Mr. Cao is the chief executive officer of Zhuhai Chang Cheng
Investment Management Company Limited.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald, aged 66,
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the company.

is currently the Chief

Mr. Sin received his bachelor’'s degree with extended major
in accountancy from Queensland University of Technology,
Australia in 1994. Then he pursued his postgraduate studies
with research and coursework at Griffith University, Australia in
1994. He obtained his master degree in business administration
from the University of Southern Queensland, Australia in
2006. Furthermore, Mr. Sin pursued his doctorate studies
at University of Wales Trinity Saint David in 2017 and had
taken online postgraduate business core studies of Harvard
University in 2020. He is currently an associate member of
HKICPA and a fellow member of the CPA Australia. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Sin has served companies in different
industries in Hong Kong, including those listed in Hong Kong
and overseas. He possesses over 20 years of management
experience in areas of accounting, business strategy and
corporate restructuring.

Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin, aged 48, is currently the executive
director and business development director of Soaring
International Limited (Soaring). He was also the director of VT
Zero Limited, subsidiary of Soaring (resigned on 20 January
2023). Mr. Ng was graduated with a BA (Hons) Information
Systems from City University of Hong Kong in 1998. Upon
graduation, he joined Hong Kong International Terminals, IT
Infrastructure division and Hutchison PortsnPortals.com until
he served as development specialist in Innaworks Ltd. from
2000 to 2001. He also participated the development of online
securities trading platform in TaiFook Securities during the
period of 2002 to 2005. Then with his years of past experience
in internet application on research and development in shipping
and finance industry, Mr. Ng worked as a system analyst in
CCASS division of HKEx. Mr. Ng has expertise on internet
marketing and always aims at exploring more online sales
channels for the Soaring International Limited enterprise, in a
view to reach fast growing online shoppers all over the world.
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Mr. Cheung Wing Lok Tommy, aged 41, joined the Company
in 2014. He is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
N R LS B BRI AR AR Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#31A 7", “Huzhou Company”),Time
Credit Limited and China Safety Holdings Limited of the Group.
Mr. Cheung received his bachelor’s degree in accountancy
from Curtin University of Technology, Australia in 2006 and
associate degree of Business Administration from HKU SPACE
in 2004. He is currently an associate member of HKICPA and
CPA Australia. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Cheung was
an auditor and experienced in areas of auditing and accounting.
Other than serving as subsidiaries’ director, Mr. Cheung also
involved in daily administrative and executive duties in the
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie, aged 50, is currently our
Group President on business development. He has been served
as an executive director in three Hong Kong listed companies,
involving telecommunications and information technology
solutions development, enterprise financing and mergers
and acquisitions, credit financing data management, beauty
and body management services, distribution and retail, and
other industries. With more than fifteen years of experience in
enterprise financing and financial management, Mr. Cheung
has established extensive channels for investment projects in
Greater China, leveraging his background in credit financing
and years of accumulated experience. He has successfully
completed several fundraising transactions in Greater China,
including project planning, debt financing, and securities margin
financing, and led corporate units in Shanghai and Taiwan
to develop financial management and enterprise financing
businesses. In addition, Mr. Cheung has extensive experience
in overseas investment and financing, and in recent years
has assisted a British private equity fund in establishing an
operational department, developing investment and financing
businesses in Hong Kong, the Middle East, and Southeast Asia
markets.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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In recent years, Mr. Cheung has been actively participated in
the work of high-precision positioning technology and design
application scenarios. He has been investing a significant
amount of time and resources to promote the growth and
innovation of this technology industry, while also actively
expanding into the Middle Eastern and Southeast Asian
markets.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree of Business Administration
issued by an American university and has completed the
Executive program of “Global Entrepreneur Program” at Peking
University Guanghua School of Management. He is also an
honorary director of the Chinese (Overseas) Entrepreneurs
Association.

ke

For the purpose of this section, denotes unofficial English translation.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Group is primarily engaged in eCommerce, eCommerce
solutions and related support services and selling of information
technology products, money lending business, as well as,
provision of internet education services.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities
in Mainland China. An analysis of the Group’s income for the
year is set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31
December 2022 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 165 and 166 of this
report.

The state of the Group’s affairs at 31 December 2022 is set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 167
to 168 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, are summarised on page 312 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group as at
31 December 2022 are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
there was a sufficiency of public float the Company’s securities
as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2022.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.
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Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its
shareholders as at 31 December 2022 were nil (31 December
2021: nil).

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Percentage of
the total purchases/
sales accounted for

Purchases
— the largest supplier 26%
— five largest suppliers combined 49%
Sales
— the largest customer 15%
— five largest customers combined 37%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest
in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group noted
above.

At no time during the year under review, none of the Directors,
their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed
above.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The Group has always kept our sustainable development that
aligns with the harmonious relationship to the environment
and committed to pay close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimize our environmental
impact by water-recycling initiatives, sewage treatment
implementation, energy saving and wastage reduction, and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. On
gas emission, advanced equipments have been employed in
various production procedures to recover part of the wastage
particulates generated during production process and minimize
the emission to the fullest extent. The Group dedicates to
improving equipment efficiency and quality management in order
to reduce power consumption. It also requires our factories to
operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
regulations and rules and possess all necessary permission and
approval from the relevant PRC regulators.

The Group always insist on the ideology on issues of
environmental protection, being conventional, safe and clean.
To enhance environmental awareness and encourage daily
participation among staff in the continuous improvement of
environmental protection, the Group implements green office
practices, such as implementing paperless practice whenever
possible and engaging staff regularly on low carbon office
measures.
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The Board recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring
relationship with its employees and business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers. Employees
are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated
and its workers are provided with regular training courses on
operation of different types of machinery, as well as work safety.
The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career
path and opportunities for advancement and improvement
of their skills. It is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate social governance essential for creating a framework
for motivating staff, and contributes to the community in which
we conduct our businesses and creates a sustainable return.
It also stays connected with its customers and suppliers and
has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers
through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing obligation to monitor adherence
and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements. Our Audit Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies
are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operation units from time to time.
Since the Group has subsidiaries in China and Hong Kong, the
establishments and operations shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group’s operation has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Huabei

Mr. Lu Yongchao

Ms. Yip Sum Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On
Mr. Li Yik Sang
Mr. Cao Ke

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 128 to 132 of this
report.
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Mr. Zhu Min’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director and chairman of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Dr. Chen Huabei’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation.

Mr. Lu Yongchao's appointment has no fixed term and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the
executive director of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Her appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Her remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee and the Board with reference to her duties and
responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing market
situation.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Tong Yiu On was appointed for as an independent non-
executive Director since 10 October 2014, his appointment
is renewable automatically for successive term of one year
each commencing from the next day after the expiry of the
then current term of appointment, unless terminated by either
Mr. Tong or the Company giving not less than three months’
notice in writing. And Mr. Tong is entitled to a director’'s fee
determined by the Board based on his anticipated effort and
expertise to be exercised on the Company’s affairs.

Mr. Li Yik Sang was appointed for as an independent non-
executive Director since 10 October 2014, his appointment is
renewable automatically for successive term of one year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then
current term of appointment, unless terminated by either Mr.
Li or the Company giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. And Mr. Li is entitled to a director’s fee determined by
the Board based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be
exercised on the Company’s affairs.

Mr. Cao Ke, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for an initial term of three years, commencing from
10 June 2015. Since 2021, his appointment is renewable
automatically for successive term of one year each commencing
from the next day after the expiry of the then current term
of appointment, unless terminated by either Mr. Cao or the
Company giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.
And Mr. Cao is entitled to a director’s fee determined by the
Board based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be
exercised on the Company’s affairs.

The appointments of the independent non-executive Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against
any potential liability arising from the Group’s activities which
such Directors and officers may be held liable.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 37 under the
heading “Related party transactions” to the financial statements,
there were no other transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
nor there were any other transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business between
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest.

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors
and our Chief Executive Officer of the Company had an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:
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Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares

Name of
Shareholder

RERE 2R

Mr. Zhu Min

PN i

Cybernaut International Limited (Note 2)

Nature of interest

Hann

Interest in a controlled
corporation
RElEEER

Beneficial owner

REOREBRD 2HFRERXR

Interest in

Number of underlying Shares

securities held
(Note 1)

FRERSHE
(BiE1)

356,000,000 Shares (L)
356,000,0008% 317 (L)

634,284,000 Shares (L)

BREERERAR (Hi22) EafAA 634,284,000 A& 17 (L)
Notes: Htat -

1. The letter “L.” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1,

2. Cybernaut International Limited is the legal and beneficial owner 2.

of approximately 15.96% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Cybernaut International Limited is wholly owned by Mr.

Zhu Min.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRREEBZERERAT

of share option
(Note 1)
{3 4
HRRER
(Hat1)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
(%)

Bk
3244

(%)

8.95%

15.96%

[LIRRZALTRARRRM Z 7R -

BRELEBRERARREARTAZHEH
TTIRAK165.96% A ERBEHERA -
BREEBRER AR HAGELEZER
Ao



The Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company are
not aware that there is any party who, as at 31 December 2022,
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted on 7 June 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the
Adoption Date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Group or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest (including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director of the Group or any Invested Entity);
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(i

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the

options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme

and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of

share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.
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Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, such grant of
share options are subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, whose
period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination under the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not
be less than the highest of:

()  the closing price of Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the
offer of the grant, which must be a trading day;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.
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The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June 2010 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees, and expired on 6 June 2020. Under the
Old Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant
options to eligible participant, including directors (excluding
non-executive directors), employees and consultant of the
Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24 September
2021. Under the New Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company may grant option to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the New Scheme was 120,000,000, representing 3.02%
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the New Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

At 31 December 2022, the maximum number of Shares which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the Options to be
granted under the New Scheme will be 397,544,800 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue, which will not exceed the 30% limit under Note 2 to
Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Movements of the share options which were granted under the

Share Option Scheme, during the year under review were listed

below in accordance with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:

B ETEBE17.071&  RNEEFERIE
BRI 2 EREEEH T

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December
Exercise 2022 Number of share option 2022
Date of price (HK$) R=BZZf BRENE RoBoCE
Grantee grant fTiE® -A-H Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  +ZR=t-H
EEA RiHA% (#T) AR Bt Bt 254 B&N AR
Eligible perticioants 7 May 2019 02 120,000,000 - - ~ (120,000,000) -
RERSEE ZE-NERAtA
Eligible participants 9 September 2022 0.120 - 120,000,000 - - - 120,000,000
Note 1)
RERSEE “2-_FNANA (Wit1)
Total 120,000,000 120,000,000 - - (120,000,000) 120,000,000
#it
Notes: Hiat
1. These options should be valid for a term of three years 1. ZEERBEERHA=F gZT==

commencing from 9 September 2022. The closing price of
the Company’s shares on 9 September 2022 (the trading day
immediately before the date on which these options were granted)

was HK$0.102.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the

year ended 31 December 2022 was estimated as at the date of

grant, using the Binomial Pricing Model, taking into account the

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The

following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Expected life of options (year)

Closing share price at grant date (HK$)

0.00
69.51
3.201

0.102

FALARBRER - AAFBOHR =
——FAANB (BEZSERERLB
BRI 5 A ) M E/0.102/8 7T °

REBEZT-_—_F+-A=+—HLHF
B BREZRAEEBEREZ ATFETIR
BEEEREDSU -_BERETEEREDLG
BT WASET R FTIR B AR 2 R SR R A o
TERHBIAHAREN 2B

& B (%) 0.00
T8 HR R 1R (%) 69.51
#2 [ Be 1 2= (%) 3.201
RERRAE 2 (s HR () 3
R EE W mE (Bx) 0.102
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was approximately RMB4,391,000 (2021: Nil) of which
the Group recognised a share option expense of approximately
RMB Nil (2021: Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2022.

EMPLOYEES’ INTEREST IN SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the employees or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” above, at no time
during the year under review was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

During the reporting period, the Group had no material
acquisitions or disposal.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interest with the Group during the year and up to the
date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year, other than those are disclosed in this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, as of 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in
or had any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set by the remuneration committee
of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and

achievement.

Report of the Directors
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to eligible participants including directors (excluding
non-executive directors), employees and consultants of the
Group. Details of the scheme are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this annual report.

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended
31 December 2022.

Please refer to the section headed “Management discussion
and analysis” in this annual report for a business review and the
future prospects of the Company. Please refer to the notes to
the financial statements in this annual report for the principal
financial risks faced by the Company. Please refer to Note 40 to
the financial statements in this annual report for the important
events of the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

The Board may declare dividends in the future after taking into
account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition,
cash requirements and availability and other factors as it may
deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to the
Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders. Future declarations
of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s
historical declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute
discretion of the Board.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process and internal controls
of the Group.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman),
Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke. The Audit Committee has
reviewed and discussed with the management and the external
auditor for the financial reporting matters including the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor
of the Company and a resolution to re-appoint the retiring
auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There have been no

changes of auditor in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
Zhu Min

Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CYBERNAUT
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 165 to 311, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matter

et =Em

1) Impairment assessment of goodwill

MERERERELRMR « BE R iR EF

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
carrying amount of goodwill of approximately
RMB72,938,000, which were allocated to the cash-
generating unit of Money lending business (the
“CGU”). For the purpose of assessing impairment,
the Group appointed an independent external valuer
to assess the recoverable amount of the CGU, which
were determined by management based on the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The valuation requires significant judgement
made by management in determining the CGU.
RZZE_—F+-_A=+—08  BE£EZHEFREE
#RARY72,938,0007T - EESREREXEBFNIR
CEABN([REELBM]) - RFHHRE X E5E
ZE—RBBELIMNEGEMTHREES B2 AR E
R HIOHEERERBEAEBENQTFERLEX
AZBREEE BReEABUCETERERREY
EEELERAE - AT o

After the management assessment, management has
concluded that there is no impairment of goodwill
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
KREBEN LG BEEEBAEABE_ZT__F+-A=
T—HIEFELEEERE -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOEMAEERR T ER

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of goodwill included the following:

ZMBEREEmEREN ENETRFREATSIA

— Assess the management’s identification of CGUs
based on our understanding of the Group’s
operations;

BREZMYE BRELLNBRTEEREENR E
BRI o

— Discuss with management and independent

external valuer engaged by the Group in relation
to the methodology, basis and assumptions used
in arriving at the forecasts (e.g. estimated growth
rate and discount rate etc.) to see whether
the methodology and assumptions used were
reasonable and appropriate;
BMEEEELR BEEEZENBIIMNEGER
WEBTEAMARE  EERREKR (FlanfEsHig &
ERUHRE)UBEMATEARRESBEARE
Ras

— Check the accuracy appropriateness and reliance
of the input data used; and
P RE T AR ARIRAERIESERE R
R

ik

— Evaluate the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
taking into account its experience and
qualifications.

RE BB IMNEGERMMNERLRER - B EE
R - e I REHI -



Key audit matter

et Em

We had identified impairment assessment of
goodwill as a key audit matter because significant
management judgement was used to appropriately
identify the CGU and to determine the key
assumptions including estimated future income,
operating margins and discount rates.
m%%EFMEK%%%%ﬁ%m%%ﬁ%EEEE
ERARMEBR (BREMAFTARRKE  LLMERITE
%) RS B E R AR R AR EFIE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOEMAEERR T ER

— Compare the current year future cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider
if the assumptions included in the cash flow

projects were reasonable.

RAEENARRR S REREFNRSRETRRET

HE - UZRBRSRERAMESNRIEEERE -

— Assess the sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions being used in the cash flow
projections (e.g. using a range of higher discount

rates and lower revenue growth rate).

AHEARIR SR E TR A BR KRR < BRE DT (1)

ERESERSNITRE RBENBAREER) -
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Key audit matter

et =Em

2)Impairment assessment of loan receivables

R Ay R o L £

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loan
receivables of approximately RMB176,460,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
is impairment loss recognised of loan receivables
RMB2,303,000.

RZZEZZF+ZRA=+—H " BE&EZEKRERD
BAR176,460,0007T - REBIE-T-_—F+=-A=
T—HIEFEA X ESEBRIACWEFREEBEAR
#2,308,0007T °

We had identified impairment assessment of loan
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverability of loan receivables
and recognition of loss allowance are inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgment, which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.

BN EEKRERN AT E T R EREERERS AR
THMN YHFETBEELEAHE - MG MR
BEERERLER - B ERE RO E T b
Al ABERREEIE -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOEMAEERR T ER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of loan receivables included the
following:
BMERERRERNRENENETREFBEUTE
15 :

— Understand the procedures performed by
management, including periodic review on
overdue receivables and the assessment of
expected credit losses allowance on the loan
receivables;

EMEREETNREY PREUSHEKFIENTE
HEM LT RN ERNTEREEEEEE

- Understand and evaluate the modelling
methodologies for expected credit losses
measurement, assessed the reasonableness
of the model selection and key measurement
parameters determination;
BRLTHEREEERAENERATE  FTHE
ARBRTEFEQHETNSEMN

- Understand the management’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk, defaults
and credit-impaired loans, corroborated
management’s explanation with supporting
evidence for the historical information;
MESLERME @ IRREIRERRNEERR KRS
m-BARGEREER  EEENRERERER
XFFEE

— Assess the reasonableness of economic indicator
selection, economic scenarios and weightings
application, assessed the reasonableness of the
estimation by comparing with industry data for
forward-looking measurement; and
MARMGERm S - BHAFESEREERENSE
M EEBAREEZMHER - BBRLBRITEERT
mEETHEEYE &

— Check major data inputs used in the expected
credit losses models on sample basis to the
Group’s record.

R ERECBHEREEHAEEEREXMA
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with
practising certificate number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon,

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Revenue
Cost of sales/service rendered

Gross profit

Other gains or loss, net
Impairment losses, net of reversal
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Income tax credit

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(EXPENSE)

ltem that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or l08s:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Owner of the Company
Non-controlling interest

WA
HE /RERBAA

EF

Hip s ke i858
BIEEE - HkRED
HERDHFAX
TR

LUp DR

BRBATER(BR)
P HiER

FERT (BR)

Eth2EBE (FX)

AR R KEN DB E R

FIEE

BEBINRBRELEN
X ER

FERMZEKE (FAX)

FEREKE (FX) B8

ATALEEFR
wA(ER)
ARBHEEA
Sy Fa

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2021

—E-—F

Note RMB’000
MiE ARBTF T

7 126,377
(101,061)

25,316
9 64,752

11 (28,125

12 (266,124)
13 10,265

(255,859)

(2,371)

(2,371)

(258,230)

(257,924)
2,065

(255,859)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHEMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HILtEE

Total comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year attributable to:
Owner of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Earning/(Loss) per share:
Basic (RMB cents per share)

Dilute (RMB cents per share)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

UFALEEFERE
Wi (BAST) 488
ARAHEEA
Sy £

sSREH BR:
EX (BRARED)

B8 (BRARES)

Note
ik

17

2022 2021
—E-_—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TR ARET T
13,287 (260,258)
174 2,028
13,461 (258,230)
0.26 (6.49)

0.25 (6.49)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

At 31 December 2022
RZEZZF+=-A=+—H

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Fif e AR®TR ARETIT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WX - BE R 18 8,197 9,319
Right-of-use assets ERELE 19 3,204 3,770
Goodwill [k 20 72,938 67,013
84,339 80,102
Current assets REBEE
Inventories (31 24 505 4,244
Trade receivables B2 EW0A 25 5,701 27,192
Loan receivables FERE 26 176,460 171,268
Other receivables, deposits and HinEKs0R - Ze R
B RIE
prepayment 27 24,742 22,279
Financial assets at fair value through Tﬁ@%fﬁ%ﬂ\ﬁﬁ?&(ﬁ_ﬁ@$
profit or loss (‘FVTPL?) Bt ARER]) ZEMEE o3 5,000 -
Bank balances and cash RITESHRRE 28 44,247 44,596
256,655 269,579
Current liabilities RERE
Trade and bills payables UL ARV RS 29 22,718 30,848
Other payables and accruals Hi TR RESRR 30 7,456 11,727
Lease liabilities HEGE 31 2,508 2,275
Tax liabilities REAR 6,920 7,388
39,602 52,238
Net current assets mEEERE 217,053 217,341
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At 31 December 2022
RZT==F+=A=+—H

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease Liabilities
Promissory notes

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

RERERTDRAR
FREBAR

AR RE

RERHE

BERGEE

L@
&

FFiREa

L §=1 0

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhu Min
DIRECTOR
Sk

BF

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

Notes RMB’000
P e ARETT

297,443

31 916
33 242,773

243,689

53,754

34 337,128
(280,721)

56,407
(2,653)

53,754

BAMBRRMEFER B4
S+—BHEREMTIE  WhNTHRE
LR

Lu Yongchao

DIRECTOR
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EF



At 1 January 2021

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Proft for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Laspe of share option

Issue of convertible:
preference share

At 31 December 2022

WZE--£-A-A
FRER

EREMZE (FX)/ K

FREEARER

WZBZ-£+ZA=1-A
R=2-2%-R-H

£

FREWR2A (FR)/

BB

HTARERR

S Sk gl o |

Attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

FOFHA AR
Convertible
Capital Share preference
Share Share  redemption  Statutory options  Exchange share  Accumulated
capital premium Reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal
% Tk
k% RiER ROER  iERR BREGE  ERGE  BEREE RHER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARBTR ARETn  ARBTR ARMTT  ARBTR  ARETR
Note (@) Note (b) Note (c) Note (d) Note ()~ Note (36)
Hit (a) W) W) M) M) ()
337,128 587,684 17,918 48818 6,040 6,792 - (687,715) 316,665
- - - - - - (257924)  (257,924)
- - - - - 2,334) - - 2,334)
- - - - - 2,334) - (257924)  (260,258)
337,128 587,684 17,918 48818 6,040 4,458 - 945,639) 56,407
— — — — N —

Non-
controlling
interests

FARNES

RMB'000
ARBTR

(4,681)

2,085

2,028

2659)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE

T —F+-_A=+—B8LtFE

Notes:

(@)

Share premium represents the difference between the par value
of the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company which is governed by the
Cayman Companies Law.

Balance represented an amount equivalent to the par value of
the shares repurchased and cancelled of HK$57,339,000 which
was transferred from the Accumulated losses to the capital
redemption reserve during the years ended 31 December 2018.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries
are required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, including
enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, by way of
appropriations from its statutory net profit (based on the PRC
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries) but before
dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
board of directors of PRC subsidiaries. The board of directors
of the PRC subsidiaries shall decide on the amounts to be
appropriated based on its profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The
general reserves fund may be used to offset accumulated losses
or increase the registered capital subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities.

Share options reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be
transferred to accumulated losses when the related options are
exercised, expired or forfeited.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries whose functional currencies are currency other than
RMB.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation from:
Continuing operations
Adjustments for:
Interest income on bank deposits
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Dividend income from financial assets through profit and loss
Loss on disposal of financial assets through profit and loss
Loss on early redemption of promissory notes
Gain on extinguishment on promissory notes
Gain on early redemption of promissory notes
Interest expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and loan receivables, net of reversal
Impairment loss recognised in respect of intangible assets
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised in respect of other receivables
Amortisation of intangible assets
Share based payment expense

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables,

deposits and prepayment
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills payables

Decrease in other payables and accruals

Net cash generated from operations
Income tax refund/(paid)

Net cash generated from operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEEE
REATEE ZBHAES :
FELEER
BATSEELAE
RITERZ RIS MA
BATEG AN ER 2BEE
AN E)
SIABRZEBEEZREKRA
HEMABRZ EREEZFR
REEDARZEZER
MERRER K
REBEOAKEE 2 Wi
FBREY
nE - BELRSENE
FREEENE
SE B EUERERER
REOFESE - NRER
REVEERINRESE
REEEANRESR
REMERFBREZNRESE
BREERY
R BEBNATHEY

BELAEDRI KL RETE
FERD

BRMEERD /(%)
EWEZR D /(Em)
HiEREE e RBATE

(1) m
BIRMNTERENRE
B/ (Em)

EA R FOARER BRED

REmRAKSHE
RE /(B s

EEZDRARALPH

HE_FT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

2021
—E-—&

RMB'000
N A

(266,124)
(44)

561
(513)
484
2,045
(66,973)

28,125
2,132
3,745

(4,437)
52,790
212,375
12,806
14,527

(8,501)
8,159
(505)
(15,817)

51,627

1,588
(25,204)

11,347
1,950

13,297
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Investing activities

Interest received

Dividend received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Cash outflow for financial assets at FVTPL

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest paid

Repayment of promissory notes
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceed from bank borrowings

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

representing bank balances and cash
as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

BRED

EHFE

EWEE

BENE BERRE
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BRATEH ARG EREEN
Rend

REBCHERRITER

RREDMA/(FR) REBE

MRED
ENEEREMERED
ENFE

EEAIRE
EERTEER
RITEEMGE

MREDFRAREPH

ReRASEENEDPH

FORSRALFEN
EXRDNTY

FREGRALEEN

iz R EIR R
IERTEBRRIR ST

RMB'000
N A

44
513
(234)
(8,534)

8,754

543

(51,498)

(37,658)

87,175
(4,921)

44,596

44,596




Cybernaut International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are investment holding, eCommerce,
provision of internet education services and money
lending.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

BREBRZERAERAA (AR
A ERSESEMRIAERR
BRAR - ERMDEBIMA LT -
ARRARHEMMER R T2 E XN
BN AN E AT E R — 8 AR

3= o

ARRNMEMBAR (TAEE]) 2
TEXBRREER  EFEK
REEBEHE RISARRE

BAMBHREAARE [ARE])
25 MAREFAKRATZ 4
G -

Annual Report 2022
SECoCFFR

173



174

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and

Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts —

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of amendment to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts’
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)"
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates'
HKAS 8

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained on the accounting
policy set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represents the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

EESENB2ReELEBENESF
NEEMRBREMNAIAELRFE
REHAEBGRE NREELS
Al &I REREME - &
BEEEELS @El«x})ﬁk/ﬁxihﬂén
Bl EmmBZREE  HENE
NEEEZERABAEERLA D
IEEZEMcHMWEE - B 2F
ABEBEEZERBZETHER - 5t
AERRAZBEBEERNEERMET
F O o

REEFHARTELAENUR  BE
ZEEEBRNAABEHERGS
BA o

WA R

AEEE (HRN) ERBEAOE THRHE
RUWA - NEFERNEEHEBD
Em kB EHEI B TER
i

o

T

BHEERKR-—BARERINE
an 2 AR 7% 3k — R I K B4 [ B R] B3
BEONE IR o



Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is as follows:

eCommerce

internet eduction services

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

ii the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

ii. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time at which
the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

Service income from internet education services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
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Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to change in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other gain or
loss, net”.

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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Government grants (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Retirement benefits costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed in the
MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Retirement benefits costs (continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s republic of China (“PRC”) are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions). As at 31 December 2022, no forfeited
contribution under the pension scheme of the Group is
available for deduction of contribution payable in coming
years.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share option granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited or
cancelled after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Taxation (continued)

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted-average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the
sale.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presents as revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

TMITAR

EEEERAATASNKIN—
ZRINTK  ARREEAEZHE
ERTRAE - FARERTARE
BEXHEZEREENRRIHAE
BEETHANKILER - AERS
ABERLEEEBEERHERK
HERBEMET 2 RANEHREZ
HRARNEEZEREE °

cTREERSRBEVIERATE
e MEPAENAFEEANE ZIE
WRRIERR SN - AR IRBE B
MEERE15RFT=E o WIS ETT
cHEEREMBE(RATFETA
Bx ([ZATFEFABERE]D 226
BEXERBERIN BEEEEZR
5B Th A 9] 25 W SRR A0 A s F1BR
PREEIEBRABENATE(RT
A?:'Ffﬁﬁﬁi) c B EBRIER
ANFEFAEREREES SR A
BRR BRI B ER o

LR EERHE—RAEMEENR
CRABZHEERARRERBE
DEMNBWARMEBRZHIE °
ERNEZAREREEXRTRAR
ZEEIFE R (WER) 8RS
RS ARAEZRARMSK (BHEE
SRR Z BRERF X 2 — 8
DZFBEBEFEA  XRHRAR
Hfth)i B kiR ) BRERIRERNA] T
MR 2 BRI FE L

} D K ‘Hﬂ$}

REAEEREXREEENNE S
EIRBA -

Annual Report 2022
SECoCFFR

201



202

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Financial assets

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
theme (“FVTOCI”) as measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”) if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains or loss”, net line item.

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, loan receivables, other
receivables, deposits, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information such
as forward looking macroeconomic information, except
for certain trade receivable with significant balance and
credit-impaired which are assessed individually.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognized through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows
of the original financial asset, after reducing gross carrying
amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.
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Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable, other
payables and accruals, other borrowings and promissory
note are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (i) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, such as contingent consideration, the changes
in fair value of the embedded derivatives are excluded
in determining the amount to be presented in other
comprehensive income. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred
to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the financial
liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, other borrowings and promissory
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presents as revenue.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation, When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognized because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognized in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loan
receivables

Trade receivables and loan receivables with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, for trade receivables and loan receivables
which are individually insignificant or when the Group does
not have reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on
individual basis, collective assessment is performed by
grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in note 25
and note 26.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses each cash-generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment exists.
When an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered
to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. The carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable
in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed
in the relevant part of this section. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to estimate future cash flows
from the cash generating units and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB72,938,000 (2021: RMB67,013,000) (net of
impairment loss of RMB nil (2021: RMB212,375,000)).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buybacks as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(@)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial Assets SMEE

Amortised cost B SH A AR

Financial assets at fair BAFER ABE
value through profit or loss L EREE

Financial Liabilities SRR

At amortised cost R SR AR

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables,
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and bills
payables, other payables and promissory notes.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (price risk,
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in
market interest rates related primarily to the Group’s
loan receivables with floating interest rates.

The table set out below demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates in
the current year, with all other variable held constant,
of the Group’s loss before taxation (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

2022 —Ee-C
RMB AR
RMB AR
2021 —E-—5
RMB AR
RMB AR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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RMB’000

ARETT

50 33
(50) (33)




(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities
of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles.

For sensitivity analysis, if equity prices had been
10% higher/lower, profit before tax and total
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2022 would decrease/increase by
RMB500,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, other receivables, loan receivables
and bank balances. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
arising from the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group deposited bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to pledged bank deposits and bank balances held
to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were minimal.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For other receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors
believe that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables since initial recognition and the Group
provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on
the assessment, impairment of other receivables with
the amounts of approximately RMB2,328,000 (2021:
RMB12,806,000) was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For loan receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of loan
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.

The Group considers loan receivables as doubtful if
the repayment of principal and/or interest has been
overdue for more than 3 months and principal. The
Group considers the loan receivables as loss if the
repayments of principal and/or interest have been
overdue for more than 6 months for loan and loan
interest receivables; and in cases the collection of
principal and/or interest in full is improbable.

Based on the above assessment, impairment on
loan receivables with the amount of approximately
RMB2,303,000 (2021: reversal of impairment of
approximately RMB7,447,000) was recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
30% (2021: 17%) and 68% (2021: 22%) of the
loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers respectively.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s policy to manage credit risk is to deal
only with credit worthy counterparties. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has formulated a credit policy and, delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is take.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision
matrix, except for trade receivables with gross
carrying amounts of approximately RMB7,533,000
(2021: RMB7,146,000), which are credit-impaired,
that are assessed individually. The Group performed
impairment assessment for the trade receivables
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Internal
credit rating

MER{E R IF R

Low risk

KRB

Watch list

BERAE

Doubtful

B

Write-off

6]

Description

ik

The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any
past-due amounts

RHFEHRRE R BEMA
BEEHR

Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle in full

BHALERIH B RER
BRATE2HEE

There have been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information development
internally or external resources

BRADIRERGLOER - 58
[ B 1) %A HE SR LA SR EE 2 42 A

There is evidence indicating
that the asset is credit-impaired

AREBRTEELREERE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery,
asset is credit impaired

ARBERNEBARARENBRE
BARSEN G ERIBHRE
AR RELREERE
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FHREEEER
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FHEHREEEE
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Amount is
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SR MIA

Other financial
assets
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. &@MIA (&)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s loan receivables which are subject to

ECL assessment:

Loan receivables
e BT

Bank balances

BITER

Other receivables
HfofelizoE

Trade receivables

HEHRUFA

Note

Wit

26
26

28
28

27
27

25

25

External
credit rating
B
fREFR

N/A
TER

AAY
AA+

N/A
TER

N/A

TER

Internal
credit rating
of:
fREFR

Low risk
ERR
Watch list
BRiE
Doubtful

it

Loss

B

N/A
TER

N/A
MER

Low risk

TR

Loss

BR

EREREE B HREE
(&)

1= RE R R B EE G (&)
TRFFIA & B e U S SR B

MmiEERR - ZFRWERT
ETEBEE BRI

2021
—EC--&

12m or Gross Gross

lifetime ECL carrying amount carrying amount

12[8R %

NGRS RE&E REAME
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBFRT ARBTT ARNTR AR%TR

12m ECL 70,633
12ERBHEEER
12m ECL 130,538
12EHREREEER
Lifetime ECL -
(not credit-impaired)
PHEREERE
(GEEEHE)
Credit-impaired 60,745
EEHE

12m ECL 44,247
12HARHEEESR

12m ECL 41,269
12EARBEEER

Lifetime ECL 8,815
(individual assessment)
SHEREESE
(fERIGY(E)
Credit-impaired 5,624
BERE

109,824

82,020

261,916 55,947 247,791

44,247 44,596 44,596

41,269 35,293 35,293

15,208

14,439 19,457 34,660
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. &MIA ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) 2rREAREEZBNRBEE

policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EER R FEE (&)
The following table provides information about the TRIBEE RS E R
Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables K 2 E S EWFRIE
which are assessed collectively based on provisional EERRBHER - BEETMH
matrix except for those who are assessed individually EEREER

or credit-impaired:

Gross
Expected carrying Loss

loss amounts allowance
RGN IRE#H iR
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#®TRE AR®TTET

As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—-#+-"H=+—H

Current (Not past due) BIHA (R HEH)
1 to 30 days 12 30H 1.46% 3,481 735
31 to 60 days 31£60H 1.59% 635 134
61 to 90 days 61290H 1.76% 1,585 336
5,701 1,205

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZEZ-_—%+"HA=+—H

Current (Not past due) BIER (R ER)
1 to 30 days 1£E30H 1.41% 6,890 64
31 to 60 days 31£60H 1.55% 5,330 55
61 to 90 days 61%90H 1.72% 4,820 58
91 to 180 days 91£180H 2.35% 9,711 134
Over 180 days 180B A £ 4.68% 441 14
27,192 322
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group recognised provision/
(reversal) of impairment amounts of approximately
RMB1,034,000, RMB2,328,000 and RMB2,303,000
(2021: RMB3,510,000, RMB12,806,000 and
RMB7,947,000) for trade receivables, other
receivables and loan receivables (net of reversal)
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

(b)

CREARERE B HREE
(/)

1FEmE R ER G ()

HETBEEDERERARTE
HEHNBTERAMSMELD
EhED - WHBANHEER
%7 T ]S HIRTRE &
HAZ EEETHRTZE
S48 - ATEIREFEEE AR
BREEEH MNEEZZTZ
—F+-_A=+—HILFE -
REBEDRRE S ERK
B HiERRERERE
(IR EEE) R EEE
/ (B&E) 9 AK%1,034,000
T~ ARE2 328 0007 kA
R#¥2,303,000c (=& =—
F: AR¥3,510,0007T * A
R#¥12,806,0007T & A R#
7,947,0007T) °

Annual Report 2022
SECoCFFR

233



For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cREAKREEZEHREE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1EE R RdE S (&)
The following table shows the loss allowance of trade TREREBOEEREZHE
receivables movement in lifetime ECL that has been HEEEBENE 5 ERIEE
recognised under the simplified approach: B
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HRM 2R

ERER ERER
(FEREE) (RRREE) it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTR  ARETRL

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—%—A—H 410 3,035 3,445
Impairment loss recognised ERRAESSE (227) 3,737 3,510
Exchange realignment B 5 A% 139 374 513
As at 31 December 2021 A8 —-%#+-A=t+-H

and 1 January 2022 R=2_"%-A-H
Impairment loss recognised ER2HESGR
Exchange realignment ESRE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B__%+-H=1+-H
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table show reconciliation of loss

allowance of loan receivables under general

approach is as follow:

At 1 January 2020

As at 1 January 2021
Reversal of impairment loss
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021 and
as at 1 January 2022

Impairment loss

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

R-_TE_—%¥—H—H
BERERE
B SR

R-B-_—F+-A=1—H

ER-_F-_—F—A—H
RIEEE
0 5

RZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

(b) SREAREEZEHREE
(%)

1FEmE R ER G ()

TRERE - ROAER R B

ERNEEREENR

Lifetime

ECL

(credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total

2HHAH

128 A R EREBR
BEHEBR (EXEE) #it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETE
11,977 60,519 72,496

Annual Report 2022
SECoCFFR

235



236

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREAREEZEHREE
policies (continued) (%&)
Liquidity risk (continued) THEE 2R (E)
More than
Weighted two years
average  On demand but not Total
effective  or less than Within more than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year fiveyears  cash flows amount
miEFEY HEXY Fibepe A
ERfI% YR3MER 1%h BYR5E  REREER IEEE

%  RWBOOO  RMBOOO  RWB0O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O0O
% ARBTR  ARMTRT  ARBTn  ARMTR  ARETR

At 31 December 2022 R-B-ZE
+ZB=+-H

Trade and bill payables BARITERENEE

Other payables and accruals  EfENFAREHER

Lease liabilies HEaR

Promissory notes BARE

At 31 December 2021 R-BZ-%

+ZB=+-H
Trade and bill payables BHENFERENEE = 30,848 - - 30,848 30,848
Other payables and accruals  EfENFBRENER = 11,727 - - 11,727 1727
Lease liabifies HERE 36 - 2,33 931 3,265 3,11
Promissory notes S 15.68 - - 319,016 319,016 242,773

42,575 2,334 319,947 364,856 268,539
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments

The following table presents financial liabilities
measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The level in fair value hierarchy within which the
financial liability is categorised in its entirety is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.
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()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E-_—F+-A=+—8ItFE

()

SRMITAEZAFEE (&)
RZBEZZFRZT=—FF
“A=1+—8  REEUBIK
REARAFEFEZEHME
ERAERAFEERZHHE
N
Level 2 Level 3 Total
it E=8 #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TT ARETT

Level 1
E—ik
RMB’000
AREFT
Financial assets at R-EZ"%+4+ZR
31 December 2022 =t+—RzemEE
Financial asset at fair value XA FEFFAEBRZ
through profit or loss EREE
Financial assets at R-E-—%+ZA
31 December 2021 =t—HZ&MEE
Financial asset at fair value N FE W E
through profit or loss JEREE -
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. &I A ()

(c) Fair values measurements of financial (c) S&BMIAEZAFEE (H&)
instruments (continued)

Financial Fair value  Valuation techniques
assets/liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  and key inputs
eMEE /AR RUTEECLTE ATERS REFERIZEANE
2022 2021
8- —E--F
Treasury product at FVTPL ~ RMB5,000,000 - Level 1 Quioted bid prices in an
active market
BATESABR ERER  ARKS0000007 - £ EEMBAECENE
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 RERN - F—REZ_H2HE
during the year (2021: Nil). WEEEER (ZSZ—F -
/).
7. REVENUE 7. KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAR DT -

2022
k-~ e - 3

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETIT

Revenue from contract with customer — 25 & 4T A

Revenue from eCommerce — KEBFEBEZBA

at a point of time — R —RE 37,787 102,761
Revenue from internet education B BB A A RS

services — over time Z WA —BERS % - 6,095
Revenue from other sources 2 B Rl KR Z WA
Revenue from money lending business K B & 2 WA 19,153 17,521

56,940 126,377

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the
executive directors) (“CODM”) in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to three
operating segments focusing on: i) money lending; ii)
eCommerce; and iii) internet education services. These
operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRSs, that are
regularly reviewed by the CODM.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

EEMBHREERESHR LD
BB B BRI E D REL AU
SEERNER AL RS BIES
HE  ZFEAR2HmO BT EH A
ITELERRE (WTER)([XE
LERRE]ER  NEZHEHE
TERD BN KRBEFE -

AEBEEEFHBEN=RLEE S
BooBER )VHE NETES
K BEBEHRERS - 2EKED
HOERNFERAVBERELE 2
BRREMER A ERREM
HBR THEEBELEARETHR
Ff e

RA 2| REEDBE D AEE
WA REESTWOT ¢
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. WESEB(HE)
Segment revenue and results DEBUA R £ &
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_ZTZ__+_-_A=+—HL
FE

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet

Money education
lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
B
i {1 BTES HERS R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Revenue WA 193,153 317,787 - 230,940
Gross profit E7 17,226 7,659 - 24,885
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF /(B8 2,040 (6,208) (1,233) (5,401)
Unallocated corporate income N WNGILI N 86,463
Unallocated corporate expenses FAMAARZ (70,210)
Loss before taxation BRRAIEE 10,852

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_FT-_—_F+=-A=

DEBAR K& (&)

FE

Continuing operations

T—RLEE

B#FE__—-%+"A=+—HL

SRR

Internet

Money education
lending eCommerce services  Consolidated

s
HiE BTER HERH e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTTT
Revenue KA 17,521 102,761 6,095 126,377
Gross profit e 15,615 9,313 388 25,316
Segment profit/(loss) PEEF /(B8 13,583 (110,481) (199,780) (296,678)
Unallocated corporate income VL TWNGIT N 64,534
Unallocated corporate expenses FOBARRR (33,980)
Loss before taxation BRHiAEE (266,124)

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) incurred
by each segment include depreciation, amortisation
and impairment losses, but without allocation of certain
administration costs and other gain or loss, net. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

AEER S (BE) BE D BELEN
wA(B1R) (BIEFE - B R
BER)  BXESEE TITERAA
REMKSHERFRE - LI E
RO B MR EEEER

REREWTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. WESEB(HE)
Segment assets and liabilities PMEERAE
All assets are allocated to reportable segments, other than BRAURBENRAEEFIN FTE
the office building located in Hong Kong. BEHDREAREDEL
All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments, other BRERREER - BoHMENRER
than promissory note, partial other payables and accruals, EETER  HEaE - HEAEU
lease liabilities, tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. MELEHIBEAGI  FIEEBEHS

FRErREDE -

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_SE_"_F+-HA=+—HL
£E

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet
Money education

lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
ERA
i (] Led L] BERH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFT AERTR AERTR AERTT

ASSETS BE

Segment assets NiEE 196,780 29,139 22,450 248,369
Unallocated corporate assets AORAREE 92,625
Consolidated total assets GEEELAE 340,994
LIABILITIES ffR

Segment liabilities NHEaE 2,285 23,516 7,878 33,679
Unallocated corporate liabilities AREARAE 165,474
Loss before taxation BREATER 199,153

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PTHEEREE (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 gF__—fF+_-_A=+—AHL
5E

Continuing operations

FRCEER
Internet
Money education
lending eCommerce services  Consolidated
BH
W& ETHEL YERS B
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DREE 182,600 43,253 36,871 262,724
Unallocated corporate assets FOBAREE 86,957
Consolidated total assets HREERE 349,681
LIABILITIES fifi
Segment liabilities NHEE 3,443 36,172 8,122 47,737
Unallocated corporate liabilities AAEARAE 248,190
Loss before taxation BRHAESE 295,027
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. HEESE (M)
Other segment information Hihn HE R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E__S+°-"A=1+—HL
FE

Internet
Money education

lending  eCommerce services  Unallocated  Consolidated
kA
B L | BERH AR

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AERTR IN:L B AE®TR AE®TR AE®TR

Other segment information EtiABEs
Amounts included in the measure SEAPENRER

of segment profit or loss or AR BEERAL

segment assets: ik
Addition to property, plant and REME BRER

equipment B4 25 6 - 7 38
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFRELE - - 8 2,929 2,929
Depreciation of property, plant ERE T E

and equipment e 72 1,251 8 575 1,906
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 1,521 412 257 1,518 3,708
Interest income AEMA ) (1) (79) = (82)
Interest expense MERT 27 5 = 54,087 54,119
Income tax expense/(credit) FikAx /(Ee) - - 1,048 - 1,048
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed)  tE HEMFER

in respect of trade and EWEF R

loan receivables (BE) o EER 2,303 185 850 - 3,337
Impairment loss recognised SEMERERER

in respect of other receivables HRESE 5 2,328 5 - 2,328

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:

Addition to property, plant and
equipment
Addition to right-of-use assets
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense/(credit)
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed)
in respect of trade and
loan receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of other receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised in
respect of intangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Rt ABRE
HEREDI P

A7 HAERT AN

ket

>
i

RENF - HER
R
PERREAE
nE - BERRE
i
EREAENE
MEMA
MERX
HEHRx/ (E%)
REAEUTER
EUEHER / (BR)
Gghei g
REMENTARD
KRB
ETRINAEER

NEVAERDN
HERR
B RESH

Money
lending

e

RMB'000
ARETT

189
2,936

(14,338)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Hths 8B (&)

BE"_2_—-f+-"A=+—HL

F£E
Internet
education
eCommerce services Unallocated ~ Consolidated
R
ERl HER% ARE A

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTRT  ARBTR  ARETR

39 = 6 234
416 741 = 4,098
1,324 22 765 2,132
406 206 1,720 3,745

= (13) (30) (44)

44 33 28,022 28,125

- (12,473) = (10,265)
2,572 7,329 = (4,437)
12,606 200 = 12,806
88,803 123,572 = 212,375
= 52,790 = 52,790

- 14,527 = 14,527
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8.

Information about geographical areas

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

EESW ()

TREHAEE RN RTIHE D8

revenue from continuing operations by geographical FECEEEHRA DT -
market:
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2022 2021
= T %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
The People’s Republic of China FEARKEME (TREEH)

exclude Hong Kong (the “PRC”) ([#E]) (REEBZR)

(country of domicile) 433 8,064
Europe &M 11,182 59,273
Asia (other than the PRC and M (T EEFREEES)

Hong Kong) - 9
North America b EM 131 531
Hong Kong BE 45,194 58,500

56,940 126,377

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. WESE(H)

Non-current assets ERBEE

As at 31 December

»+=-A=+—H
2022 2021
—E_—F T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR¥ETT

Hong Kong BE 84,051 79,550

PRC H 288 552
84,339 80,102

The non-current asset information above is based on the A EFERBEEEMDIIRBEE (CF

location of assets excluding the financial assets at fair BIERATFEFABRZNSMEE)

value through profit or loss. M EME °

Information about major customers FEEFER

No individual customer contributed more than 10% of the HE-_ZT-_—_FRk_FT=-_—F+=

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 A=+—RIFE  #EANEF

and 2021. REAEEEREBER10% .2 WA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSS, NET

Interest income on bank deposit

Dividend income from financial assets

through profit or loss

Loss on disposal of financial assets

through profit and loss
Rental income
Government grant (Note)
Sundry income

Fair value gain/(losses) on financial

assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loss on early redemption of
promissory notes

Gain on early redemption of
promissory notes

Gain on extinguishment on
promissory notes

Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government i)

9. HURBEIRFHE

2022 2021
k- B

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARET T

RITF R FEHA 82 44
FFABEEEREER
g S A - 513
HEFFABRZEREERN
E518 - (484)
s N 41 40
B E) (FFE) 312 154
HIFA 935 118
BRATEFABR SR
BEZANFERE (E8)
430 (561)
REERENZE 2B
- (2,045)
1R HE B IR 2 W
35,197 =
BB RN EiR 2 e
51,699 66,973
88,696 64,752

m

grants of RMB312,000 (2021: RMB154,000) in respect of

Covid-19-related subsidies.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS, NET OF REVERSAL

11.

Impairment losses
recognised/reversal of, net

Intangible assets

Trade and loan receivables

Other receivables

Goodwill

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on promissory notes
Interest on bank borrowings

W BEEESR - PHE

B EE

B 5 UG M B E R

H 4 R RROR
B

HEAFEMNHE
AR EBRNFE

=]

RITEESNF

(i

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

10. BEGR - MEREEO

2022 2021
k- B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRX ARBEFIT
- 52,790

3,337 (4,437)
2,329 12,806

- 212,375

5,666 273,534

. MBEE

2022 2021
—E__—F —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TXT ARET T
170 132
53,793 27,779
156 214
54,119 28,125
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

12. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation has been arrived
at after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration
Amortisation of intangible assets
Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Short-term lease payment
Net exchange loss/(gain)
Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits
— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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12. BRBAAT (BR)

2022 2021
k- B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTT AR¥EFTT
BRESATES AR (T A)
THIIE B 1B EEL
ZERN & 730 739
A E - 14,527
ERARIT ZFERAR
30,128 93,448
M - BERRETE
1,738 2,132
EREEENE 3,708 3,745
RHAERR - -
bE K B8 (e ) JF58 1,425 314
BINK (BRIEESHE)
— Hre AR 10,619 13,579
— RINEFGT SR
842 247
11,461 13,826




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Current tax: BUEEFIR -
Hong Kong B
PRC Enterprise Income Tax P EMSH
Deferred tax: BIERIA -
— Current year (note 34) —ARFE (MI7E34)

Hong Kong Profits tax has not been provided for the
current year and prior year as the Group did not derive
any assessable profits in Hong Kong.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made
based on the estimated taxable profits calculated in
accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations applicable to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries.

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

13. iR (BR) BAX

2022 2021
k- B —%F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRX ARBEFIT
- 2,208

1,048 41
1,048 2,249

- (12,514)

1,048 (10,265)

HRAEEY BEEFRETENE
RPEN - MY EAARFE R E—
FERETEMNEM -

BEMEHFNESHEHE 558
HBEBER 2H2,000,000%8 T
M 128.25% < B &= BFL - iR iR
2,000,000 7T 2 % F ll3%16.5% 2
TREEB - A MARHIF B E
FIEER 2 EEERE 2R H#EE
1216.5% 2 Bl — T REH -

B RS MR E T RB G E
RPN (RERR AR B BB
RAZBBRBIARERAE) 1F
l—lu:ll o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 13.

(CONTINUED)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,

the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Continuing operations

Loss before taxation

Notional tax at the applicable tax rate
to losses in the tax jurisdictions
concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses
not recognised

Income tax credit for the year

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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BREERE

B 5 Al &5 18

RAERAT R A
BERIZE R R
HEBIA

RRIBFAS 2
LT

BERBIRAZ
2

AERBRBEBRZ
M8

FAMBHRER

FRisiR (BR) FAX (&)

RE(HFBEEEMRSBE) ([LRE
FTEBUA]) REEMERAERGK
Bl - REME AR ER25% °

FARBAX HEES

BEkEME

ER s TR 2 BRI B RS AR T ¢

2022 2021
k- B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETFTT
11,852 (266,124)
1,851 (44,851)
10,935 59,577
(15,884) (13,402)
4,146 925

- (12,514)

1,048 (10,265)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZE-——F+-_A=t+—RHIL&EE

14. DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERFETRARBZEHE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors ENNENTEESREETHA
and the Chief Executive, were as follows: BEZMem T :

Salaries and
allowances

FaRARM

RMB'000 RMB’000
AE®TR  ARBTR

Retirement
benefit
scheme
contributions
byt
=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERTRE AERTT

For the year ended BE-S_"%4+ZR
31 December 2022 =t+-HIEEFE
Executive director: WTES
Zhu Min A& 310 - - 310
Chen Huabei Bt 155 - - 155
Lu Yongchao =k 258 - - 258
Yip Sum Yu EiH 402 - - 402
Chief Executive: FETHAE
Wang Matthew Yang 5 - - - -
Independent non-executive director; BV JFHITES
Li Yik Sang 3t 103 - - 103
Tong Yiu On ERZ 103 - - 103
Cao Ke En 103 - - 103
1,434 - - 1,434
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

14. DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended
31 December 2021
Executive director:
Zhu Min
Chen Huabei
Lu Yongchao
Yip Sum Yu

Chief Executive:
Wang Matthew Yang

Independent non-executive director:
Li Yik Sang
Tong Yiu On
Cao Ke

BE-S_-%1+-A
=t+-ALFE
BITES:
A8
Ricdk
Bk
Eom

IETHAR:
Ik

BUNFRITES -
FRA
BIR%
En

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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14. EERERITHRARZHS

(#)

Retirement

benefit

Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total

RIMEFFE
e HFeRozhh 3% @t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTL AREFL AREFL ARETT
299 - - 299
149 - - 149
324 - - 324
703 - - 703
100 - - 100
100 - - 100
100 - - 100
1,775 - - 1,775




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EEREFETHRABZHE
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (#)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were X RATESHMS I AHIE
for their services in connection with the management of MESEARANARAEERREH
the affairs of the Company and the Group. B ARTS ©
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments X RBYIEAITEENNE T
shown above were for their services as directors of the BEETAQTEEHHE -
Company.
None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any RZMEEE > EEENENR
emoluments for both years. EREREEANE -
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e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2021: one) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note
14 above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2021:
four) employees were as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MR
Retirement benefit scheme RIRFEFFT 2R
contributions

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E
1,500,000/ 7T

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

15. AEEEHMER

EAEBREEaHEEEY  —
BZ(ZEBEZ—F: —R)REARAZ
EE HWSER EXMF149 K
BoBTHER(ZE=Z—F : 1A)

BEZMESWT :

2022 2021
ot Jofed —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
2,561 3,459
29 43
2,590 3,502

BEZMENFATEHEZA
2022 2021
e F —E-—4F
No. of No. of
employee employee
ERAR EE AR
3 2
1 2




There was no compensation paid during the financial
year or receivable by directors or any employees for
loss of office as a director of any member of the Group.
No payment was made by the Group or receivable
by directors or any employees for both years as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which
a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

RAFBRFEARES X BEE
EREMRERREAREERK
B R A A E = B M 8 U Y (E f] 4
& -REMEFE AREREX
B EE E R ERESEYIME
RABHMBRRRENES -

RERLFATMEFRARB KA
REEMMEARMEFERAS
BEBEENEARS  THEE
B MEFEEXEERNETHESR
BEARE ©

AARWERMNSEZRTEHES
T FRZE—F+ZA=F
—BUEFEZRE  BEREHK
INERZR MRS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

17. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Profit/(Loss) figures are calculated as follows:

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to  BLKBHER L EE 2

the owners of the Company BREANREEEE
for the purpose of basic and [P VNGIE 2= PN
diluted loss per share from EIEFERT(EE)

continuing operations

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

17. BEER (K\)

KA TG A FREE LR
BRI T RBE -

B (BR) BF 25 ENT

2022

— T ——

RMB’000
AER®TT

10,751

2021

RMB’000
ARETT

(257,924)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

17. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 17. BBREH (HR) (18)

Number of Number of
shares shares
;2178 4| k4=
2022 2021
e —E-—4F
’000 ‘000
T Fix
Number of shares K& A
Weighted average number of ordinary SR E AR K58
shares for the purpose of basic and EiEmE 2 Lmk
diluted loss per share N F9 8 3,975,448 3,975,448
Effect of exercise of convertible IR RRELER 2 B
preference shares 209,680 -
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FLEREARE 1T RET
shares for the purpose of basic issued XA &8 &7/ (&E)
and fully paid number of shares i & < SRt
earning/(loss) per share: T 4,185,128 3,975,448
Effect of exercise of share options TEEREsZTE 37,479 =
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ & E#SEZRF]/ (E18)
shares for the purpose of diluted & 2 &Rt
earning/(loss) per share 8 4,222,607 3,975,448
The calculation of diluted earning/(loss) per share for HEHEE_E-_—EF+_-_A=+—
each of the two years ended 31 December 2021 had not BHIFMEFESF 2 BRESZR
taken into consideration the assumed exercised of the O (E18) LB ARBITEERR
Company’s outstanding share options as it would reduce AlEMAITEZERE RESEI
the loss per share. BREBERD -

Annual Report 2022
—zo—xgg |24



262

Cost

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Additions

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022

Additions

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated
depreciation
and impairment
At 1 January 2021
Provided for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022

Provided for the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

B

RZEZZF+-A=1+-A
k=F=-5-R-H

NE

EHRE

RZB-“%+-R=t+-H

REFERFAE

RZZ=—%5—-F—H
FREE
fE X A%

RZB--#+-A=+-RER
“8_"%-R-H

ERiE

3T ES

RZB--%+-R=1+-H

REE
RZB--%+-R=t+-H

RZE--F+-A=+—H

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

Furniture,
fixtures
and office Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
=18~
KER
BF MOE®RME RE #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTRT ARETT AREBTT
37,014 7,508 560 45,082
- 234 - 234
(815) (255) (18) (588)
29,308 3,848 376 38,532
390 1,702 40 2,132
(76) (166) (13) (255)
7,077 2,103 139 9,319




The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.5%-18%
Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment 18%
Motor vehicles 18%

The buildings are situated in Hong Kong held under long
term leases.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the
properties, plant and equipments based on higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The
carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed
the recoverable amount based on value in use and no
impairment has been recognised.

No impairment loss has been recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has pledged
buildings with carrying values of approximately
RMB7,268,000 to secure the promissory notes of the
Group (Note 33).

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

taimx - BMEERREBEBEAE
BOEREE BEME RISREER A
T F R ERE G A A FH
ZHE -

BT 4.5%-18%
RE - -HER

N 18%
B 18%

BFURNEEARBERPBEORE -

REBRE A FER G EKRALE
REEZERSEGAME  BER
REzABEEE - REEHE
B HEAEENKREETBBAIK
Bl &% - AW EHERRE °

REBEE_E-_—_FR-_FT-—F+
“A=+—BIEE  BEEIR
EEE -

RZEZ_F+=ZHA=+—8"
AEEBCREREEHENARE
7,268,000 TLMEFIERARNEEFE K
S8R (FE33) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE

Leasehold
buildings
HRETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TX AR®TT
Carrying amounts: REE :
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+=-—_A=+—H 3,204 3,204
At 31 December 2021 RZBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H 3,770 3,770

nEzEz—_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H
IEFE HEFRAEEERARKE
2,929,000 (ZE=Z—F : AR¥
4,093,0007T) + HEFFIHE HZ
BTHEACAERMNFIERE -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions
to right-of-use assets were RMB2,929,000 (2021:
RMB4,093,000), which related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

RIBAR A2 FE Y EFERNE
MRS HERANMT -

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income is as follows:

2022 2021
ot Jod —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ZREEERAEI DK
assets by class of underlying asset: FRAEEENEERR -
Leasehold buildings HEEZEF (3,708) (3,745)
(3,708) (3,745)
Exchange realignment of right-of-use  1Z4ARE & E B2 5 &{F 4
assets by class of underlying asset: BEEE N A
Leasehold buildings HEEF (212) (86)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT




Prepaid Lease Payment

The Group leases various leased buildings for its
operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 to 2 years (2021: 1 to 2 years), but may have
extension and termination options as described below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

ANEERE

AEEREXEBKHESZREER
Feo-HEANCEETHBBGE1E2
EO

RzMEFE  AEEREXHKE
EZRPAE HEEGHNZEEE
HAR1E2F - (ZT=—F : 182
F) - BRE AR T EHI & 48 3%
B HERFKDERNER 88
P EERRARME - RETEHE KL
AR BEMENRER - A5H
FER& MM TERILETE S XA H
TTHIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

20. GOODWILL

Cost: B :

As at 1 January Rn—H—H
Exchange realignment [ 54 S8 &

As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H”
Accumulated impairment: REtimE -

As at 1 January n—H—H
Impairment VEREN

Exchange realignment b H R

At 31 December W+ZA=+—H
Carrying amounts: REE :

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGUs") identified according to business segments (net of
impairment) as follows:

Money lending W&
eCommerce BFEE
Internet education services BB E RS

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

266 mpmEEERERAT

Notes

20. B8

2022 2021
—E_—F B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETTT
456,869 467,896
28,763 (11,027)
485,632 456,869
389,856 184,963

- 212,375
22,838 (7,482)
412,694 389,856
72,938 67,013

BEEIEEAKRERATELSD
BHEANRSELRU([REEE

BAL) (NBRRE) -
2022 2021
=5 T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
72,938 67,013
72,938 67,013




(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Money lending

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 90% issued share capital of Time
Credit Limited and goodwill of approximately
RMB103,318,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

eCommerce

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired the entire issued share capital
of Soaring International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Soaring International Group”) and
goodwill of approximately RMB229,740,000 was
recognised upon completion of the acquisition.

Internet education services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group acquired 100% issued share capital of
Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries and therefore goodwill of approximately
RMB123,572,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

Particulars regard impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed in note 22.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HE

REBEE-_T—HAF+_A=1
—HLFE  AEBRETKR
HEEBR AT Z90%E 87T
BRA + WA U BB SERK 1R FERR
24 AR %103,318,0007T °

E7HB

RBEE=ZZE—-—AF+=A
=+—BHLFEE X&E
UZ B8 T Soaring International
Holdings Limited & E @A
7] ([Soaring International&
B 22 BTRA - R
WK EERDENARKE
229,740,0007T °

BB RS

RBE-_ZE—tF+=A=
T-BLFE  AEEKE
T Cybernaut Technology
International Limited & H i B
ANAElZ100% B #EITRA
LR TR R IR R B A
R #123,572,0007C °

B R B RERF N IE M
AE22H R o
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Cost:

At 1 January 2021
Addition

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022
Written-off

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment
At 1 January 2021
Provided for the year
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022
Written-off

At 31 December 2022

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Technology Contract
know-how Platform backlog Total
EHHE Fg ARBEH ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
B
R-Z-—F—F—H 97,594 131,180 9,844 238,618
NE = 8,534 = 8,534
SRR (3,107) - - (3,107)
R-2-—-§$+-A=+—-H
R-E-_—$-f—H 94,487 139,714 9,844 244,045
WA (94,487) (139,714) (9,844) (244,045)
R-B__§+-A=+-H - - - -
RHMERAEE
R_ZF-—F—A—H 97,594 79,207 3,034 179,835
FERE - 14,035 492 14,527
HE—RNBAT = 46,472 6,318 52,790
B 5 3% (3,107) - - (3,107)
R-E-—-%¥+-HA=+-H
R-E-—$-f—H 94,487 139,714 9,844 244,045
sy (94,487 (139,714) (9,844) (244,045)

RZE-"#+-R=t+-H -

fREE :
RZ2-"#+-RA=t+-H -

RZEZ—F+-RA=1+—H =

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA



21.

22,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The above intangible assets have finite useful life. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:

21.

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

BERE (B)

tEREEABARNAERF
Hl - ZEEBWEETIRATHER
B AR -

Technology know-how 3to 10 years HHEEM 3E104F
Customer relationship 10 years EFRR 104
Platform 5 to 10 years & 5Z 104
Contract backlog 10 years RFEREL  10F

Impairment loss of approximate RMB52,790,000 has been
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021.
Impairment testing on intangible assets are disclosed in
note 22.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and
intangible assets set out in Notes 20 and 21 have been
allocated to three CGUs, comprising money lending
segment, eCommerce segment and internet education
services segment. The carrying amounts of goodwill

22,

HE-_ZT-_—F+=-A=+—HIE
FE EHERREEBBOARE
52,790,0007T ° T & 2 8 Rk B A
AR E22hHE -

R A R E R (E

SURERIA TS - MiEE20 K21 Tk
HELREFNEEE T EE=ARE
ELEN BEBESSH EFE
BoHMREMBERERB D - 5
RREZEEUNBERETEE (1

and intangible assets (net of accumulated impairment) BRI E) WEmEDT
allocated to these units are as follows:
Goodwill Intangible assets

[} BLRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—ZE-C ZE-—F el e —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%Tn AR®TR AR%Trn
Money lending W& 72,938 67,013 - -
eCommerce ETEK - - - -
Internet education services G RAE R - = - =
72,938 67,013 - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2021: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 14% (2021: 12%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2021: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
2.5% (2021: 2%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include gross margin and
revenue growth of 4.5% to 9% (2021: 3% to 18%). Such
estimation is based on the money lending CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations of the
market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
management determines that there is no impairment on
the money lending CGU. Management believes that any
reasonably possible changes in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the money lending
CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the money
lending CGU. If the discount rate was changed to 16.1%
(2021: 13.8%), while other parameter remain constant,
the recoverable amount of CGU would equal its carrying
amount.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

HE

WERSEABENZAIRESER
BEEABBEFERBREE ZHE
B EERT - ZirEHHEBER
EEEMAENVREZEREREE
F14% (T =_—F : 12%)WAF
HE (Z2Z—F : AFHH) AR
eREEMN - AFHBM (=T =—
F: AFHHE) geReRE HERE
25%(ZT=Z—%F : 2%) (B R X
HE SHEEFENEMEER
FEBEEFNERIMALERLIS%E
% (ZT=—%F : 3% E18%) L A
WBEeRA/ REZETEE B
BT ERNERSEEEMA
BAEREREEBEMBEHENTE
HR1SH -

REEZT-__FR-T=_—F+
ZA=+—RLEFE  AEEERE
EETHRERSEELEEMBER
B -BEERA  WEMZERR
PR AMEEAEES 9T EE
BRERSCELEEN ZRAEB
HEHAKESEE - WEREEA
16.1%(ZF=—%F : 13.8%) ' M
HM2HERTE  ARSELS
A E SR SN EBREE o



eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period, based on financial budgets approved by
the management with discount rate of 19% per annum.
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated with
2% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales,gross margin and
revenue growth of 8%. Such estimation is based on the
unit’s past performance and management’s expectations
of the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management
of the Group have determined impairment of goodwill
directly related to the eCommerce CGU amounting to
RMB90,076,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

EFEH

EfRABRSELBNZAIREE
RMORBEEAEEFERRESEL
MEMMNGEETE - ZtERA
ERNEEBHMENMBRAE KRR
REFI9%MNAFHEARRSRE
B AFHRARCRERETIR
BoNMEREER - FREEME
MEMEER[EBDEREHE
EMERIPAE RSN HEANNIR S
AN/ R Z B - BRAMETD
ERNBUNBERENEEEY T
BRRNBHEL -

REE-_ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H
HtEE ASEEREBETHET
BEEHeELAENEEAR IR
RIE A R #90,076,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Internet education services

On 24 July 2021, Opinions were issued in July by the
General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of China and the General Office of the State
Council of the PRC, on Further Reducing the Burden of
Compulsory Education Students’ Homework and Off-
campus Training (BRE— T REESHERBEEEER
ERRIMEFBIERNE R) (the “Opinions”), which regulates
institutions offering tutoring on the school curriculum; and
the Beijing Municipality’s Measures to Further Reduce
the Burden of Homework and After — School Tutoring
on Students in Compulsory Education in Beijing issued
in August 2021 by the Beijing Municipality Government
and the Beijing Municipal Committee of the Communist
Party of China (together with the Opinions, as the “New
Regulations”).

In light of the New Regulations and with a view to ensure
that the Group and its operations fully in compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements in
China; and after seeking legal advice in early December
2021, the Company’s board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) has decided that the Group to cease the
online after-school tutoring services for academic subjects
included in China’s compulsory education system offered
to Kindergarten to Year Nine (“K-9” or “Compulsory
Education”) students in PRC. As such, the relevant
intangible assets and goodwill was fully impaired during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

EMRHE R

R_ZTE-_—F+tA-+WHE FH
o % BE K AP B B S B 4 R R
+tAEMZEER NAEBER
E— P REEBAEEERBEEE
BEMRIMNEIEBENER) ([ZF
ER])  HHREHBRRREHZIN
HEETET  UARIEEWARK
BRPHIETRTERRER T
—FNRABGROEEETERE—F
BEEBHERBREEEEEEN
RIMEINEENEE) CERZERE
Ro#mElsmel) -

ERRERRBERAEERRAZE
BREFERBMBEEREERE
ERE YR-E-—F+=-A%
SEREEBERE  ARRAEZ([£
=g ((Exg))ErkE ~5H
BHELERPRERHE ZRTRHE
BmrE)ZEENFR ([ EBH
BIEER]) BAERME ERINEIIR
BBk BEZE-_—F+=H
=T—HIEFE - HEBTEEER
MECDEERE -



23.

24,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZE-——F+-_A=t+—RHIL&EE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. BAFERIAR

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

RZEMR

B
2022 2021
e F —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Treasury Products EERSE 5,000 =
INVENTORIES 24. FR
2022 2021
= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARBTIT
Finished goods BURK oh 505 4,244
2022 2021
it ot 3 —F_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Movement in the allowance for GFEREES
inventories:
At beginning of the year REH) - =
Impairment loss recognised MIFEmRO R EEE
in respect of inventories - -
At end of the year RER - =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. BHEIKRIA
2022 2021
—E_—F B —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBET T

Trade receivables =) &R 14,439 34,660

Less: Loss allowance B SRR (8,738) (7,468)

5,701 27,192

The movement in the loss allowance for the impairment REEEAR EEZE S EWRIE
of trade receivables during the reporting period are as REEEBRESEEINT

follows:

2022 2021

—E-—F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR®ETT

At 1 January Hn—A—H 7,468 3,445
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 1,034 3,510
Exchange realignment b H AR 236 513
At 31 December R+Z—A=+—H 8,738 7,468
Impairment under HKFRS 9 ERAMBHREEREIFRET ZRE
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting & RE B B A B A TR
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BN U EBEHEEHBSE - #
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due EEDEREBEUEBEBE NS
for groupings of various customer segments with similar BEF o BAER (BHRME - EmiE
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, A REBEAPRETS) K8 HR B
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the B i BERMEIEmMESER
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money BEBKERNRSEHBETSNER
and reasonable and supportable information that is WEEIE - B AR ROR R A 15
available at the reporting date about past events, current HIBRNEIENAIFEER °

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 25.

26.

Impairment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The credit period granted by the Group to certain
customers is within 180 days (2021: within 180 days),
while payment from other customers are due immediately
when goods are delivered. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance, presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting year,
which approximated the respective revenue recognition

dates:

0-30 days

31-60 days

61-90 days

91-120 days

121-180 days

181 days to within 1 year

LOAN RECEIVABLES

Secured loan receivables at fixed rate
Unsecured loan receivables at fixed rate
Unsecured loan at variable rate

Interest receivables

Less: Loss allowance

0%30H
31260H
61%290H
91%120H
1212180H

181 BE1FIURA

26.

EERTE
EERHE
EARHE
g

W ERERE

itEMARRERER
itRMERRERER
AHEMERRER

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

R EWRIE (8)

ERVBHRELAEIRET ZRE
(&)

AEEMETEFELZ2EESRA
180 AR (ZE=-—4F : 180 A
W) - MEAME P ERR N E mE Al
BT e UMTITIREBREFREEAR
B (E{ARI W TR B AR E ) 25
2B SREWIE (NKREE) RS
T

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBTT

3,481 6,890

635 5,330

1,585 4,820

- 6,215

- 3,496

- 441

5,701 27,192
R & =

2022 2021

—E_Cf —E--fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBTT

186,095 141,275

5,414 43,107

9,190 6,520

472 942

(24,711) (20,576)

176,460 171,268
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Impairment under HKFRS 9

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group’s loan receivables arose from the money
lending business during the year.

Loan receivables bear interest at variable and fixed rates,
and with credit periods, mutually agreed between the
contracting parties. Loan receivables are secured by
properties and personal guarantees by the debtors/certain
individuals. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly and
handled closely by senior management.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

ERYBHRELREIRET ZRE

BEEEEE S WERER#EITHE
%°W§W*$ﬂ£*ﬁ@%%m
WEERRMS  HHREEEER
HTBEARARTZEARNATEELER
AEMHMERNEEEE (TZ@A
BHEEEE) - B VPRRRL
EREEENNEERRMS - T
AIREEELY RN TRERFHA
WIEHEEEBY AT IRERRE
(RHEITEHAEEEHR) -

RERESEH  AEEEFEEE
E%%E T TANEARRS
VIR ERE S EELIN - FE
Hjnﬂéﬁ o ASERBNEREHMT
AEEEAREAHBELEEND
M/\E%ﬂwﬁﬁmﬁﬁxii_iﬁﬁ’]ﬂ

57\\5)Z$ﬁzﬂjjﬂﬂ—mé EAIEH%RE
BNER  BREELNMAEEESR -

TR ARENREERK A RE
E

JE M B R iR T 8 B E A R EHE K
EEHBTNE T KRAHE - B
ERTAEBA ETEIALZ
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The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the
reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to
contractual maturity date as follows:

Within 3 months =EAR

3 months to 1 year —BAE—F

Over 1 year which contain a repayment — LA F (HAREL
on demand clause BRES0)

The average effective interest rate was at 6% to 12% per
year as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 2% to 12%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amounting to RMB186,095,000 (2021:
RMB141,275,000) are pledged with collaterals such as
properties. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge
the collaterals in the absence of default by the borrower.
There has not been any significant changes in the
quality of the collateral held for the loan receivables. The
Group has not recognised a loss allowance for the loan
receivables as a result of these collaterals.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

R34 H R 0 R 2R (I B 48)
I A 055 B 0 RIS 05 17
T -

2021

RMB’000
ARETIT

21,924
119,542

29,802

171,268

#fE::$+—ﬂZ+—E'$
HEBRFMNEREHE12% (ZTZ
—F 1 2%E12%) °

RBERRZEANEERR SRR
EREEE - AEBEEEZE
RAKERANB AR - KB
WT HIEEKRER - eMEERE
EERR

R-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H K
mEAARK186,095,0007T (=
TZ—F : AR¥141,275,0007T)
M%WE REAMEE RBERmE
Eﬁ RERAILEENNBER
CAEETNSEEXBEREH
TfHEﬁDD o BLIENE RIF A MEF &
EEWHEMRNENE‘ AEET
=7 S W B E R E SRR
E1ERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

27.

28.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

Other receivables Hth e FRIE
Deposits e
Prepayment FET B

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2022, included in the bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits RMB30,113,000
(2021: RMB31,250,000) that was denominated in HKD
and RMB Nil (2021: RMB1,000) that was denominated
in USD. All the remaining bank balances and cash are
denominated in RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the
government of the PRC.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

27. AfiFEMRRIA - He R AT

A
2022 2021
—E_—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
15,292 13,923
749 723
8,701 7,633
24,742 22,279

28. MITHERRBA &

RZFB-_—F+=-—A=+—H ' &
ABRITHEB RIS ARZRHIRIT
FRreEARES30,113,0007T (=
T——4F : AR¥31,250,0007T) J5
LAOBTTETE - MARBZL(ZZE=
—4F : AR¥1,0007T) BIAETTE
BE-FMEHRTRITEHRFESHIU
AREBEHE -

ARBETFBEYIFERLBRER
HHEELESRTBEBRNEEHE
REYINE & B AT R o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 20. EHEMAREBEREMRE
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables NN AE S EMNZIBRFSHRIE
presented based on the goods receipt date at the end of BWEREmBHZ7 2 BREe DT o

the reporting period.

2022 2021
e F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

0-30 days 0%£30H 693 4,662

31-60 days 31260H 289 1,230

61-90 days 61£90H 45 3,372

Over 90 days 90H M k 21,691 21,584

22,718 30,848

The credit period granted by the suppliers to the Group is HEFIMAEERD Z2EEHAR30
within 30 days. HIA -

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HttEMRARENERH

2022 2021

e —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBT T

Other payables o fth FE A FRIE 4,324 8,469
Accrued professional fees EETEEER 1,962 2,948
Accrued staff costs FEEFE TR A 587 195
Accrued other expenses FERTE AR 583 115

7,456 11,727
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&R
The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follows: AEEHEBENRRAT
2022 2021
= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Current BN ER 2,508 2,275
Non-current JEENHA 264 916

2,772 3,191
2022 —E-—f

Minimum Present
lease value of lease

payments liabilities
BEHAEMT HEARAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT

Minimum lease payment due: RUA TR AR B & (K
MERFK -
Within one year —FR 2,548 2,508
More than one year but not HBR—FETBARE
more than two years 300 264
2,848 2,772
Future finance charges RRMEEH (76)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 2,772
Amounts due for settlement within one  —4F R%| Hi % <Y IR
year (shown under current liabilities) (RRBEETIIR) (2,508)
Amounts due for settlement —F RS IRFRIE
after one year 264

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

280 mpemmERERAT



2021

Minimum lease payment due:

Within one year
More than one year but not
more than two years

Future finance charges

Present value of lease liabilities

Amounts due for settlement within one
year (shown under current liabilities)

Amounts due for settlement
after one year

AT B B IR
BEMK -

i
BB T BEMT

ARKRBREER

HERERE

—FRAH AR
(RRBRETIIR)

—F RIS HRIA

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

T
Minimum Present
lease value of lease
payments liabilities
REHAEM: HEARAE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBET T

2,334 2,275
931 916

3,265 3,191
(74)

3,191

(2,275)

916
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

As at 31 December 2022, the average weighted
incremental borrowing rates of the Group’s lease liabilities
ranged from 1.84% to 11.2% (2021: 1.84% to 11.2%) per
annum.

The Group leases office premises for operation and these
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
lease payment that are not yet paid. All leases are entered
at fixed prices.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases for the year ended
31 December 2022 was RMB3,388,000 (2021:
RMB4,231,000).

The Group leases various leased buildings for its
operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years (2021: 1-2 years).

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

RZFZZF+ZA=+—H"
EEHEAEN T MEESET
FRENTF1.84%E11.2% (=T =
—F 1.84%FE11.2%) °

my B

AEBEREXBHERRIYE - Rk
ZEMERBERAAAINEEM
RWBENE - MAEEHREE
{BIERIAL °

AEBVEEEAFBEHEREN
BERARBETER HEABAAX
SE M ERSBEEEE -

BHE-_Z-_—_F+=-HA=+—8H1t
FEBHEEECReRLBEAA
R#3,388,000TL (ZFE=—%F : A
R#4,231,0007T) °

AEEREXHHEZREER
FoHEANZETHYABE1E
2 (ZFE-—F 1 182%F) o



At 1 January 2021

Credit for the year FRHE R

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

Credit for the year FRER

At 31 December 2022 R-Z-_—F+-A=1+—H

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB45,509,000 (2021: RMB46,044,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such unused tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

R-ZFE=Z—F—H—H

—F+ZA=1+—-RARk

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Intangible assets
EREE
RMB’000

ARETT

13,514

(13,5614)

“E--%#—H—H _

RB|EBR  AEBERFERTIE
BB AR 45,509,000t (= =
—4F : AR#46,044,0007T) Al
HARHOEF o R R ACHEFRA T
TR - MW ERZERERB
BEIEERECHBEAE

Annual Report 2022
SECoCFFR

283



284

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

33. PROMISSORY NOTES

As at 1 January
Accrued interest charged
Issue of promissory notes upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee (Note b)
Gain on extinguishment on
promissory notes (Note a and c)
Repayment
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December

Analysis as:
Current
Non-current

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

33. ZAREE

m—H—8
FEETT BB
IR FITRFE R BT
27 (fi5Eb)
HUBAR IR
Yzt (FifiEakec)
B
BEE 3, 58 B

Rt+-—A=+—8

DR
BNEA
JERNER

2022 2021
k- B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETTT
242,773 334,737
53,793 27,779
(103,435) —
(51,699) (66,973)

= (43,601)

17,856 (9,169)
159,288 242,773
159,288 242,773
159,288 242,773




Notes:

(a)

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the
deed of amendment with all the PN holders to reorganise
and assign all the promissory notes of the Group with
the principal and interest amounting to approximately
HK$368,902,000 (approximately to RMB301,644,000)
and HK$9,663,000 (approximately to RMB8,102,000)
in total respectively to two new holders of two new
promissory notes namely New PN1 and New PN2 with
principal amounting to HK$208,208,000 (approximately to
RMB172,798,000) and HK$183,208,000 (approximately to
RMB152,050,000) respectively. The management of the
Group considers that the terms of the deed of amendment
are substantially different as the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms discounted using
the original effective interest rate is different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability by more than 10 per cent.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Therefore, the Group
derecognised the original promissory notes outstanding
and recognised the two new promissory notes measured at
fair value as at the date of extinguishment. The difference
between the carrying amount of the promissory notes
derecognised and the fair value of the PN1 and PN2
amounting to approximately HK$80,696,000 (approximately
to RMB66,973,000) is recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2021. The significant terms of
the PN1 and PN2 are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Hat

(8 WHRZT=Z—F+=—A=+—8 "
RNATEFBPNEE ATMERT
R LNEANEEREENA
EHEE AR ELED R
#1/5368,902,0008 7T (A AR
301,644,0007T) }&9,663,000/%
T (M ARYS8,102,0007T) @ F
M F A = (BFTPNT &
PN2) IR BFTIFAA » REBEH
711 £208,208,000/8 7T (K AR
172,798,0007T) & 183,208,000
BT (K AR 152,050,0007T) °
AEFEEEBRE  BIIREBEZIE
REEAER  RAAFRARER
FIRBBZHERETNREREY
GHRBEERSHEEHRTEHS
REZMBEREREEZEBRAED Z
+ - Bt - BEIEKIEET AR A
BEReHEBERERTCRE
& o Bt NEBKRIEER N ARE
BrREAREE  TERARGRE
ERARHERAFEFEZTHARLE
B-BRIEBRZELZERENE
EEEPN1 RPN2#) A FE 2 B8
ZFA#)80,696,0005 7T (M AR
66,973,00070) RELEZT=—%F
+ZA=+—HILFEMNBSETE
7 o PN1K&PN2Z EZEuT -

PN 1 PN 2

PN 1 PN 2

Principal ViNG HK$208,208,000 HK$183,208,000
208,208,000/ 183,208,007

Maturity date FHA 1 October 2023 1 October 2023
—E-_=%+H—AR —ZT-=%+H—H

Interest rate F= Interest free Interest free
%8 %8

Effective interest rate

15.68% per annum
HF15.68%

15.68% per annum
FF15.68%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

In addition, all nominal interest of promissory notes are
waived from 9 November 2019 to 31 December 2021.

The fair value of PN 1 and PN2 approximately to their
principal amount calculated at the effective interest of
15.68% per annum. The PN 1 and PN 2 are both classified
as non-current liabilities and are carried at amortised cost
until settlement on due date.

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into of a
subscription agreement with PN1 holder for the subscription
of convertible preference shares of the Company at the
total subscription price of HK$140,000,000 (approximately
to RMB116,206,000) which was satisfied by the set-off of
part of the principal owned to PN 1.

On 31 December 2022, the Company entered a deed of
amendment with all PN holders to extend the maturity
dates of the PN 1 and PN 2 and to amend certain terms
and conditions of those PNs. The management of the
Group considers that the terms of the deed of amendment
are substantially different as the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms discounted using
the original effective interest rate is different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability by more than 10 per cent.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Therefore, the Group
derecognised the original promissory notes outstanding
and recognised the two new promissory notes measured at
fair value as at the date of extinguishment. The difference
between the carrying amount of the promissory notes
derecognised and the fair value of the PN1 and PN2
amounting to approximately HK$60,131,000 (approximately
to RMB51,699,000) is recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2022. The significant terms of
the revised PN1 and Revised PN2 are as follows:

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

Miat - (%)

(@)

(&)

o BZE-AF+—ANBEZE
ZE-—F+ZA=+t—H &KX
SBNAERENSHELR -

PN1&PN2HIAFENBESHRER
%8 J91%15.68% M B F R R
& - PN1EPN2H D 88 AIERS
BEREERIIEA B ERTREH
FRAFIBE o

RZTE-_—"FRA-_++H &
ARIEPN15E AR R B
% 42388 140,000,000 7T (49
AR#116,206,0007T) REAR LD
Bl ATRARE SRR - HE B BIKE
PN1#EH 2O ARNEER -

R-EBE_—_F+-A=+—H8 ' &
ARIEAA R EEFE AR MLIE
FTE4E - LAIERPN1 & PN2 2 5| H
A WIS ZERALEBR A TR
HENEH - AEEEBERE ' &
FIRBEZEFREEAEZR  RRA
FRARERFIERAIR Z FIEKEAE T
BeREZHBERERRSHARE
HBTIREREZMRIBEEERB
BoZT - Fit - BEERIETA
Ry AECEREGRABERERT S
BEE - Bt AEBKIEERM
REBZFAREE - WHERMHD
REEBHIR AT EFEZFEA
FiE o DRIEBR AN ERNIR
HEEEPNT RPN2H A FE 2 B
ZEF#60,131,0008 7T (M AR
51,699,00070) REZE =T ==
T A=+ HILLEEMNIBSTRE
R o KEEFTPNT RAEERTPN2 2 £
BRI ¢



Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Principal &
Maturity date F|E# A
Interest rate F=

Interest payment term

Effective interest rate TR A=

Save for the amendments mentioned above, the principal
terms of Revised PN1 and Revised PN2 remain the same to
PN 1 and PN2 respectively.

The fair value of Revised PN 1 and Revised PN2
approximately to their principal amount calculated at the
effective interest of 16.78% per annum. The Revised PN
1 and Revised PN 2 are both classified as non-current
liabilities and are carried at amortised cost until settlement
on due date.

Both the PN1 and PN2 were pledged by buildings
of the Group with carrying amount of approximately
RMB7,268,000 as at 31 December 2022.

HK$68,208,000
68,208,000/8 7T

MEKREEXN
16.78% per annum

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Htat - (#&)

(@) (&)

Revised PN 1 Revised PN 2
#E{EETPN1 #Z{ETPN2

HK$183,208,000
183,208,000/ 7T

1 January 2025 1 January 2025

—ZET-hFE—H—H —E_hF—H—H
4% per annum 4% per annum
HF4% HF4%

Interest will be paid on Interest will be paid on

quarterly basis quarterly basis

FEBHERFEZN
16.78% per annum
HF16.78% FF16.78%
Br EAEETAN - EIEFTPNT RE&ER
PN2Z E 2§55 Rl EPN1 R PN2AE[F °

FAEETPNT REEEFIPN2B R FEEH
ANEEEE - T1iR16.78% BB & F K
FTE o ZIEFTPNT REIEEIPN2I 5 %
BIERBEE  REZERIHRAEER
IREE S ANBI) R o

R-—ZE-—_—_F#+=-_A=+—H - PN1
EPN2HBEASEHERENARE
7,268,000 T HIEFIEIK I -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Authorised: ERE :
At 1 January 2021, RZTE——F—H—8"
31 December 2021, and T —F+ZA=1T—HkK
1 January 2022 T -F—H—H
Designated convertible 18 TE AT B SR R

preference shares

As at 31 December 2022 RZEZ=ZF+=_A=+—H
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR :
At 1 January 2021, RZE——F—H—8"
31 December 2021, —E-_—%+=-A=+—A -
1 January 2022 and —E__F-H-HK
31 December 2022 2 F+-HA=+—H

Shown in the consolidated RiGFSMBEERAT
financial statements

At 31 December 2022 KRB —F+-_A=+—H
At 31 December 2021 R—E——F+=-_A=+—H

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

Number of
shares at
HK$0.10
per share Amount
HERmE.10
BTz EirEE ko4
‘000 HK$’000
Fix FHT
20,000,000 2,000,000
(933,000) (93,300)
19,067,000 1,906,700
3,975,448 397,545
RMB
AR# 337,128
RMB
AR® 337,128



For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

Nominal
Number value of
of shares shares
EHn#A EimEE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: ERE -
Convertible preference share of SRREEO. 1T 2 AT HRARE T
HK$0.1 each: % -
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 W-_Z—-—F—HF—H »
and 1 January 2022 —E_—%+-A=+—H
k=T —F—H—H - -
Increase in authorised share capital JETERRASIE AN (FEE(a))

(note (a)) 933,000,000 93,300,000
At 31 December 2022 MRZZZ_Z_F+-H=+—H 933,000,000 93,300,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITREARE :

Convertible preference share of FRMEEOC. 1B T2 Al E %L

HK$0.1 each: A
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 W-_Z—-—F—HF—H »

and 1 January 2022 —E_—%+-ZA=+—H

r=—FE-—_F—H—H - -

Share issued (note (b)) BTG (M 3E (D)) 933,000,000 93,300,000

At 31 December 2022 RZZE-__F+-H=+—H 933,000,000 93,300,000
Notes: Byt

(@)  Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed by the @ BERER-_ZE-_—_F+AH+

shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting held ARODZBREAFNAEEBZ

on 10 October 2022, the authorised share capital of the TRERZFERE ARAZEER

Company decreased from HK$2,000,000,000 divided AE /H2,000,000,0008TH 5

into 20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each to 20,000,000,000% F AR EE0.1 %

HK$1,906,666,700 divided into 19,066,667,000 ordinary JURYE B AR 4> 2= 1,906,666,700

shares of HK$0.1 each and 933,333,000 non-voting BILH £19,066,667,0008%

convertible preference shares of HK$0.1 each. REEO. 1 ThH T mik &k

933,333,000 B & X EfHO. 178 TT
MR R AR RETA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Notes. (continued)

(b)  The convertible preference shares are non-voting shares
and non-redeemable. The holders of the preference shares
are entitled to receive the same dividends as the holders of
ordinary shares. In addition, the holders of the preference
shares have the right to convert any preference share
into the Company’s ordinary shares at any time at the
conversion price at the rate of 1 to 1 each. The conversion
price will be subject to adjustments only upon occurrence
of certain dilutive events. In accordance with HKAS 32
“Financial Instrument: Disclosure and Presentation” as the
convertible preference share does not have a fixed maturity
and is non-redeemable and payment of dividends is at
the discretion of the Company, the convertible preference
shares should be recognised as equity. The fair value of
the convertible preference shares on the date of issuance
was approximately HK$78,983,000 (approximately to
RMB70,234,000). The difference between the carrying
amount of the promissory notes derecognised and the
fair value of the convertible preference shares amounting
to approximately HK$41,321,000 (approximately to
RMB35,197,000) is recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June
2010 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and expired on 6 June
2020. Under the Old Scheme, the board of directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible participant,
including directors (excluding non-executive directors),
employees and consultant of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “New Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24
September 2021. Under the New Scheme, the board of
directors of the Company may grant options to eligible
employees, including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Biet o (&)

(b) AMRELERAERERRMNKE
el HEE - BERFEAGREE
BEHEBRBFAEAERZERES -
o - BERIE B A B RERIZ
1:1 2 b AR R AE 5 (T 1B S iR
B A AR L ER - BAREE
REBEEETEEERER ] TIAH
B REBBSTEAERR £
BMTA: WEREH] ARATE
ARAB S AR M [E E B EA R B~ o] BB
B - 0 R BB AR REBEIR
5 ATRRBERIEER Al -
RREERRETBHRZAT
{H#477/578,983,0008 7T (K AR
70,234,0007T) ° B4R IETER Z K
HEEERA IR E HE R RE LR e
AFEZEHEEEL41,321,000
BT (H AR¥35,197,0007T) B
HE-T-—F+=-A=+—H1t
FREMIBZEPER -

RABRBER_ZT—TFXALHR
BB ORFERFANBRER S ([ &
i8] TERNRREZERAE
REBRHER MEFIAEK =
T_TERNANBER - RIEES
g ARFEFEARAERSHE
E(ERARARENBARANES
(TEEFBTES) BEELEM)
RHOBREE - ARRBARRRD -

ARRABRBER T _—FAA-+
MBEAEBIRBRRABREE
([Fratdl]) - RIFFFTE - AT
ExgrmMaERER (BEARR
REMBRRNES) BT ERE
ARBARRBIRL -



At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the New Scheme was 120,000,000
(2021:120,000,000), representing 3.02% (2021: 3.02%)
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the New Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

As at 31 December 2022, the maximum number of Shares
which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the Options
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and
the outstanding options granted under the new Share
Option Scheme will be 517,544,800 Shares, representing
approximately 13.01% of the total number of Shares in
issue, which will not exceed the 30% limit under Note 2 to
Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options
may be exercised at any time from 3 year from the date
of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

RZFZZF+=ZA=+—H 1R
BT EIE R MR ITE 2 BB
TR & 2 IR 17 88 B £120,000,000
R(ZF=—% :120,000,000
’B) HERARABIRZABAE
TRMZ3.02% (T = —4 :
3.02%) ° ERLEARNBIREEF LA
FERIBRT - RIBEFFEI AR H
R EERRRE AT R 2 IR (0 1B BTN 15 R
BARBREMKEEZEITRNZ
10% ° EARGEA R R RE S LH A&
WIERT - EEMERA TR ER—
FRERREE ZERERY R
ZEBETRBETEITRMNHEE TS
7R 38 2N 1 &) R AR B ) 2 B 1T AR (D
Z1% °

R-ZBE-_—F+=-A=+—A0 " %
ERER SR L BRI R
MAEETEIE R B AT
BT A 881G T BT &= R M
B 15 /5517,544,800 815 © 52
BTN BEA13.01% » A iFTE
B ETRASE17.03Q) KM E22
30%fR%E o

EREREALERKEN B ER
1A EMERESZS1ET -
LARE BB AR A - BERRE ] N IR BB
REBHEA=FEEREAHZ
TESF I EMEEEITE - /TEER
ARBIEEETE ' BBETSERMU
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Vesting Exercisable

Date of grant period period
BHAM BEH TR
7 May 2019 Nil 7 May 2019 to
6 May 2022

—Z-NFR B _Z-N¥DAtRZE
AtH “TZZFRARA
9 September Nil 9 September 2022 to
2022 8 September 2025
Sty ® _TZ-_#hANBZE
AnA ZZZREAANA

Exercisable at 31 December 2022
AN-F-—F+-A=1—-HB17fE

Weight average exercise price

MEFHTTHE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

Exercise
price

|

HK$0.2

0287

HK$0.12

012

Outstanding
balance as

1 January

2021,

31 December

2021 and

1 January 2022
RZB8Z-%-R
-AZEZ-f
+ZA=+-Hk

ZE-"%-8

—BZRRTHE

-

120,000,000

Outstanding
balance at
31 December
2022

Expired Addition

R-B-=
+=R=+-H
b4

) &E

(120,000,000 = =

120,000,000 120,000,000

120,000,000

HK$0.12
0127



The fair values of the options were calculated using The
Binomial Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

Share price

el

Exercise price
1T1E(E
Expected volatility
T8 B R 0
Expected life
it FH

Risk free rate

2 b i =&
Expected dividend yield
FEHIRE X

The expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities
of a set of market comparable companies. Expected
dividend vyields are based on historical dividend yields
of the Company. Changes in these subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.
The Group recognised the total expense of RMB4,391,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 120,000,000
options has been lapsed.

No equity-settled share options was granted, lapsed nor
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

BhEZAFEDER -BEAEE
BAGE - ZEAZBAZBIT

Option issued on

9 September 2022
RZEZ"FhAAAEB
BITHHREERIE

HK$0.102
0.102/8 7T
HK$0.120
0.120% 7T
69.51%
69.51%

3 years
3
3.201%
3.201%

TEHIRE T ER —Emin e ELE
NAEMELRE - BHREEXRE
RAEARBHELRER - ZETH
WARZHEBAIEH A FEDBE
EREATE HEZT-__F+
ZRA=T—RHLEE  AEEHK
ARRENBRERRERZ AA
R#¥4,391,000c (== =—%F :
=) o

REE_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H
1IFEEE » 120,000,000 BERED &
KA o

REE-_ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. MESFEZS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated Bt E M BEHRREMIT o ES
financial statements, the Group have the following related Gh REBEFTBUTEERIRS o

party transactions.

Nature of
Name of related party Relationship transaction/balance
RESHR 01 i3 13
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRE ARETT
Lu Yongchao Executive Director Loan interest received (Note 1) 152 57
Ep§i WITES BRERHAE (PzE1)
Loan receivable 2,611 2,404
U E R
Yip Sum Yu Executive Director Loan interest received (Note 1) 150 60
08 HITES BEREFRHME (1)
Loan receivable 2,566 2,364
R E R
Notes: Wi
1. The interest rate of the loan was 6% per year. In the opinion 1. BEZMENREE%  BEERAE
of the directors, the transactions between the Group and AEBEBERT 2R HTIRBESE
the related party were conducted in the ordinary course of HBIERETT ©

business.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

2% mpsEmERERAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management for both years was as follows:

Short-term benefits 5 HAtE A
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iRARIE T 2 7%

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

37.

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

MEAXS (1)

FTEEEASEHM

EENHEMT2EEEKRERMIE
FEZHMMT

2022 2021
k- B

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARET T

4,350 5,233
29 42
4,379 5,275

EERERTHRABZFHMIAF
MWEZEE2EMARRLETSBE
MERE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38.
THE COMPANY

(@) Financial information of the statement of financial
position of the Company

Non-current assets FEMEEE

Interests in subsidiaries S INENGIP - £
Current assets mEEE

Loan receivables W E R

Other receivables and prepayment Hoth fE Y 5RIE R TR SR IE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE R B B8 1 B FR0E

Bank balances RITAE R

Current liabilities mE& R

Other payables and accruals H At eI FIE R T B
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT B AR ZRIE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLERZERERAT

ments

FLFRMBRRE
(@) FAAMBRREZZHBEER

2022 2021
—=—— —E-—%F

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARETT

110,567 110,567
110,567 110,567
7,892 7,835
97 149
129,717 111,236
9,921 11,460
147,627 130,680
4,197 4,996
11,922 =
16,119 4,996




(a)

Financial information of the statement of financial

position of the Company (continued)

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Promissory notes

Net (liabilities)/assets

Capital and reserves
Share Capital
Reserve

Total (deficit)/equity

Director
EF
Zhu Min
E Y

RERERE

BREREREDAR

ERBEE
IR

(AfR) BESRE

BER G
(LN
1

(E#) Ea8s

Director
-

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E-_—F+-A=+—8ItFE

(@) AXAFAHBRRRZMBER
(%)

2021

RMB’ 000
ARETIT

125,684

236,251

242,773

242,773

(6,522)

337,128
(343,650)

(6,522)

Lu Yongchao

&2k i8
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

(b)

Movement of capital and reserves of the

Company

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

As at 31 December 2022

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprenensive expenses
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
Share-based payments

Lapse of share option

Issue of convertible preference
share

At 31 December 2022

(b) FABEXRRFEESE
Capital Share Convertible
Share Share redemption  options  Exchange  preferred  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve  reserve reserve shares losses Total
5 hhe
ks EBOER  RESG B ERRE WAREER AHER #it
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT  ARBTT ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
2
—-A-A 33718 587,684 17,918 6,040 (14,692) - (786,051) 148,027
EFRA - - - - - - (153315 (153315
EEEMEEYE
- = - - (1234) - - 12
ERRERREE
- - - - (1234) = (183315 (154,549)
WZF=-F
t-A=+-H
-
—-A-H 33718 587,684 17,918 6,040 (15,926) - (939,366) (6,522)
R-B--F+-R
=t+-H
EREA - - - - - - 9,665 9,665
EREM2EYE
- - - - 5,019 - - 5019
EERERREE
- - - - 5,019 - 9,665 14,684
B ELE
POECES - - - 4,391 - - - 4,01
BREXN - - - b0k - - 6,040 -
IARELR
- - - - - 70,234 - 70,234
WZF_ZF
t-B=t-8 3718 587,684 17,918 4,301 (10.907) 70,234 (923,661) 82,787

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39. FATFEEMBELFFER
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company RBEBR  NAGFAFECEE
at the end of the reporting periods are as follows: MEBARZFFBAT
Issued and Proportion of
Country/place and date of fully paid ownership
incorporation/establishment share capital/ interest and voting
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital right held by the Company Principal activities
eI/ BRITRBERE/ FLAGEN
WELRER RIRBEER  HERAK itMEF FERERRRFELA FERH
I!EE! 2021
“E--f
Soaring International Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands USS2 100% 100%  Investment holding
5 March 2015 ES RE#EK
EBRAEE
“2-14=A1A
VT Zero Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  eCommerce
24 January 2007 10,0087 ERT
Bk
ZZREE-ACTMA
IRERET(M)ERAF The PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  eCommerce
25 February 2011 ARE500,00070 ERaT
hE
“T-——£-f-1%R
Time Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 90% 90%  Money lending
RAEERRAR 30 December 2011 2,000,007 NOTE) KB
B (i)
B--F+ATtE
China Safety Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
hAZERRARAA 7 April 2014 187 REER
B
“Z-mEMALA
Eagle Pioneer Limited The British Virgin Islands USSt 100% 100%  Investment holding
12 March 2014 1% REER
ARRAES
ZE-IE=RTZH

Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Name of subsidiary

HELFER

Great Select Global Limited
SRRRERAR

Cybernaut Asia Pacific Limited

GBA TSpace Industry (HK) Group Limited
ERNERREEFSEERAR

Cybernaut Asia Holding Limited
ERETHERERAT

Gybemaut Worldwide Limited

Cybernaut Technology International Limited

Country/place and date of
incorporation/establishment

and operations

ERsl/

BIREEER /HERAM

Hong Kong

18 November 2013
B
“E2-=£+-AT/H

BVI

30 July 2019
EBRAES
“E-NELA=TH

Hong Kong

21 March 2022

(30
ZRCCEZAt-H

Hong Kong

7 March 2017

(5
“3-tE=A+tH

BV

18 July 2022
RERTHS
2 B DI

The British Virgin Islands
17 January 2017
RERIES
“2-t+F-f+tH

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

300) mpmmpzrrERAT

39. ANFEERMELAFEN

(#%)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid ownership
share capital/ interest and voting
registered capital right held by the Company
BRITREERS/ FLEREN
itMEF FERERRRRELA

2021
“E--F

HKS1 100% 100%
18T

Ust 100% 100%
1%
HK$10,000 100% N/A
10,0087 TER

HKS 1 100% 100%

1871

USSt 100% NIA

ET &R
USS001  NOTE()  NOTE()

001%T R ()

Principal activities

IRRE

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RERR

ecommerce

BNl

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Country/place and date of
incorporation/establishment

A M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_T-__F+-A=+—HILFE

39. ERXFEERMBLFFE

(&)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid ownership
share capital/  interest and voting

Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital right held by the Company Principal activities
eI/ BRITRERES/ FLEREN
RELRER RIREEER / HERAY ifEs FERERRARALA IERE
2021
E-f
Hong Kong Cybernaut Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 NOTE () NOTE() Investment holding
BRRINENHARAA 27 February 2017 1000047 B M) REBR
Bk
ZE-tECACTER
Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education Technology The PRC HK$10,000,000 ~ NOTE()  NOTE() Investment holding
Limited (‘Huzhou')? 23 March 2017 10,000,000/ T W () Mz RERR
BNBLLHBENRARAA (M) hE
S sy
Capital Wowxue (Beiling) Education The PRC RMB4,000,000  NOTE()  NOTE() Provision of internet
Technology Limited (“Wowxue') 15 March 2012 AR%40000007T Wik () Bis()  education services
RAE (X BERRERAA(RE]) HE RETBRARERE
ZZ-ZE-A+1A
# Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC. # R EFMINEBE R -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

All of the subsidiaries are private limited company.

FRBEKN B AR BTEAERE
T

2HMBARER/LABRIT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

NOTE (i)
CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS
Particulars and main business of Wowxue

RAAZ AL R) BB R AR A A (Capital Wowxue (Beijing)
Education Technology Limited) (“Wowxue”) is a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC
and is principally engaged in the provision of internet
education services.

Wowxue is owned as to 40%, 20%, 20% and 20% by
BERLIREEBABRE AT (Cybernaut Investment Group
Limited), Z{A%EEE (JLR)BIFR A RERI 2 FEk (Cybernaut
Think Tank (Beijing) International Ecological Science
Research Institute), Mr. Zhao Yingming and Mr. Zhao
Yingyong respectively (the “Registered Shareholders”). On
31 August 2017, BBMNBELILHBERFEFR AR (Huzhou
Sai Le Hong Education Technology Limited), being a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (the “Huzhou
Company”), Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
entered into a series of agreements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). Supplementary agreements were further
entered into on 25 September 2017.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA

REBNHBERETEEHR

RENRE (ER) BEMEER LA
(DR B—RRBRBEHBEIEREKZL
ZERRA FEREWRHTE
BHER -
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A BASEE (JbR) BEEEFR
Bl  MEBALERBESL
([ ZRRER]) HEA40% ~ 20% -
20% K20% R - R=ZE—+HFN
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MRA])  RBEEFERRE L —
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NOTE (i) (Continued)

CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS (Continued)

Particulars and main business of Wowxue (Continued)

Since the new education regulations incorporating
the Opinions (issued in August 2021 by the Beijing
Municipality Government) governing the after school
tutoring educational activities might have lasting impacts
and detrimental effects on the future operation of the
Company’s subsidiary group of online education under
the VIE structure, and with reference to the voluntary
announcement of the Company dated 28 December 2021
in relation to update on business operations, the Company
decided to undergo organizational restructuring of the
education business segment by having Wowxue become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, so that we can
continue to provide different kind of educational services
and to develop new market in the PRC education industry.
In early 2022, Wowxue has surrendered the ICP licenses
to the China government for its cancellation in compliance
with the new education regulations. After surrendered
the ICP licenses, Wowxue’s shareholders and directors
have signed a legally-bound undertaking which they all
irrevocably undertake to the Company that they will assist
the organizational restructuring till completion after the VIE
terminated.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

B & (i)
SRR (&)
REBNFBERETEEK (F)

BHRMARERIMNEINBE EBH
ER(AIERTENRZZ=—FN
RAEM) BB AR AT RE ¥ AR A A
W EHEHB AT SEEN ]
HERBEETHRREEELFE
FERIFFE  UREZEARRQ
AAMA T =_—F+=HA=TN
HERXBEESRTBEANBER
ffi - RRATATEBBKAREK AR
RANEZENBARIEHHABEESH
BT EHE - AERMEHE
BIRETEBLNHKE RS - LT
FRHABTERENMSE - RZT
ZZFY REBEBEBTHHE LR
MAPBEBRAREEBANAEER
FRRRLAEEESE - RREIEBERNS
HEMERE  RERERESE
FE—MXEROROEAR  BF
BRI AR RARE - BE
RO ZFmEBHER LR EHE
A EREETEKEAD -

\;
r

R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Major terms of the structured contracts

Irrecoverable option agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an irrevocable exclusive
option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) whereby the
Registered Shareholders granted an exclusive option to
Huzhou Company to acquire the entire equity interest
in Wowxue held by the Registered Shareholders, under
which Huzhou Company shall have the right to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer their equity
interest in Wowxue on demand to Huzhou Company or
its designated entity or individual, at nil consideration. The
Option Agreement does not have a defined exercisable
period and the Option Agreement will expire when the
relevant law and regulation in the PRC allows foreign
investment in Wowxue or when Huzhou Company or its
designated party exercises the option to acquire Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders and Wowxue has given undertakings that
it shall perform certain acts or refrain from performing
certain other acts unless the prior written consent of
Huzhou Company has been obtained.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEBZRERAA
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Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Service Agreement

Huzhou Company and Wowxue entered into an exclusive
service agreement (the “Service Agreement”) pursuant to
which Huzhou Company shall serve as the service provider
to Wowxue, to provide investment advice, planning and
other business advice on the operation and technical
services of Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue.

In consideration of the provision of the abovementioned
services by Huzhou Company, Wowxue agrees to pay to
Huzhou Company fees on an annual basis. Fees payable
to Huzhou Company by Wowxue will be equivalent to the
total income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses
and taxes payable by Wowxue. If there is a loss in a
given year, then no provisions for the said management
and consultancy fees would be required for the year until
Wowxue records a surplus.

In addition, Huzhou Company shall have the right to obtain
and review the business data, financial information and
other information relevant to the operations and business
of Wowxue.

The Service Agreement has a term of ten years from the
date of signing the Service Agreement. Upon the expiry
of each term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its sole and
absolute discretion to renew the Service Agreement for a
further term of ten years for each renewal.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-—F+-A=+—HIEFE

REBMESONEERR (B)

AR h ke

MM AR ER BT — D BRRH
ek ([ RS HE L) - BUOAM QA
BECRENRBEER - REX
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Equity pledge agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an equity pledge agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably
agreed to pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue that
they own (including any interest or dividend paid for
such shares) to Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders under the Service Agreement.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
the date when the agreement was entered into and
shall remain valid until Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all the
obligations (including, but not limited to, the settlement
and/or the payment of the service charge, liquidated
damages (if any), etc.) under the Service Agreement.

Power of attorney
The Registered Shareholders executed an irrevocable

power of attorney which enables Huzhou Company to
exercise all the powers of the shareholders of Wowxue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Power of attorney (continued)

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the directors of
Wowxue, the Registered Shareholders and the legal
representative of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-in-fact to (i)
exercise all the directors’ rights, shareholders’ rights and
legal representative’s rights (as the case may be) including
but not limited to passing of board resolutions and
shareholders’ resolutions as well as the right to appoint
or remove the directors, legal representative, general
manager and other senior management of Wowxue; (ii)
sign on their behalf all the documents necessary to give
effect to the Contractual Arrangements; (i) exercise all
the rights and powers under the Equity Pledge Agreement
and the right to deal with the assets of Wowxue; and (iv)
submit documents to the competent company registration
authorities of Wowxue or other relevant authorities for filing
purpose.

The terms of the Power of Attorney became effective
from the date of the Power of Attorney to the earlier
of the revocation or termination of each of the Service
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement, Loan
Agreement and Equity Pledge Agreement.

The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements have in substance enabled Huzhou
Company to have power over Wowxue, rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Wowxue, and has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns, despite the
absence of formal legal equity interest held by the Group
in Wowxue. Accordingly, Wowxue is accounted for as
a consolidated structured entity as a subsidiary of the
Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—F#+-A=+—HItEE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

The revenue, profit, total assets and total liabilities of
Wowxue included in the consolidated financial statements
are set out below:

Revenue WA
(Loss)/profit (E518), &7
Total assets BEHAE
Total liabilities BfEB%R
NOTE (ii)

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The non-controlling shareholder of Time Credit Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, hold 10% equity interest.

The following information relating to non-wholly owned
subsidiary that have material non-controlling interests
(“NCI").

The summarised financial information represents amounts
before intercompany eliminations.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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2022 2021
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AR®TT AREETTT

- 6,094
(9,851) (855)
6,316 34,661
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Time Credit Limited

At 31 December
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net liabilities

Carrying amount of NCI

Year ended 31 December

Revenue
Cost of sales
Other income
Expenses

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to NCI

Total comprehensive expense
attributable to NCI

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

R+—A=+—H
ERBEE
BB E

RENE &

BERE
SRR RS v BRI

BE+-_A=t+—H
LLFE

YA

HEKA

H AU A

X

F R A

TR P b a1 FE A A

FRIE R R AG
EHAXERE

RETEBMAREFER

MEADTAREIFE

BREEBAREHER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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39. AT ERME 2FFR

(#)

RBEEARAR
2022 2021
—E__—F T —F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBTIT
809 2,231
188,079 172,532
(212,060) (196,000)
(23,172) (21,237)
(2,479) (2,653)
18,373 15,125
(1,927) (1,906)
245 15,097
(16,159) (5,454)
532 22,862
53 2,065
174 2,028
(8,819) (39,503)
(1,521) (1,344)
(25) (189,060)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_E-—_Ft+-A=1+—H0ItFE

Granting of new loan

1. On 18 January 2023, the lender, a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a new loan agreement
with the borrower, pursuant to which the lender has
agreed to grant the new loan in the principal amount
of HK$8 million to the borrower.

2. On 21 February 2023, the Lender, a subsidiary of the
company, entered into the loan agreement with the
borrower, pursuant to which the Lender has agreed
to grant the loan in the principal amount of HK$19
million to the borrower.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement for the use of 2 years.
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
RMB2,929,000 of right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities.

No material major non-cash transaction occurred for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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1 January 2021

Changes from financing
cash flows

Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Fair value change on extension
on promissory notes

Interest charges

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Changes from financing
cash flows

Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Issue of promissory notes upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee

Fair value change on extension of
promissory notes

Interest charges

Exchange realignment

—T-—%—-H—-H

MEREREEH

R R
ATEED
RV
38

REREFIRER
BITREEE
EREARZEN
ATEES
FERA%

[ 53 A%

Promissory
notes
ARFRE
RMB’000
AE®TR

334,737

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E-_—F+-A=+—8ItFE

Bank and
borrowings
BITRES
RMB’000
AER®TR

3,367

Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’000
UN: 5w

3,281

Total

#at
RMB’000
AE¥WTR

341,385
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Turnover

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to owners
of the Company

Earning/(loss) per share
(RMB)
- Basic

- Diluted

Total assets
Less: Total liabilities

Total net assets

312) mpmmpERERAR

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
FREBE+_A=+—HILEEZESH
2018 2019 2020 2021
—ZT-N\F ZE-NF ZZTTF T=—F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AR®TT

S 237,798 326,946 285,208 126,377
ViN/NETE 2 =N
EIRFERF
(E18) (81,586) (98,403) (76,227)  (257,924)
SRAEF /(ER)
(AR®)
- &R (0.02) (0.02) (2.52) (6.49)
-85 (0.02) (0.02) (2.52) (6.49)

Assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December
FRER+T-A=+—HZEERAR
2018 2019 2020 2021
—E-N\E ZE-nE ZZTF —T-—-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AR®TT

BERE 1,133,825 917,733 736,941 349,681
o BfELeE (638,432)  (517,549)  (424,957)  (295,927)
BEEFE 495,393 400,184 311,984 53,754

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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